ROLE OF MULTIPLE DOMAINS OF T ANTIGEN IN GENE REGULATION AND TRANSFORMATION

By

Abhilasha Vikas Rathi

B.S., Rani Durgavati University, 1995

M.S., Rani Durgavati University, 1997

Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of

Arts and Sciences in partial fulfillment

of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

University of Pittsburgh

2008

UNIVERSITY OF PITTSBURGH

FACULTY OF ARTS AND SCIENCES

This dissertation was presented

by

Abhilasha Vikas Rathi

It was defended on

January 18th, 2008

and approved by

Paula A. Grabowski, Professor, Biological Sciences

Jeffery L. Brodsky, Professor, Biological Sciences

Beth Stronach, Assistant Professor, Biological Sciences

Bo Liu, Assistant Professor, University of Pittsburgh Cancer Institute

Dissertation Advisor: James M. Pipas, Professor, Biological Sciences

ROLE OF MULTIPLE DOMAINS OF T ANTIGEN IN GENE REGULATION AND TRANSFORMATION

Abhilasha V. Rathi, PhD

University of Pittsburgh, 2008

SV40 large T antigen (TAg) is a dominant acting oncoprotein that elicits transformation of many cell types and induces tumors in rodents. TAg induces transformation, in part, by disabling the functions of tumor suppressors such as pRb and p53. This dissertation is aimed to determine if inactivation of Rb and p53 are the major TAg activities required for transformation or if additional activities contribute.

To determine whether Rb-family protein inactivation by the J domain of TAg is required for induction of intestinal hyperplasia, we have generated transgenic mice that express a J domain mutant (D44N) in villus enterocytes. In contrast to wild-type T antigen, the D44N mutant is unable to induce enterocyte proliferation. Unlike mice expressing wild-type TAg, mice expressing D44N do not reduce the protein levels of p130 and are also unable to dissociate p130-E2F DNA binding complexes.

To determine if Rb inactivation is sufficient for the induction of hyperplasia or if progression to dysplasia requires some activity in the C-terminus of TAg (independent of p53), I have screened several transgenic lines expressing an amino-terminal mutant of TAg (N136) in villus enterocytes. I found that these mice develop intestinal hyperplasia, although not as early as wild-type TAg does, suggesting that the inactivation of Rb family members is sufficient to induce this phenotype. Furthermore, the appearance of signs of dysplasia was significantly delayed. I performed global analysis of gene regulation in MEFs and in mouse intestinal epithelium expressing TAg or various mutants. In mouse intestine most of the gene regulation is dependent on binding and inactivation of Rb-proteins by the LXCXE motif and J domain. Regulated genes are involved in cell cycle and proliferation. In MEFs genes belonging to cell cycle, apoptosis and growth factors are differentially regulated by TAg and its mutants. Additionally, we found upregulation of immune response genes by TAg requires the LXCXE motif and some activity mapping to the C-terminus of TAg for their regulation. Significant numbers of genes were found to be regulated independently of the LXCXE motif, J domain and p53 binding domain. This suggests activity independent of these functions.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PRI	EFAC	CEXV		
1.0		INTRODUCTION		
	1.1	SIMIAN VIRUS 40 (SV40) AS A MODEL SYSTEM 2		
	1.2	FUNCTIONAL DOMAINS OF SV40 LARGE TUMOR ANTIGEN		
		1.2.1 The J domain		
		1.2.2The N-terminal flexible linker9		
		1.2.3 Origin binding domain9		
		1.2.4 Zinc binding domain10		
		1.2.5 ATPase domain and p53 interaction site10		
		1.2.6 Variable region and host range domain11		
	1.3	T ANTIGEN BINDS CELLULAR TARGETS TO ELICIT		
	TR	ANSFORMATION 12		
		1.3.1 RB14		
		1.3.1.1 RB/E2F regulation throughout the cell cycle		
		1.3.1.2 TAg interaction with Rb family members		
		1.3.1.3 Role of J domain in the disruption of Rb-E2F complexes		
		1.3.1.4 J domain independent T antigen effects on the Rb family		
		1.3.2 p53		

		1.3.2.1 TAg interaction with the tumor suppressor p53		
		1.3.3 TAg interaction with the CBP family 44		
		1.3.4 Additional TAg targets 45		
	1.4	THE MOUSE INTESTINAL EPITHELIUM AS A MODEL SYSTEM 51		
	1.5	T ANTIGEN MUTANTS AND THEIR PHENOTYPES IN CELL		
	CUL	TURE AND IN TRANSGENIC MICE		
	1.6	DISSERTATION OVERVIEW 58		
2.0		MATERIAL AND METHODS 60		
	2.1	PRODUCTION AND MAINTENANCE OF TRANSGENIC MICE		
	2.2	ISOLATION OF PRIMARY FIBROBLASTS, CELL CULTURE		
	CONDITIONS, AND ESTABLISHMENT OF CELL LINES			
	2.3	SV40 INFECTION		
	2.4	PREPARATION OF INTESTINAL VILLI SAMPLES BY LASER		
	САР	TURE MICROSCOPY (LCM) 62		
	2.5	IMMUNOBLOT ANALYSIS 63		
	2.6	IMMUNOHISTOCHEMISTRY 63		
	2.7	ELECTROPHORETIC MOBILITY SHIFT ASSAY (EMSA) 64		
	2.8	RNA EXTRACTION 65		
	2.9	MICROARRAYS 66		
	2.10	REVERSE TRANSCRIPTION PCR (RT-PCR) ANALYSIS67		
3.0		ENTEROCYTE PROLIFERATION AND INTESTINAL HYPERPLASIA		
IND	DUCE	D BY SIMIAN VIRUS 40 T ANTIGEN REQUIRES A FUNCTIONAL J		
DO	MAIN	70		

3.	1 IN	NTRODUCTION
3.	2 R	ESULTS
	3.2.1	Transgenic mice expressing the J-domain mutant D44N in enterocytes
	show n	ormal intestinal phenotype71
	3.2.2	Expression of TAg ^{D44N} results in increased pRb and p107 protein levels
	in villu	ıs enterocytes76
	3.2.3	TAg ^{D44N} affect activator E2F protein levels differentially
	3.2.4	TAg ^{D44N} is unable to disrupt p130/E2F complexes
	3.2.5	TAg ^{D44N} is defective for the regulation of E2F target genes
	3.2.6	TAg ^{D44N} is unable to induce hyperplasia in p130 (-/-) background 84
	3.2.7	Conclusions
4.0	AMIN	O-TERMINAL MUTANT OF T ANTIGEN INDUCES ENTEROCYTE
PROL	IFERATI	ON AND INTESTINAL HYPERPLASIA/DYSPLASIA
4.	1 I	NTRODUCTION
4.	2 R	ESULTS
	4.2.1	Transgenic mice expressing N136 in enterocytes develop hyperplasia
	and sh	ow signs of dysplasia
	4.2.2	Expression levels of N136 do not change significantly through
	develo	pment
	4.2.3	N136 expression is restricted to villus enterocytes
	4.2.4	Conclusions
5.0	ROLE	OF MULTIPLE DOMAINS OF T ANTIGEN IN GENE REGULATION
AND T	RANSFO	ORMATION IN MOUSE EMBRYO FIBROBLASTS

5.1 INTRODUCTION		
5.2 RESULTS		
5.2.1 Global patterns of cellular gene expression in MEFs expressing wild		
type or mutant T antigens 10		
5.2.2 TAg regulates gene expression by inactivating RB-family proteins 10		
5.2.3 TAg regulates gene expression by blocking p53 dependent transcriptio		
10		
5.2.4 Regulation of growth factors by N136 10		
5.2.5 TAg regulates expression of immune response genes 11		
5.2.6 TAg regulates genes expression independent of the LXCXE motif,		
domain, and p53 binding domain11		
5.2.7 Cooperation between different domains of TAg to regulate gen		
expression116		
5.2.8 Genetic classification of genes regulated by different domains of TAg11		
5.2.9 Comparisons of gene expression patterns between TAg and its mutant		
(N136 or 3213 or D44N) 12		
5.2.10 SV40 infected MEF microarry 12		
5.2.11 Conclusions from MEFs Microarray12		
5.0 ROLE OF MULTIPLE DOMAINS OF T ANTIGEN IN GENE REGULATIO		
AND TRANSFORMATION IN MOUSE INTESTINAL EPITHELIUM		
6.1 INTRODUCTION 13		
6.2 RESULTS		

		6.2.1	Global patterns of cellular gene expression in villus enterocytes of
		transge	nic mice expressing wild-type or mutant T antigens
		6.2.2	TAg regulates gene expression by inactivating RB-family proteins in
		villus er	iterocytes
		6.2.3	TAg regulates gene expression independent of p53 in villus enterocytes
		6.2.4	Genetic classification of genes regulated by different domains of TAg136
		6.2.5	Comparisons of gene expression patterns between TAg and its mutants
		(N136 o	r 3213 or D44N) 138
		6.2.6	Conclusions from villi microarray140
7.0		DISCUS	SSION 145
	7.1	TH	IE J DOMAIN OF T ANTIGEN IS REQUIRED TO INDUCE
	EN	FEREOC	CYTE PROLIFERATION AND INTESTINAL HYPERPLASIA 147
		7.1.1	The J domain of T antigen is required to inactivate p130 148
		7.1.2	A functional J domain is required for the induction of activator E2Fs
		7.1.3	Loss of p130 alone is not sufficient to induce intestinal hyperplasia 151
	7.2	AN	AMINO-TERMINAL TRUNCATION MUTANT OF T ANTIGEN
	IND	OUCES I	NTESTINAL HYPERPLASIA AND PROGRESSION TO DYSPLASIA
	AF	FER A PI	ROLONGED LATENCY PERIOD153
		7.2.1	Role of inactivation of Rb-family proteins in induction of hyperplasia153
		7.2.2	Role of the C-terminus of TAg in progression to dysplasia 154
		7.2.3	Levels of protein / concentration dependent phenotype156

	7.2.4	Patterns of TAg staining	156
7.3	RO	DLE OF MULTIPLE DOMAINS OF T ANTIGEN IN	GENE
REG	GULATIO	ON AND TRANSFORMATION IN MOUSE EMBRYO FIBRO	BLASTS
AND	IN MO	OUSE INTESTINAL EPITHELIUM	158
	7.3.1	TAg interaction with RB-family proteins is required for regu	lation of
	E2F-tar	rget genes	160
	7.3.2	Inactivation of p53 by TAg is required for the inhibition of p	53-target
	genes		162
	7.3.3	TAg regulate expression of immune response genes	163
	7.3.4	Gene regulation by C-terminus of TAg	172
	7.3.5	Gene regulation by unknown activity of TAg	174
	7.3.6	Cooperation between different domains/regions of TAg is requ	uired for
	cyclin D	01 regulation	175
	7.3.7	Summary of MEFs and Villi microarray	176
7.4	CO	DNCLUSIONS	178
BIBLIOC	GRAPHY	Y	183

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Primers used in this study
Table 2: Phenotypic evaluation of transgenic mice expressing N136. 90
Table 3: Number of upregulated or downregulated genes in MEFs expressing TAg or mutants.
Table 4: Genetic classification of genes regulated by different domains of TAg 119
Table 5: Number of upregulated or downregulated genes in villi expressing TAg or mutants 132
Table 6: p53 target genes are upregulated only in MEFs expressing N136. 135
Table 7: Genetic classification of genes regulated by different domains of TAg in villi
Table 8: Interaction of SV40 large T antigen with cellular proteins to elicit transformation 159

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. SV40 genomic organization and early gene products.	4
Figure 2: Structural representation of the TAg monomer	8
Figure 3: Domain map of RB-family members.	17
Figure 4: Domain map of E2F family members.	21
Figure 5: Cell cycle regulation by Rb and E2F family members.	24
Figure 6: T antigen interaction with RB-family proteins and effects on cell cycle	27
Figure 7: Domain map of Hsc70	29
Figure 8: The chaperone model for disruption of Rb-E2F complexes.	31
Figure 9: Surface representation of a model for the interaction between Rb, E2F, TA	.g, and
Hsc70	32
Figure 10: Models for J domain independent regulation of the Rb family	35
Figure 11: Functional domains of p53	38
Figure 12: Feedback regulation between Rb-E2F and p53 pathways	41
Figure 13: The feedback regulation, the downstream genes and the biological consequen	nces of
the p53 pathway.	42
Figure 14: Interaction of cellular proteins with different domains/regions of large T antiger	1 49
Figure 15: Large T antigen interacts with cellular proteins to elicit transformation	50

Figure 16: Diagram of the small intestinal epithelial structures: crypt of lieberkuhn and its
associated villus
Figure 17: Large T antigen mutants and their phenotypes in cell culture and in transgenic mice.
Figure 18: Expression of both TAg ^{wt} and TAg ^{D44N} is restricted to villus enterocytes73
Figure 19: Ectopic proliferation of enterocytes requires a functional J domain74
Figure 20: Expression of TAg ^{D44N} does not increase intestinal length in mice75
Figure 21: TAg ^{D44N} expression in villus enterocytes alters the pRb protein levels but does not
affect their transcript levels
Figure 22: Expression of TAg ^{D44N} in villus enterocytes affects activator E2F protein levels
differentially without altering their transcript levels
Figure 23: Analysis of RB-E2F DNA binding complexes in non-transgenic, TAg ^{wt} and TAg ^{D44N}
mice
Figure 24: TAg ^{D44N} is unable to upregulate E2F target genes in intestinal enterocytes
Figure 25: Loss of p130 alone in not sufficient to induce ectopic proliferation of enterocytes in
TAg ^{D44N} mice
Figure 26: Loss of p130 does not affect the steady state levels of pRb and E2F family members
in TAg ^{D44N} ; p130 (-/-) mice
Figure 27: N136 induces ectopic proliferation in villus enterocytes
Figure 28: Expression of N136 increases the intestinal length in mice
Figure 29: Expression levels of N136 protein through development
Figure 30: Expression patterns of TAg and N136 in villus enterocytes
Figure 31: Three hypothesis for microarray experiments

Figure 32: Regulation of E2F-target genes by TAg and mutants.	104
Figure 33: N136 upregulates p53 target genes.	107
Figure 34: N136 upregulates growth factors.	110
Figure 35: TAg and D44N upregulates interferon-induced genes expression	112
Figure 36: TAg downregulates genes independent of the LXCXE motif, J domain and	p53
binding domain.	115
Figure 37: Cooperation between different domains of TAg to regulate gene expression	117
Figure 38: Upregulation of genes by TAg and mutants in MEFs	124
Figure 39: Downregulation of genes by TAg and mutants in MEFs	126
Figure 40: TAg and N136 upregulate E2F target genes in villi	134
Figure 41: Upregulation of genes by TAg and mutants in villi	141
Figure 42: Downregulation of genes by TAg and mutants in villi.	143
Figure 43: J domain mutant D44N is not able to disrupt Rb-E2F complexes	149
Figure 44: Four possible mechanisms for regulation of immune response genes by Larg	e T
antigen	165
Figure 45: Signaling pathway activated by IFN-α/β	168

PREFACE

"I have not failed. I've just found 10,000 ways that won't work." - Thomas Alva Edison (1847-1931). This is what I have "in common" with Thomas Alva Edison.

I thank my mentor Dr. James Pipas who gave me shelter under his wide wings and nurtured my ambition to achieve PhD. He was also very kind to tolerate and demonstrate patience for all my 10,000 ways that would not work during the course of past 5 years. He always provided support, advice and positive feedback and gave freedom to foster new ideas. I strongly believe that it was my good fortune and luck that I had the opportunity to work with Jim.

My committee members; Drs. Paula Grabowski, Jeff Brodsky, Beth Stronach and Bo Liu were extremely helpful in providing encouragement, constructive criticism and were always available. More importantly, they kept me on track and on time for the completion of my thesis.

I specially thank Dr. Susan Gilbert who was not in my committee, yet provided very important suggestions and an open ear to listen to me. She provided endless advice, assurance and always respected my opinion and gave a motherly comfort feeling.

My lab members have been an integral part of what I have achieved. With all my respect and regards, I express my thanks to Dr. Mayte Saens-Robles who played an integral role in my professional development and as well as personal life as a friend. Her timely interventions saved many catastrophes in my experiments. She was instrumental in the work of mouse genetics and transgenic mice on which we published a paper together. Working with Mayte gave me insight to develop troubleshooting in difficult situations. I will be always thankful to Mayte for giving endless advice on managing family and career together.

I have yet to come across a person as selfless as Paul Cantalupo. I acknowledge his genuine honesty, keen interest to help and valuable suggestions he has provided. He is a walking encyclopedia of Biochemistry and Microarrays and without his expertise I would not have completed my projects. One of the distinguished qualities of Paul is putting other people before himself. I truly enjoyed my interactions with Paul and his wife Paula on various social gatherings over the years.

Likewise, I thank Deepika Ahuja who gave me energy and inspiration to maintain family and professional life. Her organization and pace to work was extraordinary and quite frankly at times seemed superhuman. On number of occasions I tried to imitate her, but failed horribly. She is truly a genius and a good friend.

Over past 5 years, Jim's lab was like an extended family, very closely knit yet simple and joyous. In this extended family; Ashley Case, Shelley Nelson, Rob Culik, Danielle Oliver, Paul Eppes, Sandlin Seguin, Jeremy, Leigh Kridle, Jacqueline Moskow, Mike Miller, Chevaunne Edwards and Jennifer Markovics were always with me to laugh and cry. I had total fun with you all. I want to especially acknowledge Alison Roos, who came as undergraduate student under my supervision and became a good friend and coworker.

I could not have survived a single day in the department without Ms. Cathy Barr. She is a godmother to all graduate students. I am thankful to all the main office and fiscal office ladies; Natalie Marinzel, Kathy Hoffman, Crystal Petrone, Pat Dean, Lynn Mehaffey and Patty Henry for making every day smooth and hassle free.

My gratitude and many thanks to Dr. Graham Hatfull who placed a significant trust in me and accepted my transfer to University of Pittsburgh graduate program from University of Texas at San Antonio.

Pallavi Ghosh and Anil Ojha are my friends beyond workplace. Even though they resided in Hatfull's lab, but were very much available for discussions and advise. Their post-doc experience was very handy to carryout some difficult experiments. I always enjoyed their company both at work and outside. My best friend Poonam Agrawal was a constant source of encouragement and her friendship always enlighten my heart.

I thank my parents who instilled the enthusiasm in me for science and success since my childhood and many more things they have done to make me what I am today. My father's hardworking habits always inspire me. My brother Gopal and sister Manisha and their families were always supportive and full of love during this process. Blind faith of my nieces Aanchal and Krishnika on me always helped me to keep up the good work.

My in-laws provided a great deal of support and their wish to see me as a scientist inspired me to accomplish this PhD. Especially my mother in-law provided support from the day one when I sat for GRE. My brother in-law Nimesh and his wife Ritu were very supportive throughout these years. Nimesh participated in few of my poster presentations to encourage me, even though he was clueless about my presentations.

Most importantly and above all, my greatest inspiration is my 15 month old beautiful daughter Anusha. You can all imagine that she putout the greatest support so that I could write this thesis. At times when she needed me the most I gave her the least. You are so wonderful my dear Anusha!

Finally, my heartfelt thanks to my husband who was with me at each and every step of this thesis. Although having a very demanding career as a physician he always helped me out at home as well as at work. I want to dedicate this thesis to my husband Vikas. This thesis would not have existed if he were not on my side. Vikas, thanks for everything!

1.0 INTRODUCTION

Cancer is a complex, multi-factorial, multi-stage disease that arises due to an imbalance between growth-promoting and growth-inhibitory signals. Successive progression from one stage to the next is determined by multiple genetic events, such as mutations in tumor suppressor genes or oncogenes. Proteins encoded by these genes are involved in various cellular regulatory processes including cell proliferation, apoptosis and genomic stability. Interference with these regulatory processes give rise to phenotypic changes at the cellular level including self-sufficiency in growth signals, insensitivity to anti-growth signals, evading apoptosis, unlimited replicative potential, sustained angiogenesis, tissue invasion and metastasis (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2000).

DNA tumor viruses encode dominant acting oncoproteins and are capable of interfering with the functions of tumors suppressors and oncogenes, therefore serving as important tools to explore the nature of the molecular events leading to transformation and tumorigenesis. The studies described in this thesis are an attempt to understand the transforming activities of the DNA tumor virus SV40 in cultured cells and its tumorigenic potential in transgenic mice.

1.1 SIMIAN VIRUS 40 (SV40) AS A MODEL SYSTEM

SV40 was discovered in 1960 by Sweet and Hilleman, during the screening for the presence of contaminating viruses in the poliovirus vaccine samples produced in Rhesus macaque monkey kidney cells (Sweet and Hilleman, 1960). Shortly after its discovery, SV40 was shown to induce tumors when injected into newborn hamsters or immunocompromised mice (Eddy et al., 1962; Girardi et al., 1962). The ability to induce tumors and tumor type depends on the rodent species used, route of inoculation, amount of virus, and immune status of the test animals. SV40 was shown to induce an array of different tumor types, including osteosarcoma, mesothelioma, lymphoma, and choroid plexus neoplasia (Arrington As, 2001). Similarly, SV40 induces neoplastic transformation in cell culture, as assessed by a number of different assays. Even though SV40 is extremely oncogenic in animal and cell culture model systems, no definitive link has been established between human cancers and SV40 to date (Poulin and DeCaprio, 2006).

SV40 is a member of the Polyomavirus family (Polyomaviridae); named after the ability of family members to induce multiple tumors in rodents. Polyomaviruses are a family of nonenveloped DNA viruses with icosahedral capsids containing a small, circular, double-stranded DNA genome. During SV40 infection, the virus enters the cells, uncoats, and releases its DNA. SV40 host cells tend to be terminally differentiated, quiescent cells and do not express proteins involved in DNA replication, nucleotide metabolism, chromatin assembly or proteins that are required for viral DNA replication and new virion assembly. To circumvent this problem, the early region of the SV40 genome that includes the differentially spliced tumor antigens such as large T antigen (TAg), small t antigen (sT) and 17kT antigen (17kT) transcribes immediately after infection (Fig.1). These tumor antigens interfere with cell cycle regulators such as p53 and pRb and enhance the expression of genes associated with DNA synthesis, which eventually force cells to enter S phase. Shortly afterwards, viral DNA replication begins, resulting in the production of progeny viral DNA. Simultaneously with the initiation of viral DNA replication, the late promoter becomes active, resulting in the expression of the viral coat proteins, VP1, VP2, VP3, agno protein and recently discovered VP4 (Daniels et al., 2007) (Fig.1). This results in the assembly of progeny virions, host cell lysis and release of viral progeny, which in turn infect surrounding cells.

Figure 1. SV40 genomic organization and early gene products.

(a) SV40 genomic DNA is composed of three elements: the early and late coding units and the regulatory region. The early unit encodes large T antigen (TAg), small t antigen (sT), 17kT antigen (17kT). The late unit encodes the four structural proteins (VP1, VP2, VP3 and VP4) and the agnoprotein (agno) and a pre-microRNA (miRNA). The regulatory region (*ori*) contains sequences for the early and late promoter and the origin of replication. Figure from (Ahuja et al., 2005). (b) SV40 large T antigen contains the following domains and motifs: J domain (J), Rb-protein-binding motif (LXCXE), nuclear localization signal (NLS), origin-binding domain (OBD), Zn domain (Zn), ATPase domain (AAA+), variable region (VR), and host-range domain (HR). Small t antigen is comprised of the J domain and pp2A binding domain. 17kT is comprised of the first 131 amino acids of large T antigen including the J domain and LXCXE motif, plus an additional four unique amino acids. Residue numbers are indicated above the domain structure. Figure modified from Ahuja *et al.* 2005.





Because of the potent transforming activities of SV40 proteins in multiple cellular environments, this virus has become a model system for human cancer research. The SV40 genome may be the most heavily mutagenized DNA molecule per base pair and has been intensively studied to provide a model system for the study of basic eukaryotic cell processes, including DNA replication, transcription, malignant transformation, and signal transduction. The advantage of using this viral system for studying replication is that only one viral protein (T antigen) is required to initiate DNA replication. In combination with a wealth of mutants and in vitro assays, this has led to an understanding of how eukaryotic DNA replication is initiated (Bullock, 1997). Additionally, SV40 encodes dominant acting transforming proteins (TAg, sT, and 17kT). In particular, the expression of TAg alone is sufficient to induce transformation in multiple cell types (Bryan and Reddel, 1994; Chen et al., 1992; Hahn et al., 1999; Ibaraki et al., 1998), while small t antigen (sT) assists in transforming some cell types, and in some situations expression of sT by itself is sufficient to induce a transformed phenotype (Mungre et al., 1994; Porras et al., 1996; Porras et al., 1999; Rundell et al., 1998). The 17kT is expressed during infection in smaller amounts relative to other T antigens. There is limited information available about the functions of 17kT. One of the studies suggests that 17kT may function in fine-tuning SV40 mediated cell cycle control (Zerrahn et al., 1993).

SV40 is a model for understanding cellular functions as each of its transforming proteins target one or more key regulatory proteins within a cell and thus alter the cell's growth/survival properties. Thus T antigen serves as a molecular probe to find essential factors required for cellular processes and navigate researchers through the complicated interactions in the cellular environment.

1.2 FUNCTIONAL DOMAINS OF SV40 LARGE TUMOR ANTIGEN

SV40 large T antigen (TAg) is a 708 amino acid protein that contains many independently folding domains (Fig.2). A brief structural description of the various domains, motifs and linker regions of TAg follows.

1.2.1 The J domain

The first 70 amino acids of TAg have sequence identity with the J domain of the DnaJ class of molecular chaperones (Kelley and Landry,1994). The J domain of TAg binds to hsc70, the major DnaK homologue present in mammalian cells, and stimulates its ATPase activity (Srinivasan et al., 1997; Sullivan et al., 2001). This domain is also essential for DNA replication, virion assembly, and tumorigenesis (Peden and Pipas, 1992; Pipas et al., 1983; Spence and Pipas, 1994b; Srinivasan et al., 1989). The residues histidine-proline-aspartate (HPD) are absolutely conserved within the J domain and mutations in the HPD motif disrupt the above functions of the J domain (Srinivasan et al., 1997). The E3 ubiquitin ligase, Cul7, from the cullin family of proteins (Ali et al., 2004) binds TAg through residues 69-83 (Kasper et al., 2005). Cullins serve as a scaffold for the SCF multi-component complex that functions as an E3 ubiquitin ligase with Skp1 and F-box proteins.

Figure 2: Structural representation of the TAg monomer.

The J domain (DnaJ), origin binding domain (obd), zinc binding domain (Zn-D), and ATPase domain (AAA+) are assembled together based on previous NMR and crystal structures. The linkers between domains are represented by dashed lines. No structural information is available for the Host Range Domain (residues 628-708, in yellow). Figure from Xiaojiang S.Chen, USC.



1.2.2 The N-terminal flexible linker

The N-terminal linker of TAg consists of residues 83-134. This small region contains binding sites for several important cellular proteins. Residues 103-107 constitute an LXCXE motif, which is essential for the interaction of TAg with Rb family members (DeCaprio et al., 1988). Another TAg target is Bub1, a mitotic spindle checkpoint protein, which interacts with TAg residues 89-97. This interaction is probably through a conserved WEXWW sequence that is found in almost all large TAgs (Cotsiki et al., 2004). Finally, the nuclear localization signal (NLS), P(126) KKKRKV(132), is found in this region.

1.2.3 Origin binding domain

The origin binding domain extends from amino acids 135-249 and is required for TAg to bind to the SV40 DNA origin of replication. The SV40 genome contains a 64 base pair origin of replication and consists of a central palindrome of four GAGGC base pairs. This region is flanked downstream by a 17 base pair AT rich region and upstream by an imperfect inverted repeat known as the early palindrome (Deb et al., 1986; Deb et al., 1987). TAg double hexamers prefer to bind to pentanucleotides 1 and 3 (Joo et al., 1998; Joo et al., 1997). By cooperative mechanism the first hexamer facilitates the assembly of a second hexamer to form a dodecamer (Parsons et al., 1991). The two halves of the dodecamer are then arranged in a "head to head" manner. This is important for viral DNA replication but plays no known role in transformation.

1.2.4 Zinc binding domain

The zinc binding domain stretches from amino acids 250-370 and contains a zinc finger motif $(CX_2CX_{15}HX_3H)$ which includes residues C302, C305, H317, and H320 (Pipas, 1992). Mutation of these residues renders the virus non-viable and efficiency of transformation is reduced by 50%. (Loeber et al., 1989). Recent crystallographic studies revealed that zinc domain has a globular fold instead of typical zinc finger structure (Li et al., 2003a). Additionally, this fold is stabilized by the coordination of a zinc atom through the zinc finger motif. The zinc binding domain is required for hexamerization, since a deletion mutant containing residues 303-627 abolished hexamerization but deletion mutant containing residues 251-627 (with intact zinc binding motif) did not (Li et al., 2003a).

1.2.5 ATPase domain and p53 interaction site

The ATPase domain extends from residues 371-624 and is essential for both viral replication and transformation. The ATPase domain is a canonical AAA+ ATPase domain, which binds and hydrolyzes ATP (Bradley et al., 1987; Erzberger and Berger, 2006). Hexamerization of TAg requires ATP binding, but not hydrolysis (Mastrangelo et al., 1989). Based on structural studies, the TAg hexamer exist in an "all or none binding mode". In this mode all subunits exist in the same state: ATP bound, ADP bound, or nucleotide free (Gai et al., 2004), therefore suggesting a concerted mechanism for ATP hydrolysis and ADP release. In contrast to hexamerization, ATP hydrolysis is required for TAg helicase activity (Mastrangelo et al., 1989). The older mapping studies suggested bipartite interaction of p53 with TAg requiring residues 350-450 and 550-650 (Kierstead and Tevethia, 1993). However, recently Li and coworkers demonstrated that this

10

assignment does not exist, and the residues required for p53 binding cluster together on the surface of TAg (Li et al., 2003a). The p53 residues essential for TAg interaction clusters on the same side of the structure as the p53 DNA binding domain. This suggests that TAg interacts with the DNA-binding surface of p53 therefore blocking its ability to bind promoters (Li et al., 2003a). However this may not be entirely true as evident by several studies suggesting that amino terminal sequences are also involved in blocking p53 function (Quartin et al., 1994; Rushton et al., 1997).

1.2.6 Variable region and host range domain

The C-terminal variable region (625-669) is found in only a few polyomavirus TAgs. The host range lies at the extreme C terminus (670-708). Wild-type SV40 can replicate in BSC40 and CV-1 monkey kidney cell lines, however mutations in the host range domain prevent viral replication in CV-1 cells but have no effect on SV40 growth in BSC40 cells (Pipas, 1985). Host range mutants are cold-sensitive, can not grow in BSC40 at 32°C and are defective for growth in CV-1 cells at all temperatures (Pipas, 1985). This region also allows human adenovirus to grow normally in nonpermissive monkey cells and therefore is also referred to as the adenovirus helper function (Cole et al., 1979). It has been suggested that this region also contains an activity required for viral assembly and therefore host range mutants are defective in viral growth (Spence and Pipas, 1994a).

1.3 T ANTIGEN BINDS CELLULAR TARGETS TO ELICIT TRANSFORMATION

Neoplastic transformation is defined by the expanded proliferation and/or extended survival of a cell or tissue. Several different assays are used to assess transformation by SV40 TAg. Each of these assays imposes growth restrictive conditions on cells in culture. Normal cells are unable to proliferate and/or survive in these conditions, however transformed cells not only survive but are also able to proliferate. Five main assays have been employed to identify transformed cells in culture. These are:

(1) **Immortalization:** Primary cells can not grow in culture indefinitely. After a certain number of passages they undergo growth arrest and irreversible senescence. SV40-transformed primary cells are immortal and can proliferate indefinitely.

(2) Focus formation: Untransformed cells grow on an appropriate surface until they reach to confluence and form a monolayer. In contrast, SV40-transformed cells continue proliferating on the surface of a growth arrested monolayer of untransformed cells, resulting in formation of dense regions of multilayered cells, referred to as foci.

(3) Anchorage independence: Normal cells require a surface to adhere and proliferate. SV40transformed cells proliferate in the absence of such contact with a surface and grow as multicellular balls when suspended in semi-solid media such as agarose.

(4) Growth in low serum: Normal cells can not grow in media containing low concentrations of serum or growth factors. However, SV40-transformed cells continue to grow in medium with little or no serum.

(5) Saturation density: Saturation density is defined as the maximum number of cells per unit area of culture surface. Because SV40-transformed cells do not show contact inhibition, they

12

continue to grow beyond a monolayer and thus reach higher or indefinite saturation densities than untransformed cells.

All these transformation assays are performed using either primary cells or established cell lines. Each of these systems has inherent advantages and disadvantages. Primary cells such as mouse embryo fibroblasts (MEFs) are useful because, although they have a limited passage in cell culture, they carry the same genetic composition as the animal from which they were derived. Additionally, primary cells can be cultured from specific strains of mice, such as gene knockout or transgenic lines, which allow the study of the related biological effect. One of the disadvantages of using primary cell cultures is that they contain many different cell types that may respond differently to oncogenic signals. On the other hand, cell line establishment results from genetic changes that select for cell populations that are immortal. The specific genetic changes carried by a cell line in response to oncogenic and death stimuli affect their biological characteristics and are often unknown. One of the major advantages of using an established cell line is that they are clonal (genetically identical cells) and therefore respond similarly to oncogenic stimuli.

Cell culture systems are very good for studying the molecular aspects of regulating signaling pathways. However they have limited value in predicting how perturbing specific pathways alters cellular behavior in the context of tissue. Furthermore, cultured cells are not necessarily in a native state since they are cultured on a plastic surface in medium supplemented with fetal bovine serum or the equivalent. These abnormal conditions may alter specific cellular responses. Therefore, animal models are essential to examine the influence of oncogenic signals in the native environment.

Most of our understanding about the mechanism of SV40-induced transformation stems from cell culture studies. In addition, series of transgenic mice expressing TAg in various tissues have been generated by different research groups to test the relevance of these targets, identified originally in cell culture studies, in the context of a natural tissue setting. In this chapter, I provide an overview about the targets of TAg and putative mechanisms by which TAg induces transformation. Two of the extensively studied targets of TAg are the major tumor suppressors, pRb and p53. T antigen can bind and inactivate pRb and p53 and therefore serves as an important tool to elucidate the function of these tumor suppressors.

1.3.1 RB

The retinoblastoma susceptibility gene (*RB*) was the first tumor suppressor gene to be cloned. In familial cases of retinoblastoma, a germ line mutation in the *RB* gene is inherited, and affected individuals develop retinal tumors in which the loss of the second *RB* allele is the rate limiting step (Friend et al., 1986; Fung et al., 1987; Lee et al., 1987). Later, *RB* was found to be mutated in other human cancers, including osteosarcoma, soft tissue sarcoma, and carcinomas of breast, lung, bladder and prostate origin. Reintroduction of wild-type *RB* into *RB*-deficient tumor cell lines suppresses their neoplastic phenotype, consistent with a role for *RB* as a tumor suppressor (Riley et al., 1994). The *RB* gene product, pRb, is a nuclear phosphoprotein and has been shown to interact with the E1A oncoprotein encoded by adenovirus (Whyte et al., 1988). Soon after, the viral oncogenes E7 from HPV and TAg from SV40 were also shown to form a stable complex with pRb (DeCaprio et al., 1988; Dyson et al., 1989; Munger et al., 1989). Adenovirus E1A, HPV E7 and T antigen from all primate polyomaviruses contain an LXCXE motif (X= any amino acid residue) (Chellappan et al., 1992) that is essential for their interaction with pRb. The

importance of this sequence in mediating the interactions with Rb-proteins and in transformation was first demonstrated for the adenovirus E1A protein (Whyte et al., 1988) and later on for HPV E7 and SV40 TAg (DeCaprio et al., 1988; Dyson et al., 1989; Munger et al., 1989). The inactivation of Rb-proteins by the TAg appear to be a common feature of DNA tumor viruses as co-immunoprecipitaion assays performed by Dyson and coworkers show a stable protein complex between the TAgs of mouse, monkey, baboon, or human polyomaviruses and Rb-proteins (Dyson et al., 1990). The region of pRb which interacts with the LXCXE motif overlaps with positions of naturally occurring mutations in the *RB* gene, suggesting that all the above mentioned viral oncoproteins target a site of pRb that is important for its tumor suppressive function (Hu et al., 1990).

Many elegant biochemical studies have demonstrated that pRb functions as a central cell cycle regulator. Cell cycle progression in mammalian cells is driven by the sequential activation of cyclin –dependent kinases (cdks), which mediate phosporylation of critical cellular substrates and allow cells to pass through certain cell cycle transition points (Sherr and Roberts, 1995). pRb has been shown to be a key substrate of G1 cyclin/cdk complexes, including cyclin D/cdk4 or cdk6 and cyclin E/cdk2, both *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Riley et al., 1994; Weinberg, 1995). In quiescent cells or cells in early G1, pRb is present in a hypophosphorylated form. As G1 cyclin / cdk complexes are activated, cells progress towards the G1/S boundary, and the overall levels of pRb phosphorylation increase. pRb is maintained in this hyperphosphorylated form throughout S, G2 and M phases of the cell cycle. As cells emerge from S phase, pRb loses multiple phosphate groups thereby becoming active and capable of binding to E2F transcription factors, thus blocking transcription of S-phase genes (Riley et al., 1994; Weinberg, 1995). The cyclin / cdk complexes that negatively regulate pRb function are, in turn, themselves negatively

regulated by cell cycle inhibitors (CDKIs), such as p16 (Sherr, 1996). Genetic mutations in many parts of the Rb pathway, including Rb itself, CDKIs, cyclins and E2Fs have been linked to cancer (Sherr, 2000).

pRb is a member of a family of transcriptional repressors that includes p107 and p130. These three proteins are closely related and all contain bipartite domains, termed the A and B domains, which are essential for repression of E2Fs (Fig.3). The A and B domains mediate physical interaction with certain viral oncoproteins, such as adenovirus E1A and SV40 large T antigen, and cellular factors such as members of the E2F family of transcription factors (Kim et al., 2001; Ross et al., 1999; Sellers et al., 1995). pRb consists of multiple domains, some of which bind directly to specific transcription factors and others that recruit histone deacetylases (Dyson, 1998; Harbour and Dean, 2000b; Lipinski and Jacks, 1999; Nevins, 1998). pRb represses transcription directly through its repression domains, and indirectly by recruiting histone deacetylase and chromatin modifying complexes (Harbour and Dean, 2000b). Additionally, p107 and p130 share a conserved spacer region between their A and B domains, through which they interact with cyclin A/Cdk2 and cyclin E/Cdk2 (Lees et al., 1992; Li et al., 1993). p107 and p130 also share an amino-terminal region that can inhibit Cdk activity (Woo et al., 1997).

Figure 3: Domain map of RB-family members.

The three Rb family members share sequence homology in domains A and B. E2Fs bind to a separate surface formed at the intersection of the A and B domain. pRb contains domain C at its carboxy terminus which can facilitate a specific interaction with E2F1 (Dick and Dyson, 2003). p107 and p130 contain sequences in the spacer region which serves as a cyclin A/E kinase binding site. The amino terminus of p107 and p130 contain sequences which are involved in Cdk inhibitor function. The Hsp70 binding site of pRb is located in the region (residues 301-372) ouside the A pocket (Inoue et al., 1995).



Rb-family members have different patterns of expression throughout the cell cycle. Whereas pRb is expressed steadily through all stages of the cell cycle, p130 expression is high in growth arrested cells and p107 expression peaks during the S phase of the cell cycle (Classon and Harlow, 2002). The Rb family proteins have unique and overlapping functions in cell cycle control, differentiation and inhibition of oncogenic transformation. The RB gene is mutated in a variety of human tumors, but no specific mutations of p107 or p130 in cancers have been reported to date.

Many of the insights into the role of the Rb family in proliferation and differentiation have been obtained from mouse knockout models. Inactivation of RB in mice results in unscheduled cell proliferation, apoptosis and widespread developmental defects, leading to embryonic death by day 13.5 (Jacks and Weinberg 1992; Lee and Bradley 1992). In certain genetic backgrounds, mice with null mutations in either *p107* or *p130* are viable and normal (Cobrinik et al., 1996; LeCouter et al., 1998a; LeCouter et al., 1998b; Lee et al., 1996), while mice lacking both *p107* and *p130* die at birth with defects in endochondral bone development, epidermal differentiation and epithelial /mesenchymal interactions (Cobrinik et al., 1996). This suggests that p107 and p130 perform overlapping functions. Similarly, pRb may have overlapping functions with p130 that are not shared with p107 and vice versa (Ruiz et al., 2004).

Rb family members interact with many transcription factors such as E2F, MyoD, myogenin, C/EBP α , β , γ NF-IL6, Pax-3, Mhox, Chx10, AP-2 (Lipinski and Jacks, 1999), c-Abl (Welch and Wang, 1993), and CDP/cut (van Wijnen et al., 1996; Webster et al., 1998). Among all these transcription factors, interaction of Rb family members with E2F is the most studied and probably most important for its growth suppressive functions.

E2F is a family of transcription factors that consists of at least eight known members (E2F1-8). E2F1, E2F2 and E2F3a are transcriptional activators and interact with pRb, while E2F3b, E2F4 and E2F5 are transcriptional repressors that preferentially bind p107 and p130, although E2F4 can also interact with pRb (Ginsberg et al., 1994; Hijmans et al., 1995; Sardet et al., 1995). These associations also occur at distinct times during the cell cycle, in part due to the differential expression patterns of Rb-family members at different stages of the cell cycle. Most of the information about in vivo promoter occupancy of individual Rb and E2F family members throughout different stages of the cell cycle is provided by two different research groups using chromatin immnoprecipation (ChIP) assay (Takahashi et al., 2000; Wells et al., 2000). pRb interacts with E2Fs in both quiescent and cycling cells, p130 interacts with E2Fs primarily in quiescent cells and p107 is predominantly associated with E2Fs in the S phase of the cell cycle. On the other hand, E2F6, E2F7, and E2F8 lack the domain required for interacting with Rb proteins, and function as repressors (Fig.4). While E2F1 through E2F6 bind DNA through heterodimerization with the DNA binding partner DP-1 or DP-2, E2F7 and E2F8 can bind DNA directly. Dimerization with DP proteins is required for high affinity DNA-binding, as well as for interacting with the Rb-family.

Much information about the potential functions and activities of individual E2F family members derives from cell culture studies and animal knock out models. Overexpression of any activator E2F protein is sufficient to induce quiescent cells to re-enter the cell cycle (Johnson et al., 1993; Lukas et al., 1996; Qin et al., 1994). Moreover, the combined loss of E2F1, E2F2 and E2F3 completely blocks the proliferation of MEFs (Wu et al., 2001). On the other hand, E2F1 deficient mice are viable and fertile but tumor-prone due to a defect in the ability to induce apoptosis (Field et al., 1996; Yamasaki et al., 1996). E2F2 null mice exhibit increased
lymphocyte proliferation and develop autoimmunity (Murga et al., 2001). E2F1 (-/-); E2F2 (-/-) mice are also viable and show defects in proliferation and maturation of hematopoietic cells, diabetes, tumorigenesis and lack of spermatogenesis (Li et al., 2003b; Zhu et al., 2001). E2F3 (-/-) mice exhibit partially penetrant embryonic lethality and growth defects, and E2F3 (-/-) MEFs show reduced cell cycle entry (Humbert et al., 2000b). E2F4 is abundantly expressed in many cell types, and displays the most abundant DNA-binding activity of the E2Fs (Moberg et al., 1996). Depending on the genetic background, only a small percentage of E2F4 (-/-) mice are viable and show defects in hematopoiesis, crypt formation in the intestinal epithelium and craniofacial defects (Humbert et al., 2000a; Rempel et al., 2000). E2F5 null mice die prematurely due to hydrocephaly (Lindeman et al., 1998). E2F4 and E2F5 double knock out mice are embryonic lethal and this suggests a redundancy between functions of E2F4 and E2F5 (Gaubatz et al., 2000). Finally, E2F6 (-/-) mice are viable and show defects in homeotic patterning and in restriction of male germ cell gene expression (Pohlers et al., 2005; Storre et al., 2002). All these studies with E2F gene knockouts revealed unique as well as overlapping roles for E2F family members in cell proliferation and cell fate in mouse development.

Figure 4: Domain map of E2F family members.

E2F1-8 shares sequence homology in their DNA binding domain (DBD). The 'activating' E2Fs, E2F1-3 shares sequence homology in their nuclear localization signal (NLS), dimerization domain (Dim), transactivation domain (TA) and Rb-binding motifs. E2F1-3a, but not E2F3b, shares a homologous amino-terminal cyclin A/cdk2 interaction domain. The 'repressing' E2Fs, E2F4 and E2F5, share sequence homology in their nuclear export signal (NES, showed in red), DBD, Dim, TA and Rb-binding motif. E2F6 shares sequence homology only in its DBD and Dim with the other E2Fs, otherwise it is very different from other family members. E2F7 and E2F8 share sequence homology only in their DBD with the other E2Fs, however they contain two DBDs instead of one.

	Cdk NLS		Rb
E2F1	DBD	Dim	TA
E2F2	DBD	Dim	TA
E2F3a	DBD	Dim	TA
E2F3b	DBD	Dim	TA
E2F4	DBD	Dim	TA
E2F5	DBD	Dim	TA
E2F6	DBD	Dim	
E2F7	DBD	DBD	
E2F8	DBD	DBD	

1.3.1.1 RB/E2F regulation throughout the cell cycle

Hypophosphorylated pRb family members block transcription by recruiting chromatin remodeling complexes, (such as SWI/SNF, histone deacetylases (HDACs), or the polycomb group (PcG) proteins) as well as methylases to E2F-binding sites (Harbour and Dean, 2000a; Harbour and Dean, 2001). Furthermore, pRb can repress transcription by physically blocking the transcriptional activation domain of E2F and therefore prevent the assembly of the preinitiation complex. Normal S-phase progression requires the relief of transcriptional repression by removal of RB proteins from promoters, followed by the subsequent activation of these promoters by E2F1-3. In a normal cell cycle, phophorylation of RB-proteins by Cdks leads to their dissociation from E2Fs. Subsequently, free E2Fs then stimulate the transcription of genes that encode proteins controlling cell cycle progression and DNA replication (such as cyclins A, D1 and E, dihydrofolate reductase, thymidine kinase, Cdk2, cdc2, cdc6, DNA polymerase a, c-Myc, c-Myb), and also genes whose products are involved in DNA repair, differentiation and apoptosis. E2F-regulated genes are not expressed in guiescent cells because their promoters are occupied primarily with p130/E2F4 complexes, which repress transcription. Inactivation of pRb by phosphorylation results in the replacement of these complexes by activating E2F1-3 and results in the transactivation of E2F-target genes (Fig.5). The retinoblastoma proteins keep cells in the G1 phase primarily by repression of E2F-mediated transcription, however other mechanisms may apply. In fact, p107 and p130 can also prevent cell cycle progression by acting as Cdk2 inhibitors (Dynlacht et al., 1997; Zhu et al., 1995).

The role of the Rb and E2F pathways in cellular growth control has been the focal point of research from many years and substantial progress has been made to understand Rb and E2F dependent transcriptional regulation of cellular machinery. Rb and E2Fs play a central role in the basic mechanism of human cancer and therefore are very useful targets for genetic and drug therapeutic approaches (Chen et al., 1999; Hermiston, 2000; Westphal and Melchner Hv, 2002). Even with these extensive studies about Rb and E2F proteins, we know only a small fraction about the role of pRb and E2F proteins in different cellular processes and therefore the study of DNA tumor viruses serves as a navigation device to reach to those unknown functions.





1.3.1.2 TAg interaction with Rb family members

TAg was shown to bind Rb-proteins via the LXCXE motif (DeCaprio et al., 1988; Ewen et al., 1989). Furthermore, mutants of T antigen that are defective for Rb binding also fail to induce transformation (Kalderon and Smith, 1984; Rutila et al., 1986; Srinivasan et al., 1997; Zhu et al., 1992). Binding of TAg to the Rb-proteins via the LXCXE motif in conjunction with the J domain is sufficient to release E2Fs from repressive Rb-protein complexes and to induce S-phase genes (Fig.6). The LXCXE motif is required for growth to a high density in low and high serum concentrations and anchorage independent growth of MEFs both in a normal and Rb null background (Zalvide and DeCaprio, 1995). Similarly, mutations in this sequence render TAg defective in these assays when tested in MEFs lacking both p130 and p107 (Stubdal et al., 1997), suggesting that inactivation of all three Rb family members is necessary for transformation. These data strongly suggest that the Rb-proteins are an important target for TAg mediated transformation. Interestingly, the requirement of the LXCXE motif for anchorage independent growth can be relieved by inactivating mutations of p19^{ARF} (Chao et al., 2000). On the other hand, the LXCXE motif appears to be dispensable for extending the lifespan of primary cells, MEFs and REFs (rat embryo fibroblasts) in culture (Chen and Paucha, 1990; Thompson et al., 1990; Zalvide and DeCaprio, 1995). Furthemore, the binding of TAg to Rb-proteins is not required for SV40 replication (Trifillis et al., 1990). Transgenic mice have been made using wild-type and mutant forms of SV40 TAg to dissect the role of Rb-proteins in tumor development (Bennoun et al., 1998; Chandrasekaran et al., 1996; Chen et al., 1992; Kim et al.,

1994; Saenz Robles et al., 1994). These studies show that the amino terminal region of TAg comprising the J domain and LXCXE motif) is sufficient to induce tumors in various murine tissues and absolutely requires an intact LXCXE motif.

Figure 6: T antigen interaction with RB-family proteins and effects on cell cycle.

In the G0 (growth arrest) phase of the cell cycle, RB-family proteins are bound to E2Fs and repress E2F-responsive gene promoters. Binding of T antigen to RB-family proteins results in the release of E2Fs from RB-proteins which in turn transactivates S-phase genes and induces cell proliferation.



Transcriptional activation of S-phase genes

1.3.1.3 Role of J domain in the disruption of Rb-E2F complexes

The J domain of TAg binds to the molecular chaperone Hsc70, the major DnaK homologue present in mammalian cells. This interaction is required for the release of E2Fs from Rb-family protein repression (Sullivan and Pipas, 2002). All Hsc70 family members consist of a large amino terminal ATPase domain, a substrate binding domain, and an extreme carboxy terminal region also known as the variable or "lid" domain (Fig.7). The Hsc70 family of proteins binds to a target substrate and undergoes an ATP-hydrolysis-dependent conformational change, which in turn is transmitted to the bound substrate and alters its conformation. Hsc70 utilizes this mechanism to perform various functions in the cell, such as protein membrane transport, prevention of aggregation of denatured proteins, refolding of denatured proteins, and disruption of multiprotein complexes (Brodsky, 1996; Hartl, 1996; Polissi et al., 1995). Hsc70 by itself has a weak intrinsic ATPase activity. The presence of co-chaperones (such as the DnaJ molecular chaperone) and peptide substrates causes a significant increase in the ATPase activity of Hsc70. The next paragraph describes briefly the cooperative action of DnaK (Hsc70)/ DnaJ (TAg J domain) in the disruption of Rb-E2F complexes.

Figure 7: Domain map of Hsc70.

The ATPase domain (amino acids 1-386) is followed by the substrate binding domain (SBD) and the Lid (L) domain. The opening and closing of the lid domain is dependent on the ATP or ADP-bound status of Hsc70, respectively, and determines the affinity for the substrate.



Several reports suggest the cooperation between the LXCXE motif and J domain for the disruption of Rb-E2F complexes. For example, a p130-E2F complex is found in growth arrested MEFs, but not in MEFs expressing TAg. However, cells expressing J domain mutants or LXCXE mutants are unable to disrupt this complex (Sullivan et al., 2000a; Zalvide et al., 1998). Furthermore, the J domain is required to override the repression of E2F activity mediated by p130 and pRb (Zalvide and DeCaprio, 1995). The amino-terminal mutant N136, consisting of the first 136 amino acids of TAg, is capable of disrupting p130-E2F complexes in vitro and in vivo (unpublished results). These reports suggest that the J domain and LXCXE motif are sufficient for the disruption of Rb-E2F complexes, but they must reside in *cis*, that is, on the same TAg molecule (Srinivasan et al., 1997). To understand the underlying mechanism of J domain mediated disruption of Rb-E2F complexes, a chaperone model has been proposed (Brodsky and Pipas, 1998) (Fig.8). According to this model TAg forms a complex with Rb/E2F and Hsc70 via the LXCXE motif and the J domain. Then, the J domain stimulates Hsc70 ATP hydrolysis, and the resulting energy is used to release E2F from Rb. Several lines of experimental evidence support this model. For example, TAg does not interfere with E2F binding to Rb since TAg binds to a groove on the surface of the B domain of Rb, while E2Fs bind to a separate surface formed at the intersection of the A and B domain (Kim et al., 2001; Xiao et al., 2003) (Fig.9). Additionally, TAg, Rb, and E2F can form a stable complex (Sullivan et al., 2000a). Furthermore, addition of Hsc70 and an ATP regenerating system releases E2F from p130 in an ATP dependent mechanism (Sullivan et al., 2000a).

Figure 8: The chaperone model for disruption of Rb-E2F complexes.

The Large T antigen J domain recruits hsc70 and stimulates its ATPase activity which in turn releases Rb from E2F. Free E2Fs are now able to transactivate genes required for cell cycle progression.



Figure 9: Surface representation of a model for the interaction between Rb, E2F, TAg, and

Hsc70.

(Figure modified from Kim et al, 2001).



1.3.1.4 J domain independent T antigen effects on the Rb family

The Rb family members perform many functions including repression of activity of E2F and other transcription factors such as MyoD, Pax-3, c-Abl and CDP/cut. The requirement of the J domain in the release of E2F from Rb repression is well established, however the role of the J domain in regulating other transcription factors needs to be determined. Several reports suggest that TAg can alter Rb cellular growth regulation in a J domain independent manner. Stubdal and coworkers reported that induction of soft agar growth by MEFs depends on Rb binding but is independent of the J domain (Stubdal et al., 1997). It has been shown that a fusion protein consisting of the Rb-binding (amino acids 101 to 118) and carboxyl-terminal T-antigen fragments (amino acids 128 to 708) linked through a heterologous sequence is able to induce cells to grow to a high saturation density in high serum (Tevethia et al., 1997), suggesting the contribution of the Rb-binding motif in some growth promoting functions, even in the absence of the J domain. Overexpression of polyomavirus TAg in differentiating C2C12 myoblast cells induces apoptosis. This is dependent on Rb binding but independent of the J domain, since a J domain mutant H42Q induces apoptosis nearly as well as the wild type (Sheng et al., 2000). Moreover, either wild-type TAg or a J domain mutant are capable of restoring growth of a cell line which is growth inhibited by the conditional expression of p53. However, the LXCXE motif mutant is unable to restore growth suggesting that the Rb-binding motif, but not the J domain is required for this activity (Gjoerup et al., 2000; Quartin et al., 1994). Thus the varying requirements for a functional J domain in addition to the LXCXE motif may reflect TAg mediated disruption of Rb interaction with distinct binding partners, each involved in a specific biological response. One plausible hypothesis for these J domain independent, Rb binding dependent biological activities is that the LXCXE motif by itself is able to disrupt HDACs from

pRB (Gjoerup et al., 2000; Sheng et al., 2000), thereby reducing the ability of pRb to inhibit transcription. This hypothesis is supported by the observation that a peptide containing the LXCXE motif of T antigen disrupts complex formation between HDAC1 and pRB *in vitro* (Magnaghi-Jaulin et al., 1998) (Fig.10A). An alternative possibility is that TAg may prevent pRB repression arising from its blockade of interactions between certain transcription factors and the basal transcription machinery (Fig.10B). This hypothesis is supported by the observation that a human papillomavirus E7-derived peptide can disrupt interaction between pRB and upstream binding factor (UBF) and thereby prevent pRB-mediated repression of RNA polymerase I transcription (Cavanaugh et al., 1995). Third possibility is that the LXCXE motif binds some target other than pRb and affects growth control (Fig.10C).

Figure 10: Models for J domain independent regulation of the Rb family.

In this figure "Rb" represent all Rb-family members (pRb, p130 and p107). (A) In model A, it is hypothesized that TAg displaces HDAC from Rb because of competition from the LXCXE motif present in TAg. Release of HDAC may result in inhibition of Rb repression activity. HDAC1 contains an IACEE sequence which is similar to the LXCXE or IXCXE motif. (B) In model B, it is hypothesized that TAg displaces certain transcription factor(s) from Rb and make it available to interact with the basic transcription machinery to induce transcription which was otherwise repressed by Rb (Figure modified from Gjoerup and Roberts 2000). (C) In model C, it is hypothesized that LXCXE motif binds some target other than Rb and can affect growth control by mechanism describe in model A or B.



1.3.2 p53

The *p53* tumor suppressor gene encodes one of the most intensively studied proteins, p53, a sequence-specific DNA-binding transcription factor (Fig.11). The very high frequency with which the p53 pathway is inactivated in human cancers (~50%) attests to the crucial and pervasive role of p53 as a tumor suppressor. p53 is so critical because of its involvement in cell-cycle control, in apoptosis and in maintenance of genetic stability-all these fundamental functions of p53 help to protect the organism from cellular damage and disorder and thus p53 is considered as a "guardian of the genome". p53 was initially identified as a protein interacting with TAg in immunoprecipitation assays (Lane and Crawford, 1979; Linzer and Levine, 1979), emphasizing the importance of using DNA tumor viruses as a tool to understand tumorigenesis.

In contrast with pRb, very little p53 protein (almost undetectable) is found in most of the cells of the body under normal conditions. In fact, p53 is not required for normal development, as p53-deficient mice appear normal in all respects although they are prone to a variety of tumors, mostly lymphomas and sarcomas (Donehower et al., 1992). The level of p53 rises in response to genotoxic stresses such as irradiation, chemotoxins, or viral-induced unscheduled DNA synthesis. This increase in p53 levels initiates a cascade of events including stimulation of the transcription of several genes involved in cell cycle arrest and apoptosis. One such gene encodes a Cdk/cyclin kinase inhibitor (CKI) protein called p21, which binds to G1/S-phase Cdks and S-phase Cdks and inhibits their activities, thereby helping to block entry into S phase (Mittnacht, 1998). These observations suggest that p53 has evolved to integrate responses to stress and pathological stimuli.

Figure 11: Functional domains of p53.

The N-terminus of p53 consists of a transactivation domain and a proline-rich region, which are required for apoptotic function. The N-terminus possess interaction sites for components of the transcriptional machinery and Mdm2. T antigen binds to the DNA binding domain of p53 and might inhibit p53 function by blocking its DNA-binding activity. The N-terminus and C-terminus of p53 contains several sites for modifications such as phosphorylation, acetylation, ubiquitylation and sumoylation which influence stability, localization and activity of p53.



Another gene which encodes a E3 ubiquitin ligase (Mdm2) that is activated by p53. Mdm2 then binds to p53 and ubiquitinates it, thus targeting it for proteasome-mediated degradation (Levine, 1997). The down-regulation of p53 function by Mdm2 provides a feedback loop mechanism that allows for restoration of normal cell function when the genomic stress is diminished. On the other hand, phosphorylation of the amino-terminus of p53 reduces its binding to Mdm2 and thus decreases p53 degradation. The decreased binding to Mdm2 enhances the ability of p53 to stimulate gene transcription.

p53 levels are regulated by another feedback loop through p19^{ARF} (p14^{ARF} in humans) (ARF), which stabilizes and activates p53 by binding Mdm2 and blocking its association with p53. On the other hand, p53 downregulates ARF expression (Stott et al., 1998). ARF expression can be upregulated by E2F1, β -catenine, myc, ras and adenovirus E1A (Bates et al., 1998; de Stanchina et al., 1998; Palmero et al., 1998; Stott et al., 1998; Zindy et al., 1998). Beside p21, ARF serves as another link between the RB-E2F and p53 pathways (Fig.12). Overall the activation of the p53 protein and its network of genes sets in motion an elaborate process of autoregulatory-positive or autoregulatory-negative feedback loops, which connect the p53 pathway to other signal transduction pathways in the cell, and this broader communication permits the completion or the reversal of the p53 programmed responses to stress (Harris and Levine, 2005).

A large number of genes directly regulated by p53 contribute to the apoptosis of cells. For instance, Bax, Noxa, and Puma enhance the secretion of cytochrome c from the mitochondria into the cytoplasm often in a tissue-specific fashion. Subsequently, cytochrome cinteracts with APAF-1, another p53 target gene, to initiate a protease cascade, leading to the activation of caspase-9 and caspase-3 followed by apoptosis. This intrinsic pathway is initiated by a number of stress signals that activate the p53 pathway. In addition, p53 regulates a series of genes (Fas ligand, killer Dr receptor), that initiate an extrinsic apoptotic pathway resulting in the activation of caspase-8 and caspase-3 and apoptosis (Levine et al., 2006; Yu and Zhang, 2005). In contrast to p53-target genes that induce apoptosis, the target genes which bring about senescence are less well characterized (Nakamura, 2004). Besides the traditional role of p53 in cell cycle arrest, senescence and apoptosis, the p53 target genes have been shown to inhibit angiogenesis and metastasis (BAI1, TSP1, Mapsin), to be implicated in DNA repair and damage prevention (Gadd45, Sestrins), or to inhibit the IGF-1/ mTOR pathway (PTEN, TSC2,IGF-BP3) (Levine et al., 2006) (Fig.13).

p73 and p63 are members of the p53 family. These proteins share significant homology with p53 in three functional domains (transactivation domain, DNA binding domain and oligomerization domain) and can induce apoptosis like p53. On the other hand, p73 and p63 give rise to functionally distinct protein isoforms that lack the transactivation domain and function as dominant negative proteins (Irwin and Kaelin, 2001). p63 and p73 share the tumor-suppressor activity of p53 to some extent, but also have essential functions in embryonic development and differentiation control (Stiewe, 2007).

pRb and p53 play a central role in cellular growth control and the crosstalk between these pathways provide a better regulation of different cellular processes. The overlapping nature of these pathways is an important issue to keep in mind when addressing the biology of T antigen, and its interactions with either the Rb or p53 pathway (Fig.12).

Figure 12: Feedback regulation between Rb-E2F and p53 pathways.

E2F 1-3a activates p19ARF and E2F1 activates p53 by binding to their promoters and inducing transcription. p19ARF activates p53 by blocking its degradation by Mdm2. On the other hand, p19ARF binds to E2F1, disrupts E2F1/DP1 DNA binding complexes and targets E2F1 for degradation. p53 can activate transcription of p21 and pRb by binding to their promoters. In turn, p21 blocks cyclin D/ Cdk4/6 complexes that phosphorylate and inactivate pRb which binds E2Fs and repress its transcriptional activity.



Figure 13: The feedback regulation, the downstream genes and the biological consequences of the p53 pathway.

The p53 protein acts as a transcriptional activator of p53-regulated genes and results in three major biological consequences: cell cycle arrest, senescence or apoptosis. Other functions of p53-target genes include communication with neighboring cells, DNA repair or set up positive and negative feedback loops that enhance or attenuate the function of p53 protein and integrate these stress responses with other signal transduction pathways. Figure modified from Levin *et al.*2006.



1.3.2.1 TAg interaction with the tumor suppressor p53

p53 was first discovered as a cellular protein bound to TAg in SV40 infected or transformed cells (Lane and Crawford, 1979; Linzer and Levine, 1979). TAg directly binds to the DNA-binding surface of p53 thus blocking its ability to bind promoters and to regulate gene expression (Bargonetti et al., 1993; Jiang et al., 1993). Complex formation between TAg and p53 interferes with the expression of p53-regulated genes involved in several biological processes such as cell cycle (p21, cyclin G1), DNA repair (GADD45), apoptosis (Bax) and signal transduction (IGF-BP3) (Fig.13). For example, TAg blocks the activation of the p53-regulated gene p21 which is a universal Cdk inhibitor and as a result cells are unable to arrest in G1 phase and progress to S phase. Additionally, the binding of p53 with TAg prevents its degradation by Mdm2 and results in p53 stabilization. Therefore, high levels of p53 which are thought to be functionally inactive, are found in SV40 transformed cells (Oren et al., 1981). The classical hypothesis is that TAg creates a p53 null environment in the cell. An alternative hypothesis is that by stabilizing p53, TAg may manipulate its functions to benefit the virus and subsequently cause transformation. Furthermore, several reports suggest that mutant p53 proteins do not represent the simple loss of wild-type p53 activities but instead gain new additional oncogenic functions which contribute to tumor progression (Strano et al., 2007). For example, genetically engineered mice with naturally occurring mutations of p53 knocked into the p53 locus developed unique tumors compared to p53-/- mice, including a variety of carcinomas and more frequent endothelial tumors (Lang et al., 2004; Olive et al., 2004).

SV40 targets p53 in multiple ways. Thus another mechanism by which TAg blocks p53dependent transcription and growth arrest is through a mechanism that is independent of p53 binding and requires both the J domain and the LXCXE motif (Quartin et al., 1994; Rushton et al., 1997). These studies suggest that p53 mediated cell cycle arrest can be overcome by formation of TAg with Rb family, p300 or both that could then function to either remove p53-mediated negative growth reagulatory signals or promote a positive cell growth signal. Furthermore small t antigen was also shown to contribute to the inactivation of p53 and may cooperate with TAg to enhance transformation. TAg does not bind to other p53 family members, p63 and p73, which suggests that these proteins are not involved in TAg mediated transformation (Dobbelstein et al., 1999; Higashino et al., 1998).

1.3.3 TAg interaction with the CBP family

p300 and CBP are highly homologous transcriptional coactivators that possess both distinct and overlapping functions. These coactivator proteins are recruited by many different transcription factors such as CREB, nuclear receptors, STAT, NF- κ B, and AP-1 and therefore play a broad role in multiple biological processes including cell growth, cell cycle progression and development. In addition, CBP/p300 have been implicated in cancer (Goodman and Smolik, 2000; Iyer et al., 2004). The adenovirus E1A protein binds to p300/CBP directly through an N-terminal CR1 domain, and this region is essential for its transforming activities (Jelsma et al., 1989). Genetic studies demonstrated that SV40 TAg can complement p300/CBP-binding deficient mutants of E1A to restore transformation (Yaciuk et al., 1991). p300/CBP interact with TAg indirectly where p53 serves as a scaffold to bridge the interaction (Poulin et al., 2004) (Fig.14). TAg can enhance the p300/CBP associated histone acetyltransferase activity (Valls et al., 2003). Furthermore, the presence of TAg increases phosphorylation of p53 at S15 which in turn stabilizes the interaction between p53 and p300/CBP (Borger and DeCaprio, 2006). CBP in turn acetylates TAg on K697 in a p53 dependent manner (Poulin et al., 2004). The biological

consequences of this acetylation is not completely understood, however this acetylation site is conserved on the T antigens of JCV, BKV and SA12 (Cantalupo et al., 2005; Poulin et al., 2004). Some experiments suggest that TAg might help to deliver p300/CBP to E2F-dependent promoters, which may enhance transcription of E2F target genes and progression to S phase (Ait-Si-Ali et al., 2000). This hypothesis is supported by the observation where activation of E2F dependent promoters by the murine polyomavirus TAg requires both the inhibition of Rb proteins and an interaction with p300/CBP (Nemethova et al., 2004). On the other hand, it has been reported that stable transfection of NIH3T3 cells with the acetylation-mimicking mutant K697Q had reduced anchorage-independent growth compared to cells expressing wild-type or non-acetylatable K697R TAg. This observation suggests that acetylation destabilizes TAg and regulates the transforming activity of TAg in NIH3T3 cells (Shimazu et al., 2006).

1.3.4 Additional TAg targets

Genetic studies suggest that inactivation of pRb and p53 is not sufficient to induce TAg mediated transformation (Sachsenmeier and Pipas, 2001) thus indicating the presence of additional targets of TAg contributing to transformation. In the past few years several additional targets of TAg have been discovered. Some of them are shown to be important for transformation while others await more studies (Fig.14). Following is the brief description of the additional targets of TAg.

Cul7 is a scaffold protein that forms the core subunit of an E3 ubiquitin ligase complex involved in degradation of proteins (Ali et al., 2004). TAg binds to Cul7 via residues 69-83 which are situated at the carboxy-terminal end of the J domain and upstream from the LXCXE motif. Non-Cul7-binding mutants of TAg are unable to induce anchorage-independent growth of MEFs and fail to support growth in low serum (Ali et al., 2004). However these mutants are

capable of inducing cell division and growth to high densities when expressed in Cul7 deficient MEFs (Kasper et al., 2005). These observations suggest that in addition to p53 and the Rb family of proteins, TAg must inactivate Cul7 to fully transform cells.

Bub1, a mitotic spindle checkpoint protein, was found as a TAg interacting protein in a yeast two hybrid analysis (Cotsiki et al., 2004). TAg mutants W94A or W95A defective in Bub1 binding fail to induce focus formation in Rat-1 cells, but immortalize rat embryo fibroblasts (Cotsiki et al., 2004). The interaction between TAg and Bub1 results in the perturbation of the spindle checkpoint and may induce aneuploidy and genomic instability (Chang et al., 1997; Cotsiki et al., 2004; Woods et al., 1994).

Nbs1 (Nijmegen breakage syndrome protein1) is a component of the MRN (Mre11/Rad50/Nbs1) complex that functions in DNA double-stranded break repair. TAg can bind to Nbs1 via its origin binding domain and this interaction is independent of TAg binding to p53 and pRb and does not require the J domain (Wu et al., 2004). By binding to Nbs1, TAg induces endoreduplication and causes genomic instability. It has been also reported that TAg disturbs the accumulation of Mre11 at sites of DNA damage (Digweed et al., 2002).

Fbw7 is the substrate recognition component of the SCF^{Fbw7} ubiquitin ligase and is a human tumor suppressor. TAg binds to Fbw7 via a decoy phospho-epitope within the host-range domain of TAg that closely mimics the consensus Cdc4 phospho-degron found within Fbw7 substrates (Welcker and Clurman, 2005). The authors report that this interaction can interfere in Fbw7-driven turnover of physiological substrates such as cyclin E in vivo and cause stabilization of these substrates. This leads to a hypothesis that TAg, functioning as a competitive inhibitor, competes with cellular proteins for Fbw7 binding in a substrate-like fashion. How this interaction contributes to TAg mediated transformation is not known yet.

Zhou-Li and co-workers have shown direct association of TAg with Insulin receptor substrate (IRS-1), which is a major substrate for both the insulin receptor and insulin-like growth factor receptor (IGF-IR) (Zhou-Li et al., 1997). The amino terminal 250 amino acids of TAg were shown to be required for this interaction. Only one report suggests the requirement of signaling through IGF-IR for SV40 mediated transformation (DeAngelis et al., 2006).

TAg modulates the transcription of both cellular and viral genes by targeting various components of the eukaryotic transcriptional machinery such as TEF-1, TBP, hTAF, TFIIB and RNApolII (Berger et al., 1996). How these interactions with TAg affect transcription of cellular genes is not yet known. However, since TBP is required by all three RNA polymerases, TAg could potentially affect transcription by all these. TAg binds to transcription enhancing factor -1 (TEF-1) via the OBD domain and inhibits the binding of TEF-1 to target DNA sequences. TEF-1 appears to play a role in the early-to-late switch in viral transcription (Berger et al., 1996). A TEF- binding deficient mutant (S189N) of TAg was shown to be seven to eight fold less efficient than wild-type TAg in focus formation assay (Dickmanns et al., 1994). This may suggest that TAg is involved in transcriptional regulation of cellular genes through their TEF-1 binding sites.

In summary, TAg targets many key cellular regulatory proteins to induce transformation (Fig.15). TAg targets two well characterized tumor suppressors, pRb and p53 and in both cases the primary effect of TAg is to perturb the way the tumor suppressors regulate cellular transcription. On one hand by binding to Rb family members TAg induces proliferation and on the other hand by binding to p53 it blocks apoptosis. Furthermore, it is unclear if TAg recruitment of CBP/p300 via p53 plays a role in SV40-mediated transformation, however modulation of CBP/p300 is necessary for transformation induced by adenovirus E1A. Additional potential targets of the TAg include Bub1, Cul7, Fbw7 and IRS-1. However, their role in TAg

mediate transformation is not clear. TAg also targets the DNA damage sensing and processing complex Mre11-Rad50-Nbs1 (MRN) and may induce genetic instability that contributes to transformation.

Figure 14: Interaction of cellular proteins with different domains/regions of large T antigen.

T antigen binds to RB-family proteins via an LXCXE motif, Hsc70 via the J domain, p53 via the p53 binding site, CBP/p300 via p53, Nbs1 and TEF-1 via the OBD and Fbw7 via the HR domain. The amino-terminus of T antigen interacts with TATA-binding protein (TBP), Oct6 and IRS-1. T antigen was shown to be coimmunoprecipitated with activator protein 2 (AP-2) and various components of the eukaryotic transcriptional machinery such as TAF, TFIIB and RNApolII.



Figure 15: Large T antigen interacts with cellular proteins to elicit transformation.

By blocking pRb dependent response TAg drive cells to re-enter S-phase. By blocking p53 dependent response TAg escape apoptosis. The net result of these actions is cell proliferation. Additional potential targets of the TAg include CBP/p300, Bub1, Cul7, Fbw7 and IRS-1. TAg targets the DNA reapir complex (Mre11-Rad50-Nbs1) and may induce genetic instability that contributes to transformation.



1.4 THE MOUSE INTESTINAL EPITHELIUM AS A MODEL SYSTEM

The epithelial cell renewal process in the mouse intestine makes it a very useful model system to study the regulation of cell division and differentiation. The epithelium is a contiguous, single layer sheet of cells that convolutes and involutes to form two types of structures; the villus that protrudes toward the lumen, and the crypts of Liberkuhn at the base of each villus that invaginate into the underlying basal lamina (Fig.16).

The intestinal epithelium contains four types of differentiated cells: enterocytes, goblet, enteroendocrine, and Paneth cells. These cells are derived from a small number of pluripotent stem cells that reside near the base of each crypt. These stem cells give rise to a zone of proliferating cells, which differentiate as they migrate towards the luminal surface, with the exception of the Paneth cells, which migrate towards the base of the crypt. As a result, villi are mainly composed of enterocytes (95%) with some goblet and enteroendocrine cells (Figure 16). Enterocytes secrete hydrolases and absorb nutrients. Goblet cells, provide a protective mucous lining. The rare enteroendocrine cells secrete hormones (secretin) and neurotransmitters (serotonine) to maintain homeostasis and other neurological mechanisms to stimulate absorption and for distension in the intestine. Paneth cells secrete antimicrobial peptides and enzymes such as cryptidines, defensins, and lysozyme. The differentiated cell types (enterocytes, goblet and enteroendocrine cells) function for only a few days and undergo apoptosis and are then extruded into the intestinal lumen, while Paneth cells are thought to be engulfed by macrophages. As a result, the entire lining of the intestine is replaced approximately every five days (Sancho et al., 2004). Thus, the small intestine represents a dynamic example of self renewing tissue, and one of the few cases in which the proliferating stem cells and nonproliferating differentiated cell populations reside in discrete compartments.

Intestinal villi and crypts can be readily separated from extraneous tissue, thus allowing the isolation of proteins or nucleic acids from cell populations greatly enriched for non-proliferating, terminally differentiated cells (villi), or from their proliferating, multipotent progenitors (crypts) (Markovics et al., 2005; Whitehead et al., 1987). Overall, the stratification of proliferation and differentiation along the crypt-villus axis makes the intestine an attractive model system for examining the regulation of mediators of the cell cycle.

Figure 16: Diagram of the small intestinal epithelial structures: crypt of lieberkuhn and its associated villus.

Crypts involute into the mesenchyme and represent cell populations enriched for proliferating, multipotent progenitors. Villi protrude into the lumen of the small intestine and represent cell populations greatly enriched for non-proliferating, terminally differentiated cells. Location of intestinal cell types (enterocytes, enteroendocrine, goblet and paneth cells) is indicated. TAg is expressed in terminally differentiated enterocytes by using the intestinal fatty acid binding protein (I-FABP) promoter.



Several paracrine and autocrine signaling pathways regulate stem cell proliferation in the crypts and differentiation in the villus, including the Wnt (Dickkopf, APC, β -catenine, SOX9), Notch-Delta, TGF β /BMP and Hedgehog pathways (Hauck et al., 2005; Radtke et al., 2006; Sancho et al., 2004; Walters, 2005). Briefly, Wnt signaling is important for stem cell renewal and crypt formation, while BMP signaling suppresses Wnt signaling to ensure a balanced control of stem cell self-renewal (He et al., 2004). The Notch signaling pathway regulates differentiation choices between more specialized secretory cell types. Sonic hedgehog (SHH) and Indian hedgehog (IHH) signaling is required for embryonic villus formation and for cell fate specification.

A number of correlations have been made between targeted genetic manipulations or mutations of the above mentioned signaling pathways and the resulting intestinal phenotypes (Hauck et al., 2005). Tumorigenesis in the small intestine is actually quite low, and most of the transformation resulting from mutations in these pathways occurs in the colon, which appears to be similarly regulated to the small intestine. The difference in tumorigenic frequency between the small and large intestine has been attributed to the higher propensity of the small intestinal epithelial stem cell's to commit apoptosis when damaged, and the higher genetic fidelity achieved by regular retention of the template strands of DNA (Potten et al., 2003). One of the important aspects to study cancer is to understand a fine balance between the cell proliferation and differentiation. Therefore the small intestine becomes a very useful model system because it harbors both proliferating stem cells and nonproliferating differentiated cell populations in discrete compartments.

1.5 T ANTIGEN MUTANTS AND THEIR PHENOTYPES IN CELL CULTURE AND IN TRANSGENIC MICE

In the present study we have used MEF cell lines as well as transgenic mice expressing wild-type TAg or TAg mutants (N136, 3213, or D44N) (Figure 17). In MEFs, expression of wild-type TAg results in a transformed phenotype, while cells expressing N136 (comprised of the J domain and LXCXE motif) shows transformation defective phenotype as assessed by focus formation and soft-agar assays (Thompson et al., 1990). It has been reported that the LXCXE mutant K1 (E107K) is unable to induce focus formation and anchorage independent growth in MEFs (Zalvide and DeCaprio, 1995), while 3213 (E107K, E108K) show reduced frequency of focus formation. Additionally, the J domain mutant D44N induces focus formation and anchorage independent growth, although at a somewhat reduced frequency compared to wild-type TAg (Hahn et al., 2002; Markovics et al., 2005; Stubdal et al., 1997). The phenotype induced by these mutants of TAg is cell-type specific. For example, 3213 and D44N show an intermediate phenotype with reduced transformation in MEFs, while they are transformation defective when expressed in REF52 cells. Therefore, one should be cautious when interpreting phenotypes induced by these mutants in cell culture and keep in mind the cell type specificity and type of mutation.

Our lab has generated a series of transgenic mice expressing wild-type or a TAg mutant (N136 or 3213 or D44N) in terminally differentiated enterocytes using the intestinal fatty acid binding protein (I-FABP) promoter (Fig.16). Previously it has been shown that these promoter elements could drive expression of a reporter construct exclusively in the villus compartment of the small intestinal epithelium with the highest expression in the distal jejunum, then decreasing
both proximally towards the duodenum and distally towards the colon, similar to the pattern of expression of the endogenous gene (Cohn et al., 1992). Expression of TAg in I-FABP driven transgenic mice extends from the uppermost portion of the crypts at the base of the villus to the apical extrusion zone of the villus (Hauft et al., 1992). Expression of wild-type TAg in murine enterocytes results in intestinal hyperplasia that progresses to dysplasia by 4 to 6 months of age (Hauft et al., 1992; Kim et al., 1993). Expression of 3213 which is unable to bind to the Rb family of proteins in the intestinal epithelium of transgenic mice does not result in hyperplasia and dysplasia (Kim et al., 1994). One of the goals of my thesis is to determine the requirement of the J domain for the induction of intestinal hyperplasia. Furthermore, we aimed to determine whether the amino truncation mutant of TAg (N136) is capable of inducing enterocyte proliferation and intestinal hyperplasia/dysplasia.

Figure 17: Large T antigen mutants and their phenotypes in cell culture and in transgenic mice.

Large T antigen and its mutants were expressed in mouse embryo fibroblasts and in mouse intestinal villus enterocytes. The capability of inducing transformation in cell culture was assessed by focus formation assay and intestinal phenotypes were scored as hyperplasia and dysplasia.



1.6 DISSERTATION OVERVIEW

According to the current model, TAg inactivates Rb proteins and thus induces E2F dependent transcription, which consequently leads to cell proliferation/transformation. In addition, TAg stabilizes and inactivates p53, thus it blocks apoptosis and results in reduced cell death. The aim of this dissertation is to test this model and explore new targets and/or functions of TAg which may contribute to transformation.

Chapter 3 describes studies to determine the role of the J domain in the induction of intestinal hyperplasia. Several cell culture studies suggested that cooperation of the J domain with the Rb binding motif (LXCXE) is required to inactivate the growth suppressive functions of p130, p107 and pRb. However, the requirement of the J domain for transformation in cell culture is not clear, due to an intermediate phenotype. Therefore, we decided to determine the role of the J domain in a normal tissue setting (mouse intestinal system) for induction of hyperplasia.

Chapters 4 describe experiments aimed to determine whether the amino truncation mutant of TAg (N136) is capable of inducing enterocyte proliferation and intestinal hyperplasia/dysplasia. Based on previous studies we hypothesized that inactivation of Rb-proteins by TAg is sufficient to induce enterocyte proliferation, but that an activity mapping to the C-terminus and/or expression levels and/or localization of TAg is required for progression to dysplasia. To test this we have examined several lines of transgenic mice expressing the amino-terminal truncation mutant, N136, in villus enterocytes.

Chapter 5 and 6 analyzes the global change in the host cell gene expression after SV40 abortive infection or after expression of TAg in either cell culture or in an animal model. Additionally, we aimed to investigate whether the Rb and p53 pathways are the only players of TAg induced transformation or if additional factors contribute to it. Our study identified additional sets of genes altered by TAg expression either belonging to the interferon pathway or to other important biological classes.

2.0 MATERIAL AND METHODS

2.1 PRODUCTION AND MAINTENANCE OF TRANSGENIC MICE.

A BamHI/XhoI fragment (2.7Kb) from pRSVBneoT (Srinivasan et al., 1997), encoding full length T antigen, was ligated to the 3.9Kb BclI/XhoI vector portion of pIFABP.GFP (Saenz-Robles et al., 2007). The resulting plasmid (pIFABP.T) was the target for site-directed mutagenesis (QuickChange kit, Stratagene) to introduce the D44N mutation into TAg^{wt}. The resulting construct (pIAFBP.D44N) was confirmed by sequence analysis and digested with SacII/MluI to render a 4.2Kb fragment containing the IFABP promoter, the coding sequences for SV40 large T antigen mutant D44N and the SV40 polyadenylation signals. Pronuclear microinjection of this fragment resulted in transgenic mice (Fabpi-SV40 TAg^{D44N}) expressing TAg^{D44N} and small t antigen in the enterocytes of the small intestine. Three different transgenic lines were established (A, C and G), all of which showed similar phenotypes. Unless noted, TAg^{D44N} animals used in this report were from pedigree C. TAg^{N136} and TAg³²¹³ transgenic mice were made as described by Sáenz Robles et al (Saenz-Robles et al., 2007). Transgenic mice expressing SV40 TAg^{wt} under the control of the rat intestinal fatty acid binding protein promoter (pedigree 103) were obtained from Jeff Gordon (Kim et al., 1993). Murine viral pathogens (hepatitis, minute, lymphocytic, choriomeningitis, ectromelia, polyoma, Sendai, pneumonia, and mouse adenoviruses, enteric bacterial pathogens) and parasites were absent from the mouse colony. All lines were maintained by crosses to nontransgenic FVB. The genotype of each mouse was determined by PCR amplification as described (Saenz-Robles et al., 2007).

2.2 ISOLATION OF PRIMARY FIBROBLASTS, CELL CULTURE CONDITIONS, AND ESTABLISHMENT OF CELL LINES

Mouse embryo fibroblasts (MEFs) were harvested from 13.5-day-old FVB embryos as described previously (Markovics et al., 2005) and grown in in DMEM (Mediatech, cat# 10-013-CV) supplemented with 10% heat-inactivated fetal bovine serum (Hyclone, cat# SH30071.03), 100 U/ml penicillin and 100 ug/ml streptomycin (Invitrogen, cat# 15140-122). MEFs were grown at 37^oC in 5% CO₂. Stable MEF cell lines were made with pRSVB-neo plasmid that expresses a Geneticin (G418) resistance gene and a cDNA or genomic version of the wild-type or mutant T antigens (N136, 3213 (E107K, E108K) and 5110 (D44N)) under the control of the Rouse sarcoma virus (RSV) promoter (Srinivasan et al., 1997). Primary cultures of MEFs were transfected with above plasmids using Lipofectamine reagent (Life Technologies), according to the manufacturer's instructions. Upon selection in culture with 0.4 mg/ml of G418 (Invitrogen, cat# 11811-031), transformed colonies (foci) were selected and individually grown and several independent cell lines were established.

2.3 SV40 INFECTION

For the abortive SV40 infections, confluent MEFs were infected with SV40 at a multiplicity of infection 10 viral particles per cell (M.O.I = 10) as described (Tremblay et al., 2001). Cells were incubated for an additional 3 to 4 days before the cells were harvested with trypsin. The cell pellet was washed three times with cold PBS/EDTA and frozen at -80C. RNA extraction from SV40 infected MEFs is described in section 2.8 of this chapter. Three independent mock and SV40 infections were conducted.

2.4 PREPARATION OF INTESTINAL VILLI SAMPLES BY LASER CAPTURE MICROSCOPY (LCM)

The intestine was removed in its entirety from the abdominal cavity, from the exit of the stomach to the entry into the large intestine. The intestines were then opened along their cephalocaudal axis, washed with phosphate-buffered saline, and rolled from the duodenum to the ileum. Rolls from wild-type, TAg and TAg mutant transgenic mice were then processed to isolate villi cell types by LCM. Briefly, the rolls were quickly frozen and stored at -80^oC. Frozen sections were cut and immediately dehydrated in graded alcohol solutions. The dried sections were examined microscopically and the top 2/3rds of 50 villous segments from each section were collected using a laser capture microscope (Pix Cell II, Arcturus, Mt. View, CA). The captured tissue was extracted in Pico Pure extraction buffer (Arcturus) according to the manufacturer's directions and stored at -80C.

2.5 IMMUNOBLOT ANALYSIS

Material enriched in intestinal villi was prepared and analyzed by western blot as described elsewhere (Markovics et al., 2005). Appropriate dilutions of the following primary antibodies were used: T antigen-mouse monoclonal PAb416 (Harlow et al., 1981); anti-pRb-mouse IgG (G-3245) (BD-Pharmingen); anti-p130-rabbit IgG (C-20) (*sc-317*); anti-p107-rabbit IgG (C-18) (*sc-318*); anti-E2F1-rabbit IgG (C-20) (*sc-193*); anti-E2F2-mouse IgG1 (TFE25) (*sc-9967*); anti-E2F3-rabbit IgG (C-18) (*sc-878*) (all from Santa Cruz Biotechnologies). Goat anti-mouse A2554 and goat anti-rabbit A0545 (Sigma) were used as secondary antibodies.

2.6 IMMUNOHISTOCHEMISTRY

Assessment of the proliferative status was obtained after mice were given an intraperitoneal injection of 5-bromo-2'deoxyuridine (BrdU; Sigma) (100 mg/kg body weight) two hours prior to their sacrifice. Sections were stained with monoclonal Rat BU1/75 (dilution, 1:2000) (Accurate Scientific, Westbury, NY). Antigen-antibody complexes were detected with ABC Elite kit Rat (Vector Labs, Burlingame, CA) and development of the peroxidase reaction was performed with DAB substrate (DAKO). Stained sections of murine intestines were photographed under a Nikon FXA microscope (original magnification x200).

Detection of T antigen proteins was performed in 5-µm-thick histological sections using appropriate dilutions of the anti-TAg antibody PAb419 (for TAg^{wt}) (Harlow et al., 1981) and PAb416 (for TAg^{N136}) as the primary antibody and biotinilated anti-mouse-Fab as the secondary

antibody, followed by streptavidin-peroxidase ARK kit plus development of the peroxidase reaction with DAB substrate (DAKO), according to the manufacturer's instructions.

2.7 ELECTROPHORETIC MOBILITY SHIFT ASSAY (EMSA).

Equal amounts of top and bottom strands of a oligonucleotide containing an E2F binding site (5' - ATTTAAGTTTCGCGCCCTTTCTCAA - 3') were annealed and 28pmol of the doublestranded oligo was then end-labeled with γ^{32} P-ATP as described, with modifications (Sullivan et al., 2000a). To purify the end-labeled oligo from unlabeled γ^{32} P-ATP, the oligo was subjected to centrifugation through the "Centri-spinTM-20" columns as per the manufacturer's protocol (Princeton Separations). 30µg of protein extracts with or without antibodies were diluted in gel shift buffer (10mM Hepes KOH, pH 7.9, 20mM KCI, 3mM MgCl2, 0.5mM EGTA, 0.5mM DTT, 0.5mM PMSF, 0.05%NP40), plus an additional 100mM DTT, 1.5mg/mL BSA, 50µg/mL salmon sperm DNA, 10% glycerol and incubated with 2µg of labeled probe for 30 minutes at room temperature. Antibodies used for supershift were pRb-mouse IgG (G-3245) (14001A)(BD-Pharmingen); anti-p130- rabbit IgG (C-20) (sc-317), anti-p107-rabbit IgG (C-18) (sc-318), anti-E2F 1-mouse IgG_{2a} (KH95) (sc-251) or anti-E2F1-rabbit IgG (C-20) (sc-193), anti-E2F2-mouse IgG₁ (TFE25) (sc-9967) or anti-E2F2-rabbit IgG (C-20) (sc-633), anti-E2F3a-rabbit IgG (N-20) (sc-879), anti-E2F3-rabbit IgG (C-18) (sc-878), anti-E2F4-rabbit IgG (A-20) (Sc- 1082) and anti-E2F5-rabbit IgG (H-ill) (sc-I 699) (all from Santa Cruz Biotechnologies, Inc.). The p130 antibody shows residual cross reactivity with the p107 protein, therefore partially shifting p107 containing complexes. The samples were then subjected to gel electrophoresis through a nondenaturing polyacrylamide gel (4% bis-acrylamide, 0.25X TBE, 0.1% ammonium persulfate

(APS), 0.001% TEMED) in 0.25X TBE running buffer at 4° C for approximately 4-6 hours. The gel was then dried for approximately 2 hours and exposed to film for various lengths of time at - 80° C.

2.8 RNA EXTRACTION

Wild-type MEFs and MEFs expressing TAg and TAg mutants were grown to confluence and fed with fresh medium. After 2 days, the cells were harvested and the cell pellet was washed with cold PBS/EDTA three times. Two independent wild-type MEF and three independent MEF T and MEF mutant RNA preparations were prepared. Total RNA from transfected or infected MEFs was isolated using the RNeasy kit according to the manufacture's protocol (Qiagen Inc.). Genomic DNA containination was elimainated by digesting the RNA with RNase-free DNase. The yield (at absorbance A260) and purity (A260/A280 ratio) of each RNA sample were determined by using an spectrophotometer (Eppendorf).

For microarray experiment, total RNA was isolated from LCM villi sample with the PicoPure kit (Arcturus) and amplified twice with the RiboAmp kit (Arcturus). Independent RNA preparations were made from three wild-type, D44N, and 3213 mice, four TAg mice and five N136 transgenic mice. All mice were between the ages of 2.4 to 5 months old.

For D44N project, whole intestine or intestinal fractions were collected, lysed and homogenized in buffer containing guanidine isothiocyanate, an RNase inhibitor, and the total RNA was extracted using the RNeasy kit (Qiagen).

2.9 MICROARRAYS

Total RNA was sent to the Genomics and Proteomics Core Laboratories (University of Pittsburgh) for hybridization to the Mouse 430 2.0 whole genome array (Affymetrix) containing 45101 probesets representing 21635 unique genes. CEL files for each array were converted into RMA expression values using BRB-Array Tools (Rich Simon, National Cancer Institute, http://linus.nci.nih.gov/BRB-ArrayTools.html). An average fold change ratio (Experimental/Control) and a one-sample T-test was calculated for each probe set.



2.10 REVERSE TRANSCRIPTION PCR (RT-PCR) ANALYSIS

cDNA synthesis from 1 ug of total RNA was performed using Superscript II Reverse Transcriptase (Invitrogen). PCR was performed with 1ul cDNA using GoTAq polymerase (Promega) for 25 cycles with specific primers for the different transcripts. Amplification with primers for the Adh5 transcript was used as a normalizing control. PCR reaction products were resolved through a 2% agarose gel in 1X TAE and stained with GelStar (Cambrex Bio Science). The following primers were used for different transcripts in this study:

Gene	Forward or	Primer Sequence	Product	Annealing	Extention
	Reverse	(5' to 3')	size (bp)	temp. (°C)	time (sec)
A dh	F	TECACCACCAACTECTTAE	152	58	30
Aun	R	GATGCAGGGATGATGTTC	152	50	50
BRCA1	F	GCTTGACCCCCAAAGAAGTAATGAC	343	56	30
DICAI	R	GGCTCACAACAATAGACCTGTAGGC	5-5	50	50
RRM2	F	TTGCCTGCCTGATGTTCAAGCACC	436	56.3	30
Iddii2	R	GTGTAGCCAGTTGGTTGTTTTTGC	150	50.5	50
DHFR	F	TGGTTTGGATAGTCGGAGGCAG	261	55	30
DIIIK	R	GGGGAGCAGAGAACTTGAAAGC	201	00	50
B-mvb	F	CTCTCCAGCTCCAGGGTATC	350	58	30
2 mje	R	GCACTGCAGTCATCCCAGCA	200		20
TS	F	TCAGTTCTATGTGGTGAATGGGG	235	55.5	30
10	R	TGGGAAAGGTCTTGGTTCTCGC	200	00.0	20
Cvclin E	F	GCAGAAGGTCTCAGGTTATC	608	55	45
-)	R	GTGGCCTCCTTAACTTCAAG			
Lrdd	F	GAGAGCAGGTTGCCCATACTTG	151	55.7	30
	R	GAGCCATCAGGTAGGTAGAGGAAAC			
p21	F	GAACTTTGACTTCGTCACGGAGAC	339	60.1	30
1	R	CTTCAGGGTTTTCTCTTGCAGAAG			
NOXA	F	TTGTTTGGAGACAAGGGTCCC	189	52.8	30
	R	GACCATAAATACCCATTGGGCAAG			
Mdm2	F	TTGGAACCCCCAGGAAGAGTGAAC	238	55.4	30
	R	CCACACCCCTATGACAAAAAGC			
Cyclin G1	F	AGGAAAGGAATGTCCCACTGGC	188	54.4	30
	R	CCTCTCAAATGGCAAGGTGTCG			
Fas	F	GCCGAATGTCGCAGAACCTTAG	204	54.4	30
	R	CAGGAGTTGCCAATGTCAATACAG			
PERP	F	AGGGCTACAGAGGAGGAAAGTCAC	377	53.9	30
	R	CGGTCTACGCTGGTTCTAAGCATAC			
Pten	F	ATTTGGTCACCCTTTGAGTCCTC	231	52.9	30
	R	AGTTTGTCTTGTTGTTAGCCCACC			
Rprm	F	ATGTGTGTGCTCTCGCTCACTGTG	131	55.6	30
	R	ACCACTGCCTCCACCTCTTTAGAC			
GD15	F	CAGGCAACTCTTGAAGACTTGGG	323	60.6	30
	R	AGCATCCTTGAAGGGGAGTGTAGG			
LIF	F	GGACCAGAGAAAAAGGGATGGG	140	53.6	30
	R	AAATAGACAAGAGTGGGGGGGGGGGGG			
BMP8a	F	ATGCTAACTGAGAGGTCTGGGGGTC	162	55.6	30
	R	CAACTGCCACAATGAATGGTGC			
PDGF-α	F	AAGTGGAGTATGTCAGGAAGAAGCC	191	57.3	30
	R	TGTTCAGGAATGTCACACGCC			
Areg	F	CGACAAGAAAACGGGACTGTGC	153	55.3	30
	R	TGACAACTGGGCATCTGGAACC			
Proliferin	F	AAGCCCTCTGGACGATCTAGTGAG	204	54.3	30
	R	CGAGCATCTTCATTGTCAGATTGC			

Table 1: Primers used in this study

	Gene	Forward or Reverse	Primer Sequence (5' to 3')	Product size (bp)	Annealing temp. (°C)	Extention time (sec)
	Ifi44	F	GAGAGAACAGGGAATGAAGAAGGC	134	52.4	30
		R	CCAACAGAATTGCGATTGGTCC			
	Ifi27	F	CCATAGCAGCCAAGATGATGTCTG	121	55	30
		R	GCATTTGTTGATGTGGAGAGTCC			
	Oas2	F	AAAACCAACCGCTCCCAGTTCGTC	488	57.1	30
		R	GCAATGTCAAAGTCATCTGTGCC			
	GTPase2	F	CTTCCACCTGCTTGTTCTTTGG	266	55.4	30
		R	TCACAGTTTCCTCAGTGCTGGG			
	Rsad2	F	CAATCACACCCAGCAGCAGTTAG	209	54.4	30
		R	AGCGATGCCTCAGAACACAGTG			
	Mx1	F	CAGCACCTGAAAGCCTACTACCAG	135	53.6	30
		R	GGTGTCCTGTAAAAGCTGAAGCATC			
	Oasl2	F	TTACAGAACAGCCAGAGCTATACGG	548	56.1	40
		R	CAAGGGAGATAGATTTACGTCCACG			
	IRF7	F	ACACCATCTACCTGGGTTTTG	243	54	60
		R	TTGGGATTCTGAGTCAAGGC			
	H60	F	TGCTGACAGATAGGTGTTGGCG	278	53.8	30
		R	CCCTCTGGAATTTCTTCTCACCC			
	Cyclin D1	F	CCAACAACTTCCTCTCCTGCTACC	596	57.9	45
		R	TCCTTCTCAAGACTTCCCCTGTG			
	IGF-BP3	F	TCTTGGGGTCCTTCTCAAACTCTC	190	52.2	30
		R	CAGACACAGGCTCCTTTCCTTG			
	Elastin	F	TCCATCCGTCCATCTTGACTGC	148	58.3	30
		R	AACCAGCCCACACAACCCTTTG			
	Mafb	F	CAGGCTTTGCGTCCTAAGAAGTC	157	56.1	30
		R	TGGCTGTTTGGCTCAATGGG			
	Dner	F	CAAGGATGGGCTTTTTTGACAG	553	53.3	40
		R	ACAGAAGGGACTGGCACCTCTTAC			
	E2F1	F	TTGCCTGTCTGTTTGCTGAGCC	420	60	30
		R	CGGAGATTTTCACACCTTTCCCTG			
	E2F2	F	TTCGCTTTACACGCAGACGG	289	60	30
		R	AATGAACTTCTTGGTCAGGAGCC			
	E2F3a	F	AGCCTCTACACCACGCCACAAG	309	60	30
		R	ATCCAGGACCCCATCAGGAGAC			
	RB	F	TCACACAACCCAGCAGTGCG	270	56	30
		R	CTATCCGAGCGCTCCTGTTC			
	p107	F	TAGATATCTTTCAAAATCCATATGAAGAGC	2250	56	120
		R	ATTGTACACCACGAC TCC			
	p130	F	TTGGGACTCTGTCTCGGTGTCTAAG	499	57	30
		R	AATGCGTCATGCTCCAGAACACCAG			

3.0 ENTEROCYTE PROLIFERATION AND INTESTINAL HYPERPLASIA INDUCED BY SIMIAN VIRUS 40 T ANTIGEN REQUIRES A FUNCTIONAL J DOMAIN

3.1 INTRODUCTION

Observations in cell culture strongly suggest that the J domain of TAg is required to overcome the p130 and/or p107 mediated repression of E2F-dependent transcription, and thus for the transformation induced by TAg (Zalvide and DeCaprio, 1995). To determine the J domain requirements in a normal tissue model we have generated transgenic mice using the intestinal fatty acid binding protein promoter to direct expression of the T antigen mutant D44N (TAg^{D44N}) to villus enterocytes. Our results indicate that an intact J domain is required to induce intestinal proliferation mediated by TAg, and suggest that different tissues require different signals to undergo tumorigenic proliferation.

3.2 RESULTS

3.2.1 Transgenic mice expressing the J-domain mutant D44N in enterocytes show normal intestinal phenotype.

Mice expressing the wild-type T antigen (TAg^{wt}) in the intestinal enterocytes develop hyperplasia by 6 weeks after birth and progress to dysplasia with age (Hauft et al., 1992; Kim et al., 1994; Kim et al., 1993; Markovics et al., 2005). Additionally, these mice show a significant increase in the size of intestinal crypts (Markovics et al., 2005). However, mice expressing a single amino acid substitution J-domain mutant TAg (TAg^{D44N}) in enterocytes posses normal intestines and do not show any signs of hyperplasia (Fig.18A).

Expression of TAg^{wt} under the control of the IFABP promoter was previously shown to be restricted to villus enterocytes (Kim et al., 1993). We confirmed the expression patterns of TAg in TAg^{wt} and TAg^{D44N} mice by immunostaining. Paraffin sections stained with anti-TAg antibody revealed that expression of either TAg^{wt} or TAg^{D44N} was restricted to villus enterocytes (Fig.18A). Western blot analysis confirmed that similar amounts of wild-type and mutant proteins were expressed in the intestines of the transgenic mice (Fig.18B). To assess the proliferative status of transgenic intestines, histological sections were stained with anti-BrdU. In agreement with the morphological phenotype observed, we found numerous BrdU positive cells in villus enterocytes of mice expressing TAg^{wt} (Fig.19B), while none were present in the mice expressing TAg^{D44N} (Fig.19C). No signs of ectopic proliferation were found in mice expressing TAg^{D44N} and proliferation was restricted to the crypts as in non-transgenic mice (Fig. 19, compare A and C). We have analyzed three independent TAg^{D44N} transgenic lines and observed the same phenotype described above. As previously reported, TAg^{wt} mice show a significant increase in the total length of the small intestine, at some times doubling the length of the control littermates (Markovics et al., 2005). In contrast, the intestines of TAg^{D44N} mice do not show a significant difference in intestinal length in comparison to nontransgenic littermates (Fig. 20), either in male or female specimens.

Figure 18: Expression of both TAg^{wt} and TAg^{D44N} is restricted to villus enterocytes.

(A) Intestinal tissues were embedded in paraffin and 5um sections stained with an anti-TAg antibody. Brown color reflects the presence of TAg in nuclei. (B) Expression levels of TAg in TAg^{wt} and TAg^{D44N} villi samples. Protein extracts from villi of non-transgenic, TAg^{wt} and TAg^{D44N} transgenic mice were subjected to immunoblots for TAg. Protein levels for β tubulin were used as loading controls.





Non transgenic



TAg^{D44N}





Figure 19: Ectopic proliferation of enterocytes requires a functional J domain.

Proliferation in TAg^{D44N} mice is restricted to the crypts as in non-transgenic mice. Intestinal sections stained with anti-BrdU and show numerous BrdU positive cells in villus enterocytes of mice expressing TAg^{wt}, but none present in the mice expressing TAg^{D44N} or non-transgenic.



Non transgenic

TAgwt

TAg^{D44N}

Figure 20: Expression of TAg^{D44N} does not increase intestinal length in mice.

The total length of the small intestine in adult male or female mice was measured and the average length of each group (control, TAg^{wt} and TAg^{D44N}) is represented. The error bars indicate the standard deviation in the group. Intestines expressing TAg^{D44N} show similar length to those in control mice.



3.2.2 Expression of TAg^{D44N} results in increased pRb and p107 protein levels in villus enterocytes.

To assess the steady state levels of Rb family proteins (p130, p107 and pRb) we used intestinal extracts enriched for villi cells from TAg^{wt} and TAg^{D44N} mice or from their nontransgenic littermates (Fig. 21A). TAg^{D44N} mice were able to upregulate p107 protein expression to the same degree as mice expressing TAg^{wt}. As expected, extracts from mice expressing TAg^{wt} show reduced p130 protein levels in comparison to nontransgenic littermates. However, in agreement with observations in cell culture experiments (Stubdal et al., 1997), TAg^{D44N} mice were unable trigger a reduction in the steady state levels of p130. Interestingly, a profound upregulation of pRb protein levels was found in TAg^{D44N} mice compared to non-transgenic and TAg^{wt} mice.

To determine whether the change in protein levels were paralleled by a change in the steady state levels of the corresponding messenger, we performed semiquantitative RT-PCR analysis (Fig.21B). As previously reported, TAg^{wt} mice were able to upregulate p107 but exhibited no change in the pRb and p130 mRNA levels in comparison to nontransgenic littermates (Saenz-Robles et al., 2007). Though TAg^{D44N} mice show increased levels of p107 and pRb proteins, we did not find any changes in their mRNA levels and conclude that the increased levels of these proteins probably occurs posttranscriptionally.

Figure 21: TAg^{D44N} expression in villus enterocytes alters the pRb protein levels but does not affect their transcript levels.

(A) Steady-state protein levels of Rb-family members in non-transgenic, TAg^{wt} and TAg^{D44N} villi samples. Whole cell extracts from villi of non-transgenic, TAg^{wt} and TAg^{D44N} transgenic mice as well as knock-out (-/-) intestinal controls, were subjected to immunoblots for p130, p107 and pRb. Protein levels for β tubulin were used as loading controls. (B) Steady-state transcript levels of Rb-family members in non-transgenic, TAg^{wt} and TAg^{D44N} villi samples. cDNAs were reverse-transcribed from equal amounts of total RNA extracts and subjected to PCR using specific primers. Transcript levels of Alcohal dehydrogenase 5 (Adh5) were used as loading controls.





3.2.3 TAg^{D44N} affect activator E2F protein levels differentially.

Extracts from TAg^{wt} mice show upregulation of all activator E2Fs- E2F1, E2F2, E2F3a protein levels (Saenz-Robles et al., 2007), which in turn activate S-phase genes and induce cell proliferation. To determine the effect on steady state levels of activator E2Fs in TAg^{D44N} mice we performed western blot analysis using intestinal extracts enriched for villi cells (Fig.22A). We found a modest but consistent upregulation of E2F2 and E2F3a in TAg^{D44N} intestines in comparison to non-transgenic intestines. In contrast, no change in E2F1 protein levels in TAg^{D44N} mice compared to non-transgenic was observed.

To determine whether these changes were reflected in the messenger for the E2Fs, we performed semiquantitative RT-PCR (Fig.22B). As expected, TAg^{wt} mice were able to upregulate E2F1, E2F2 and E2F3a mRNA levels. However, no change in mRNA levels was observed in TAg^{D44N} intestines. Thus, the increased protein levels of E2F2 and E2F3a probably occurs posttranscriptionally.

Figure 22: Expression of TAg^{D44N} in villus enterocytes affects activator E2F protein levels differentially without altering their transcript levels.

(A) Protein extracts from villi of non-transgenic, TAg^{wt} and TAg^{D44N} mice were subjected to immunoblot analysis. Nuclear extract from S phase synchronized normal MEFs was used as a positive control for E2F1. Whole cell extracts from 293 cells over expressing E2F2 were used as positive control for E2F2 and whole cell extracts from mammary gland tumor were used as positive control for E2F3a. (B) RNA from villi of non-transgenic, TAg^{wt} and TAg^{D44N} mice was subjected to RT-PCR analysis using specific primers. Transcript levels of Adh5 were used as loading controls.





3.2.4 TAg^{D44N} is unable to disrupt p130/E2F complexes.

Rb-proteins exert their effects in part by binding to and regulating the E2F family of transcription factors. To examine the effects of TAg^{D44N} expression on Rb-E2F DNA binding complexes we performed a series of EMSA experiments. A radiolabeled oligonucleotide probe with consensus E2F binding sites was incubated with extracts from nontransgenic, TAg^{wt} and TAg^{D44N} growth-arrested enterocytes (villi) and the products were resolved on a nondenaturing gel. Antibody supershift experiments were performed to determine which Rb-protein constituted those Rb-E2F DNA binding complexes. We did not observe any differences in DNA binding complexes between nontransgenic and TAg^{D44N}, a fact consistent with the normal morphological phenotype observed (Fig.23A). We found three major bands in both nontransgenic and TAg^{D44N} mice. The slowest migrating band represents a p130-E2F complex. Two faster migrating bands do not contain Rb proteins and represent E2F4-DNA and E2F5-DNA complexes. Additionally, we found a minor slow migrating band in nontransgenic, TAg^{wt} and TAg^{D44N} mice which represents a p107-E2F complex. In contrast, no p130-E2F complexes were detected in enterocytes expressing TAg^{wt}. As reported previously, TAg^{wt} induces the formation of Rb-free E2F2-DNA and E2F3a-DNA binding complexes (Saenz-Robles et al., 2007) which are absent in both nontransgenic and TAg^{D44N} mice. Furthermore, supershifts with antibodies against pRb, E2F2 and E2F3a failed to detect any pRb-E2F2 (Fig 23B) or pRb-E2F3a DNA binding complexes in TAg^{D44N} intestines. Thus, despite the modest upregulation in E2F2 and E2F3a protein levels in TAg^{D44N} mice, there is no evidence that the DNA binding activity of these transcription factors is increased.

Figure 23: Analysis of RB-E2F DNA binding complexes in non-transgenic, TAg^{wt} and TAg^{D44N} mice.

(A) An intact J domain is required to disrupt p130-E2F DNA binding complexes in villus enterocytes. Gel shift analysis with a radiolabeled nucleotide probe containing a consensus E2F binding site was performed on protein extracts isolated from villi of non-transgenic, TAg^{wt} and TAg^{D44N} mice. The composition of each migrating complex was determined by supershift analysis with specific antibodies. (B) E2F2 DNA binding complexes are not induced in TAg^{D44N} mice.



3.2.5 TAg^{D44N} is defective for the regulation of E2F target genes.

To further confirm that there is no ectopic E2F activity present in TAg^{D44N} mice, we analyzed the expression of some of the genes regulated by E2Fs (DeGregori, 2002; Ishida et al., 2001; Stevaux and Dyson, 2002). We used semiquantitative RT-PCR (Fig.24) and in some cases (cyclin E1 and thymidylate synthase, data not shown) real time PCR to assess the mRNA levels of b-myb, cyclin E1 and thymidylate synthase. In contrast to TAg^{wt} mice, samples from TAg^{D44N} intestines did not show any upregulation of these genes (Fig.24). These results agree with our previous EMSA experiments suggesting that no ectopic E2F activity is present in TAg^{D44N} mice.

Figure 24: TAg^{D44N} is unable to upregulate E2F target genes in intestinal enterocytes.

Steady-state transcript levels of E2F target genes were determined in non-transgenic, TAg^{wt} and TAg^{D44N} villi samples. cDNAs were reverse-transcribed from equal amounts of total RNA extracts and subjected to PCR using specific primers for b-myb, cyclin E and thymidylate synthase (TS). Transcript levels of Adh5 were used as loading controls.



3.2.6 TAg^{D44N} is unable to induce hyperplasia in p130 (-/-) background.

Unlike TAg^{wt}, the expression of TAg^{D44N} in enterocytes did not downregulate p130 protein levels and was unable to dissociate p130-E2F complexes. To determine if inactivation of p130 by TAg is sufficient to induce hyperplasia, we crossed TAg^{D44N} mice into the p130 (-/-) background. The proliferative status of these transgenic intestines was assessed in intestinal sections stained with anti-BrdU. No signs of ectopic proliferation were found in TAg^{D44N}; p130 (-/-) mice, and proliferation was restricted to the crypts as found in p130 (-/-) and TAg^{D44N} mice (Fig.25). To determine the steady state levels of Rb family members and activator E2Fs in TAg^{D44N}; p130 (-/-) mice, we performed Western blot analysis using intestinal extracts. We found that the absence of p130 had no effect on the ability of TAg^{D44N} to regulate the protein levels of Rb and E2F family members (Fig.26A and 26B).

Figure 25: Loss of p130 alone in not sufficient to induce ectopic proliferation of enterocytes in TAg^{D44N} mice.

Proliferation in TAg^{D44N}; p130 (-/-) mice is restricted to the crypts as in TAg^{D44N} mice. Intestinal sections stained with anti-BrdU and show numerous BrdU positive cells (indicated by arrows) in crypts of p130 (-/-), TAg^{D44N} and TAg^{D44N}; p130 (-/-) mice.



p130 (-/-)

TAg^{D44N}

TAg^{D44N}; p130 (-/-)

Figure 26: Loss of p130 does not affect the steady state levels of pRb and E2F family members in TAg^{D44N}; p130 (-/-) mice.

Whole cell extracts from middle intestines of non-transgenic, TAg^{wt} , TAg^{D44N} and TAg^{D44N} ; p130 (-/-) transgenic mice as well as knock-out (-/-) intestinal controls, were subjected to immunoblots for **(A)** p130, p107, pRb and **(B)** E2F1, E2F2 and E2F3a. Protein levels for ß tubulin was used as loading control.



3.2.7 Conclusions

We found that mice expressing the J domain mutant have normal intestines without loss of growth control. Unlike mice expressing wild-type TAg, mice expressing D44N do not reduce the protein levels of p130 and are also unable to dissociate p130-E2F DNA binding complexes. We found increased protein levels of pRb and p107 in TAg^{D44N} mice. Morover, we observed a modest but consistant upregulation of E2F2 and E2F3a protein levels. However we did not find regulation of E2F target genes in TAg^{D44N} mice. Furthermore, mice expressing D44N in a null p130 background are still unable to develop hyperplasia. These studies demonstrate that the ectopic proliferation of enterocytes by T antigen requires a functional J domain and suggest that the J domain is necessary to inactivate all three pRb family members.

4.0 AMINO-TERMINAL MUTANT OF T ANTIGEN INDUCES ENTEROCYTE PROLIFERATION AND INTESTINAL HYPERPLASIA/DYSPLASIA

4.1 INTRODUCTION

TAg carries multiple biochemical activities that act by themselves or in a concerted manner to control various aspects of viral infection and cellular transformation. Full length TAg expression in the mouse intestine results in enterocyte proliferation, hyperplasia and dysplasia. The present study is aimed to determine whether the inactivation of Rb-proteins by TAg is sufficient to induce enterocyte proliferation or if additional activity/ies mapping to the C-terminus of TAg is/are required for progression to dysplasia. To test this we have generated transgenic mice using the I-FABP promoter to drive expression of the T antigen mutant N136 (TAg^{N136}) to villus enterocytes. This mutant produces a form of TAg (amino acids 1 to 136) that includes the J domain and LXCXE motif (required for Rb-family inactivation) but lacks the p53-binding region. Our results indicated that the inactivation of Rb-proteins is sufficient to induce hyperplasia, however progression to dysplasia is significantly delayed. We further discuss plausible mechanisms for this delayed progression to dysplasia observed in TAg^{N136} mice.

4.2 **RESULTS**

4.2.1 Transgenic mice expressing N136 in enterocytes develop hyperplasia and show signs of dysplasia.

Intestinal hyperplasia is characterized by hyperproliferation of the villus enterocytes resulting in longer and thicker villi with more densely packed cells. Dysplasia is a much more severe phenotype characterized by gross morphological changes in the tissue architecture such as branching of the villi and multi-layering of cells in the epithelium. Mice expressing the wild-type T antigen (TAg^{wt}) in the intestinal enterocytes develop hyperplasia by 6 weeks after birth and progress to dysplasia with age (6 to 9 months) (Hauft et al., 1992; Kim et al., 1994; Markovics et al., 2005). Additionally, these mice show a significant increase in the size of intestinal crypts (Markovics et al., 2005). Mice expressing an amino-terminal fragment N136 (TAg^{N136}) in enterocytes develop hyperplasia as well but not as early as TAg^{wt} (4 to 6 months). Furthermore, they show characteristics of dysplasia later in life (10 to 12 months) but full dysplasia doesn't take place except in occasions where the founder expresses very high levels of N136 protein (Table 2).

Table 2: Phenotypic evaluation of transgenic mice expressing N136.

HYP= Hyperplasia, DYS-BRANCH= showing signs of dysplasia like branching of villi, N= number of mice evaluated

Age range	N= (tested)	Phenotype
0-3 months	11	36% HYP, 36% mild HYP; 27% normal
3-6 months	10	67% HYP; 33% mild HYP
6-9 months	13	43% HYP-DYS- BRANCH; 57% HYP
9-12 months	11	45% HYP-DYS- BRANCH; 36% HYP; 18% normal
12-18 months	9	33% HYP-DYS- BRANCH; 44% HYP; 22% normal

To assess the proliferative status of transgenic intestines, histological sections were stained with anti-BrdU. We found numerous BrdU positive cells in villus enterocytes of mice expressing either TAg^{wt} or TAg^{N136} (Fig.27). To determine whether cells were progressing through the cell cycle at early ages, TAg^{N136} mice at various ages were analyzed (Fig.27C-E). Our results show an increase in BrdU incorporation that correlates with age. Three month old TAg^{N136} mice have very few BrdU positive cells in comparison to 6 month old mice. Similarly, 6 month old TAg^{N136} mice have less BrdU positive cells in comparison to 13 month old.
Figure 27: N136 induces ectopic proliferation in villus enterocytes.

(A, B) TAg^{wt} mice show ectopic proliferation of enterocytes while proliferation is restricted to the crypts in non-transgenic mice. (C-E) Increased ectopic proliferation in TAg^{N136} mice correlates with age. Intestinal sections were stained with anti-BrdU and show numerous BrdU positive cells (indicated by arrow) in villus enterocytes of mice expressing TAg^{wt} and TAg^{N136}.



Non transgenic- 3 months

TAg^{wt} - 3 months



TAg^{N136} - 3 months

TAg^{N136}-6 months

TAg^{N136} - 13 months

As previously reported, TAg^{wt} mice showed a significant increase in the total length of their small intestines (Markovics et al., 2005). The average intestinal length of TAg^{wt} mice ranges from 55 to 60 cm. The intestines of TAg^{N136} mice also showed a significant increase in intestinal length in comparison to nontransgenic littermates (Fig.28), either in male or female specimens. For instance, 3 to 6 month old TAg^{wt} mice show a 28% and TAg^{N136} mice show a 20% increase in intestinal length in comparison to nontransgenic mice. A total of 68 TAg^{N136} mice with different age groups (such as 0-3 months, 3-6 months, 6-9 months, older than 9 months) were included for this analysis.

4.2.2 Expression levels of N136 do not change significantly through development

To determine if there is any relation between TAg^{N136} protein levels and the age of mice, we examined the levels of TAg^{N136} at different ages (Fig.29). We did not find any-age related increase in TAg^{N136} protein levels. However, we observed a direct relationship between the presence of oncoprotein and tumorigenic phenotype. Furthermore, to determine if levels of protein is responsible for the delayed phenotype in TAg^{N136} mice, we examined two independent N136 transgenic lines expressing similar levels of protein like wild-type TAg. These N136 mice were also unable to induce dysplasia as early as TAg mice.

Figure 28: Expression of N136 increases the intestinal length in mice.

The total length of the small intestine was measured and the average length of each group (control, TAg^{wt} and TAg^{N136}) is represented. The error bars indicate the standard deviation in the group.



Figure 29: Expression levels of N136 protein through development.

Protein extracts from the middle intestines of non-transgenic (NT), TAg^{wt} and TAg^{N136} transgenic mice were subjected to immunoblots for TAg. TAg^{N136} mice of various ages (4, 9, 11, 12 and 18 month) were used.



4.2.3 N136 expression is restricted to villus enterocytes

Expression of TAg^{wt} under the control of the IFABP promoter was previously shown to be restricted to villus enterocytes (Kim et al., 1993). We confirmed the expression patterns of TAg in TAg^{wt} and TAg^{N136} mice by immunostaining. Paraffin sections stained with anti-TAg antibody revealed significant differences in expression patterns between TAg^{wt} and TAg^{N136} villus enterocytes (Fig.30A). TAg^{wt} mice used in this study show TAg expression not only in villi but also in the villi/crypt junction as well as on top of the crypts (Fig.30B). However, TAg^{N136} expression is restricted to top 3/4th of the villi and was not observed in the villi/crypt junction nor on the top of crypts.

Figure 30: Expression patterns of TAg and N136 in villus enterocytes.

Intestinal tissues were embedded in paraffin and 5um sections stained with anti-TAg antibodies. Brown color reflects the presence of TAg.(**A**) TAg^{wt} mice expressing TAg protein in nucleus of villus enterocytes (bottom ³/₄ th) and extends to the top of the crypts (**B**) TAg^{N136} mice expressing N136 protein in nucleus and cytoplasm of villus enterocytes (top ³/₄ th). (**C**) Higher magnification showing expression of TAg on the top of the crypts.



TAgwt

TAg^{N136}



TAgwt

4.2.4 Conclusions

We found that mice expressing N136 develop hyperplasia and show signs of dysplasia after a prolonged latency period. Like TAg^{wt}, mice expressing N136 show a significant increase in intestinal length in comarision to nontrasngenic littermates. Furthermore, we found increase BrdU incorparoation with the age of TAg^{N136} mice, however we did not find corresponding increase in N136 protein levels. Interestingly, we observed significant differences in expression patterns between TAg^{wt} and TAg^{N136} villus enterocytes. TAg^{wt} mice show concentrated nuclear expression of TAg not only in villi but also in the villi/crypt junction. However, TAg^{N136} mice show nuclear as well as cytoplsmic expression of N136 in only top 3/4th of the villi.

5.0 ROLE OF MULTIPLE DOMAINS OF T ANTIGEN IN GENE REGULATION AND TRANSFORMATION IN MOUSE EMBRYO FIBROBLASTS

5.1 INTRODUCTION

To analyze global changes in the host cell gene expression and to determine whether Rb and p53 pathways are the only main players involved in TAg induced transformation, we employed oligonucleotide microarrays following infection with wild-type SV40 virus or transfection with DNA expressing the early region of SV40 (wild-type or carrying some mutation) in MEFs. In the present study we have used MEF cell lines expressing wild-type TAg or mutants (N136, 3213 or D44N). We have taken advantage of these mutants to discern the role of different domains/regions of TAg in governing/regulating different biological processes.

Our effort is to link the changes in gene expression with the known transforming functions or novel activity/ies of TAg by testing three hypothesis: (a) TAg inactivates RB-family proteins and induce E2F dependent transcription by an LXCXE and J domain dependent manner (b) TAg inactivates p53 and blocks p53 dependent transcription (c) TAg interacts with other proteins / factors such as the transcription factors TBP, TEF-1, TAFs, TFIIB, and RNAPoIII and regulates gene expression involved in novel activities of TAg (Fig.31)

Figure 31: Three hypothesis for microarray experiments.



5.2 RESULTS

5.2.1 Global patterns of cellular gene expression in MEFs expressing wild-type or mutant T antigens.

Microarray technology serves as an important tool to analyze changes in RNA content of a cell in response to treatment such as chemicals or viruses. Alteration in gene expression may reflect modifications in transcription, processing, and stability. In the present study we analyzed the RNA profile in cultured two day post-confluent MEFs expressing wild-type or mutant T antigens. At this stage, normal MEFs reach a growth arrest phase, however MEFs expressing TAg do not growth arrest and continue proliferating. The Affymetrix mouse whole genome chip which consists of 21,635 unique genes was used for microarray analysis. Genes three fold up or down were selected for gross analysis of gene expression. We found that MEFs expressing TAg show upregulation of 445 genes and downregulation of 557 genes in comparison to normal MEFs. Furthermore, MEFs expressing N136 show upregulation of 592 genes and downregulation of 511 genes. Noticeably, N136 upregulates more genes than wild-type TAg. Mutation of the LXCXE motif (3213) or the J domain (D44N) results in a significant reduction in the number of genes upregulated by TAg, suggesting the importance of these domains in gene regulation. MEFs expressing 3213 show upregulation of 118 genes and downregulation of 398 genes. Additionally, MEFs expressing D44N show upregulation of 116 genes and downregulation of 469 genes. The number of genes downregulated by TAg were not affected significantly by these mutations (Table 3).

Table 3: Number of upregulated or downregulated genes in MEFs expressing TAg or mutants.

Genes with 3 fold or more upregaultion or downregulation were selected for this analysis. Upregulated genes must have 0 absent calls in experimental samples and downregulated genes must have 0 absent calls in control sample. We used the Affymetrix mouse whole genome chip which consists of 21,635 genes.

	Upregulated Genes	Downregulated Genes		
т	445	557		
N136	592	511		
3213	118	398		
D44N	116	469		

5.2.2 TAg regulates gene expression by inactivating RB-family proteins.

The LXCXE motif and J domain are required for the complete inactivation of Rb-family members and thus for the induction E2F target genes. Therefore we hypothesize that N136 should be able to regulate the same set of E2F-target genes as full-length TAg while 3213 and D44N should not. Consistent with this hypothesis our microarray data show profound upregulation of E2F target genes by TAg and N136, however 3213 and D44N show an intermediate level of upregulation (~35% of TAg or N136) for these genes (Fig.32A). To further confirm the expression levels of some of the E2F-target genes (such as BRCA1, RRM2, DHFR, B-myb, TS and Cyclin E), we performed semiquantative RT-PCR analysis (Fig.32B). All these genes are significantly upregulated by TAg and N136 (lanes 3-6) in comparison to normal MEFs (lanes 7-10) in comparison to normal MEFs (lanes 1-2), however this upregulation is less than TAg and N136 (compare lanes 3-6 with lanes 7-10).

Figure 32: Regulation of E2F-target genes by TAg and mutants.

TAg and N136 show significant upregulation while 3213 and D44N show intermediate upregulation of E2F target genes. (A) Average fold change of the specified genes were determined by microarray analysis of each category (n=3): T, N136, 3213 and D44N. "Normalization" represents fold change of 1 (not regulated) in each category. (B) RT-PCR analysis was carried out using Adh5 levels as controls in normal MEFs, T, N136, 3213 and D44N.





5.2.3 TAg regulates gene expression by blocking p53 dependent transcription

TAg binds to p53 and blocks p53 dependent transcription. Therefore we hypothesize that TAg, 3213 and D44N should be able to block transcription of p53 target genes, while N136 should not. Consistent with this hypothesis our microarray data show significant upregulation of p53 target genes by N136 (Fig.33A and Table 5 on page 128). To confirm the expression levels of some of the p53-target genes (such as Lrdd, p21, NOXA, Mdm2, Cyclin G1, Fas, PERP, Pten and Rprm) we performed semiquantative RT-PCR analysis (Fig.33B). All these genes are significantly upregulated by N136 (lanes 5-6) in comparison to normal MEFs (lanes 1-2), TAg (lanes 3-4), 3213 (lanes 6-7) and D44N (lanes 9-10). To further confirm that this upregulation is due to the inability to bind to p53, we have used another mutant, Patch1, which is a four amino acid substitution mutant on the p53 binding surface of TAg and is therefore defective for p53 binding. Patch1 was able to upregulate the same set of p53 target genes as N136 (Fig 33B, compare lanes 5-6 with lanes 11-12). Interestingly, some of the genes such as p21, Cyclin G1 and PERP are downregulated by TAg but upregulated by N136.

Figure 33: N136 upregulates p53 target genes.

(A) Average fold change of the specified genes were determined by microarray analysis of each category (n=3): T, N136, 3213 and D44N. "Normalization" represents fold change of 1 (not regulated) in each category. (B) RT-PCR analysis was carried out using Adh5 levels as controls in normal MEFs, T, N136, 3213 and D44N. Patch1 is a four amino acid substitution mutant on the p53 binding surface of TAg and is therefore defective for p53 binding.





5.2.4 Regulation of growth factors by N136

N136 upregulates genes that belong to a class of growth factors (Fig.34A). We have confirmed the expression levels of some of these genes (such as GD15, LIF, BMP8a, PDGF- α , amphiregulin and proliferin) by semiquantitative RT-PCR analysis (Fig.34B). All these genes are significantly upregulated by N136 (lanes 5-6). Some of these genes (such as GD-15, proliferin, amphiregulin and PDGF- α) are upregulated by Patch1 also (lanes 11-12).

Figure 34: N136 upregulates growth factors.

(A) Average fold change of the specified genes were determined by microarray analysis of each category (n=3): T, N136, 3213 and D44N. "Normalization" represents fold change of 1 (not regulated) in each category. (B) RT-PCR analysis was carried out using Adh5 levels as controls in normal MEFs, T, N136, 3213 and D44N.





5.2.5 TAg regulates expression of immune response genes

We found upregulation of immune response genes by TAg (Fig.35A). So far there has been no report connecting the regulation of immune response genes by TAg to classical interactions with Rb-family proteins and p53. This may lead to the identification of a novel regulatory mechanism by TAg. We confirmed the expression levels of some of the interferon-responsive genes such as Ifi44, Ifi27, Oas2, GTPase2, Rsad2, Mx1, Oasl2, and IRF7 (Fig 35B). We found profound upregulation of these genes by TAg and D44N (lanes 3-4 and 9-10) but not by N136 and 3213 (lanes 5-6 and 7-8). On the other hand, an important histocompatibility gene, H60, was downregulated by TAg and D44N (lanes 3-4 and 9-10) but not by N136 and 3213 (lanes 5-6 and 7-8).

Figure 35: TAg and D44N upregulates interferon-induced genes expression.

(A) Average fold change of the specified genes were determined by microarray analysis of each category (n=3): T, N136, 3213 and D44N. "Normalization" represents fold change of 1 (not regulated) in each category. (B) RT-PCR analysis was carried out using Adh5 levels as controls in normal MEFs, T, N136, 3213 and D44N.





5.2.6 TAg regulates genes expression independent of the LXCXE motif, J domain, and p53 binding domain

We found a large number of genes downregulated by TAg and mutants (Fig 36A) that belong to significant biological classes such as cadherin, cytokine-cytokine receptor interaction, chromatin and neuroactive ligand receptor interaction. We have confirmed the expression level of some of these genes (such as IGF-BP3, elastin, Mafb, and Dner) (Fig.36B). We found significant downregulation of these genes by TAg and all mutants (lanes 3-10) in comparison to normal MEFs (lanes 1-2).

Figure 36: TAg downregulates genes independent of the LXCXE motif, J domain and p53 binding domain.

(A) Average fold change of the specified genes were determined by microarray analysis of each category (n=3): T, N136, 3213 and D44N. "Normalization" represents fold change of 1 (not regulated) in each category. (B) RT-PCR analysis was carried out using Adh5 levels as controls in normal MEFs, T, N136, 3213 and D44N.





5.2.7 Cooperation between different domains of TAg to regulate gene expression

Cyclin D1 encodes the regulatory subunit of a holoenzyme that phosphorylates and inactivates pRb and promotes progression through the G1-S phase of the cell cycle. Cyclin D1 associates with, and regulates the activity of transcription factors, coactivators and corepressors that govern histone acetylation and chromatin remodeling proteins. Regulation of Cyclin D1 presents a unique example of cooperation/crosstalk between different domains of TAg. Cyclin D1 was downregulated by TAg only (Fig.37, lanes 3-5). None of the mutants were able to downregulate Cyclin D1 (lanes 6-14).

Figure 37: Cooperation between different domains of TAg to regulate gene expression.

RT-PCR analysis was carried out using Adh5 levels as controls in normal MEFs, T, N136, 3213 and D44N. Downregulation of Cyclin D1 is dependent on the C-terminus, LXCXE motif and J domain of TAg.



5.2.8 Genetic classification of genes regulated by different domains of TAg

To determine the role of different domains or regions of TAg in gene regulation, we have divided genes into 9 genetic classes depending on their regulation by wild-type TAg and/or mutants (Table 4). Each class represents the number of genes regulated by a single domain/region or combination of other domain(s)/regions(s). Genes with 3 or more fold up/down regulation were considered as regulated genes by TAg or different mutants (N136, 3213, D44N). Genes which are equal to or greater than 0.8 fold (for determining downregulated genes) and equal to or less than 1.2 fold (for determining upregulated genes) were considered as not regulated. The criteria for genetic class 7 was relaxed from 3 fold to 2 fold to include genes belonging to the immune response.

Genetic class 1, 2, 3, and 4 represent genes regulated only by TAg or N136 or 3213 or D44N, respectively. Genetic class 5, 6 and 7 represent genes regulated by TAg and N136, N136 and 3213, TAg and D44N, respectively. Genetic class 8 represents genes regulated by TAg and all the mutants. Finally genetic class 9 represents genes, which are not regulated by TAg or mutants. Genetic classes that contain more than 10 regulated genes were selected for further analysis. For example, genetic class 2 represents genes uniquely regulated by N136 and consists of 76 up and 20 down-regulated genes. Genetic class 7 represents genes regulated by T and D44N which consists of 24 up and 3 down-regulated genes. Genetic class 8 is the biggest class and represents genes regulated by T, N136, 3213 and D44N which consists of 44 up and 127 down-regulated genes.

Table 4: Genetic classification of genes regulated by different domains of TAg.

Plus sign (+): represents regulation of genes by 3-fold or more by TAg or different mutants (N136, 3213, D44N). Minus sign (-): represents lack of regulation of genes. See text for details.

Genetic class	т	N136	3213	D44N	No. of upregulated genes	No. of downregulated genes
1	+	-	-	-	2	0
2	-	+	-	-	76	20
3	-	-	+	-	5	1
4	-	-	-	+	4	3
5	+	+	-	-	7	3
6	-	+	+	-	2	2
7	+	-	-	+	24	3
8	+	+	+	+	44	127
9	-	-	-	-	9000	

5.2.9 Comparisons of gene expression patterns between TAg and its mutants (N136 or 3213 or D44N)

To determine the affect of individual domain/region of TAg on gene expression we have compared each mutant individually with wild-type TAg (Venn diagrams in Fig.38 and 39). To identify genes uniquely upregulated by TAg but not by the mutant, a filter is set where the TAg ratio was greater than or equal to 3 fold and the mutant ratio was less than 1.2 fold and similarly for identifying uniquely upregulated genes by the mutant. To identify genes uniquely downregulated by TAg but not by the mutant, a filter is set where the TAg ratio was less than or equal to 0.33 fold and the mutant ratio was greater than 0.8 fold and similarly for identifying uniquely downregulated genes by the mutant. We have used DAVID 2.0 bioinformatics resource (http://david.abcc.ncifcrf.gov/home.jsp) to group genes into different biological classes. The bioinformatics programs conveniently classify the genes into various biological classes and therefore give an overview of biological pathways. However, the relevance of these biological classes therefore gives an overview of biological pathways. However, the relevance of these biological classes therefore gives an overview of biological pathways. However, the relevance of these biological classes therefore gives an overview of biological pathways. However, the relevance of these biological classes therefore gives an overview of biological pathways. However, the relevance of these biological classes therefore gives an overview of biological pathways. However, the relevance of these biological classes therefore gives an overview of biological pathways. However, the relevance of these biological classes therefore gives an overview of biological pathways. However, the relevance of these biological classes therefore gives an overview of biological pathways. However, the relevance of these biological classes therefore gives an overview of biological pathways.

(i) Comparison of the gene expression patterns between TAg and N136:

There is a large overlap (338) of genes upregulated by both TAg and N136 (Fig.38A). These genes are associated with E2F-dependent transcription, DNA replication and repair, cell-cycle regulation, chromatin assembly/modification and microtubule cytoskeleton. When interpreting this data one need to be aware with the fact that the regulation of these genes can be direct or indirect effect of expression of TAg or mutant in the cell.

A total of 31 genes uniquely upregulated by TAg belong to one major biological class: response to virus/immune response/antiviral defense (Fig.38A). In contrast, N136 is unable to induce immune response genes. On the other hand, N136 uniquely induces 111 genes belonging to biological classes such as apoptosis (p53-target genes), growth factors, metabolism, cytokine and neuron differentiation (Fig.38A).

There is a large overlap (277) of genes downregulated by both TAg and N136 (Fig.39A). These genes are part of different biological classes such as Cadherins (family of procadherins, cadherin 11, cadherin 4) focal adhesion and cytokine-cytokine receptor interaction and so on. TAg uniquely downregulates 110 genes while N136 uniquely downegulates 45 genes (Fig.39A). Interestingly, biological classes such as glucuronosyl trasnferase activity, apoptosis, neuron differentiation and transmembrane are upregulated by N136 but downregulated by T (compare Fig.38A to Fig.39A). Genes which are uniquely downregulated by N136 belong to the class of metal binding and cell adhesion (VCAM1, Scarf2, cadherin 3).

(ii) Comparison of the gene expression patterns between TAg and 3213:

There is not a big overlap (71) of genes upregulated by both TAg and 3213 (Fig. 1B). However these genes are associated with E2F-dependent transcription, DNA replication and repair, nucleotide metabolism and microtubule cytoskeleton. Comparisons between genes upregulated by both TAg and N136 (338 genes) with TAg and 3213 (71 genes) (Fig.38A and 38B) shows a significant reduction in the total number of genes regulated. This can be explained by the intermediate levels of gene regulation displayed by 3213 and therefore even they show some upregulation but failed to meet the 3 fold criteria. For example, TAg and N136 upregulate an

E2F-target gene, p107, by 7 fold, however 3213 upregulates p107 transcription by 2 fold (Fig.32).

When comparing the upregulation of genes between TAg and 3213 (Fig.38B), we found that 71 genes are uniquely upregulated by TAg which belong to immune response, chromosomal proteins and antigen processing. In contrast, 3213 is unable to induce the above classes of genes. On the other hand, 15 genes are uniquely upregulated by 3213 and do not belong to any specific biological class (Fig.38B). Due to the variability in the raw microarray data between three clones of 3213, the existence of this class is questionable.

A total of 58 genes are uniquely downregulated by TAg (Fig.39B). These genes belong to the class of cell adhesion and enzyme linked receptor signaling pathway (IGF1, latent TGFb1). A total of 16 genes are uniquely downregulated by 3213 and belong to the class of glycoproteins. Noticeably, there is a big overlap (269) between genes downregulated by both TAg and 3213. These genes represent a variety of biological classes (Fig.39B).

(iii) Comparison of the gene expression patterns between TAg and D44N:

A total of 106 genes are upregulated by both TAg and D44N (Fig.38C). These genes belong to the same biological classes like TAg vs. 3213 and similarly show an intermediate upregulation of genes that are required for cell proliferation (Fig.32). On the other hand, the pattern of gene upregulation between TAg and D44N shows some significant differences in comparison to the TAg and 3213. For example, the class of immune response and antigen processing are upregulated by both TAg and D44N (Fig38C).

We found that 23 genes are uniquely upregulated by TAg which belong to the class of DNA damage/repair (Fig.38C). Only 4 genes are uniquely upregulated by D44N and do not belong to any specific biological class (Fig.38C).

There is a large overlap (310) between genes downregulated by both TAg and D44N (Fig.39C). These genes belong to the same biological classes as the commonly downregulated genes by TAg and 3213. A total of 27 genes are uniquely downregulated by TAg. These genes belong to the class of solute carrier family (detoxification pathway) and homeobox (Fig.39C). 10 genes are uniquely downregulated by D44N and belong to the class of nuclear proteins (Fig.39C).

Figure 38: Upregulation of genes by TAg and mutants in MEFs.

In each Venn diagram the intersection represents the number of genes that are commonly upregulated 3-fold or more by TAg and different mutants (N136, 3213, D44N). Left circle represents genes which are uniquely upregulated by TAg while the right circle represent genes which are uniquely upregulated by the mutant. See text for details. Genes were classified in different biological classes using the DAVID 2.0 bioinformatics resource. Biological classes are sorted so that the genes with low p values (high enrichment score) come first in the list.







Figure 39: Downregulation of genes by TAg and mutants in MEFs.

In each Venn diagram the intersection represents the number of genes that are commonly downregulated 3-fold or more by TAg and different mutants (N136, 3213, D44N). Left circle represents genes which are uniquely downregulated by TAg while the right circle represent genes which are uniquely downregulated by the mutant. See text for details. Genes were classified in different biological classes using the DAVID 2.0 bioinformatics resource. Biological classes are sorted so that the genes with low p values (high enrichment score) come first in the list.




5.2.10 SV40 infected MEF microarry

We infected MEFs with SV40 virions to ensure that alterations to gene expression were not nonspecific events caused by transfection of cells with SV40 DNA. Overall, 391 genes were upregulated 3 fold or more. These genes belong to several significant biological classes such as cell cycle, nucleotide metabolism, response to virus, antigen processing, microtubule cytoskeleton, cytokine-cytokine receptor interaction, natural killer cell mediated cytotoxicity, ubiquitin protein ligase activity and serine protease inhibitor. On the other hand, 90 genes were downregulated 3 fold or more by SV40 infection. These genes belong to biological classes such as chromatin (histones), EGF-like (Dner, Dlk1, Itgb11, Nell2), actin cytoskeleton, Golgi apparatus (St8sia2, Galntl4, Copq2) and zinc ion binding (Dpyd, Cpa6, Kcnd2, Unc13c). Comparison between SV40 infection and MEF-T cell line shows that there is an overlap of 75% of the upregulated genes and 60% of the downregulated genes. To avoid any nonspecific alteration in gene expression due to the process of cell line establishment, we have selected only those genes that show similar regulation by both SV40 infected and MEF-T cell line for RT-PCR analysis.

5.2.11 Conclusions from MEFs Microarray

Our microarray findings suggest that TAg regulates gene expression by activating the transcriptional circuits controlled by Rb as reflected by induction of E2F-target genes by TAg and N136. Furthermore, TAg can regulate gene expression by inactivating the transcriptional circuit controlled by p53 which is reflected by the ability of N136, but not by TAg, 3213 and D44N to induce p53-target genes. Additionally, N136 upregulates genes that belong to a class of

growth factors. On the other hand, we found upregulation of a large number of immune response genes by TAg and D44N but not by N136 and 3213. Finally, a set of genes (such as Dner, Mafb, IGF-BP3 and Elastin) were downregulated by TAg and its mutants, suggesting Rb and p53 independent interactions of TAg in gene regulation.

6.0 ROLE OF MULTIPLE DOMAINS OF T ANTIGEN IN GENE REGULATION AND TRANSFORMATION IN MOUSE INTESTINAL EPITHELIUM

6.1 INTRODUCTION

Much of our understanding of the mechanism of transformation by SV40 stems from work with established and primary cell cultures or from *in vitro* molecular studies using purified or partially purified proteins. These approaches have proved to be very successful and have resulted in the identification of at least some of the cellular targets of the large and small T antigens, and in an initial understanding of the biochemical basis for their action. Cell culture studies are particularly valuable because they are amenable to a combined genetic biochemical approach whereby individual viral functions can be associated with the regulation of specific cellular pathways. However, many of the cellular regulatory pathways can be perturbed during cell line establishment. Therefore mouse models offer a tool for studying growth control pathways in a natural tissue setting. In the present study we have used mouse intestinal epithelial cells as a model to understand how SV40 induces neoplastic transformation. Transgenic mice expressing wild-type TAg or TAg mutants (N136 or 3213 or D44N) in terminally differentiated enterocytes are used to determine if the Rb and p53 pathways play a major role in the induction of intestinal hyperplasia and dysplasia or if there is a contribution by other factors/pathways.

6.2 **RESULTS**

6.2.1 Global patterns of cellular gene expression in villus enterocytes of transgenic mice expressing wild-type or mutant T antigens.

In the present study we analyzed the RNA profile of villus enterocytes of transgenic mice expressing TAg or mutants using microarray technology. The villus enterocytes are enriched for nonproliferating, terminally differentiated cells. Expression of full-length TAg in murine enterocytes forces a nonproliferating cell population to restart the cell cycle and results in intestinal hyperplasia that progress to dysplasia with the age. The Affymetrix mouse whole genome chip which consists of 21,635 unique genes was used for microarray analysis. Genes three fold up or down were selected for gross analysis of gene expression. TAg^{wt} mice show upregulation of 291 genes and downregulation of 140 genes in comparison to their nontransgenic littermate. Furthermore, TAg^{N136} mice show upregulation of 274 genes and downregulation of 197 genes. Mutation of the LXCXE motif (3213) or the J domain (D44N) results in a large reduction in the number of genes upregulated by TAg, suggesting the important contribution of these domains in gene regulation. TAg³²¹³ mice show upregulation of 19 genes and downregulation of 28 genes. Additionally, TAg^{D44N} mice show upregulation of 20 genes and downregulation of 61 genes (Table 5).

Table 5: Number of upregulated or downregulated genes in villi expressing TAg or mutants.

Genes with 3 fold or more upregaultion or downregulation were selected for this analysis. Upregulated genes must have 0 absent calls in experimental samples and downregulated genes must have 0 absent calls in control sample). We used the Affymetrix mouse whole genome chip which consists of 21,635 genes.

	Upregulated Genes	Downregulated Genes
т	291	140
N136	274	197
3213	19	28
D44N	20	61

6.2.2 TAg regulates gene expression by inactivating RB-family proteins in villus enterocytes

We hypothesize that TAg and N136 inactivates Rb-family members and cause an upregulation of E2F-target genes. Consistent with this hypothesis, our microarray data shows profound upregulation of E2F target genes by TAg and N136. However, 3213 and D44N, which have a mutation in the LXCXE motif and J domain respectively, are unable to upregulate these genes (Fig.40).

6.2.3 TAg regulates gene expression independent of p53 in villus enterocytes

We do not find upregulation of p53-target genes by N136 in villus enterocytes (Table 6). This result is consistent with the previous observation that villus enterocytes lack p53 (Markovics et al., 2005).

Figure 40: TAg and N136 upregulate E2F target genes in villi.

Average fold change of the specified genes were determined by microarray analysis of each category (n=3): T, N136, 3213 and D44N. "Normalization" represents fold change of 1 (not regulated) in each category.



Table 6: p53 target genes are upregulated only in MEFs expressing N136.

Numbers indicate fold upregulation of the transcript level of p53 target genes. Villi expressing N136 do not upregulate p53 target genes consistent with the fact that in mouse intestine there is no p53.

Target Genes	Fold Regulation in MEFs		Fold Regulation in Villi	
	т	N136	т	N136
Mdm2	0.6	5.3	1.0	1.0
PERP	.03	4.6	1.1	1.1
NOXA	1.0	5.7	1.6	1.7
Pten	1.3	2.9	1.0	1.0
Fas	0.5	2.8	0.8	0.9
Cyclin G1	0.3	2.6	0.6	1.2
PIDD/Lrdd	0.8	2.6	0.8	0.9
Gtse1	1.2	5.3	1.0	1.2
Apaf1	1.4	2.0	1.1	0.8
p21	0.2	2.7	1.7	2.1
Caveolin	0.9	2.9	1.1	0.5
Reprimo	0.2	2.3	1.0	1.0

6.2.4 Genetic classification of genes regulated by different domains of TAg

To determine the role of different domains or regions of TAg in gene regulation, we have divided genes into 10 genetic classes (Table 7). Each class represents the number of genes regulated by a single domain/region or combination of other domain(s)/regions(s). Genes with 3 or more fold up/down regulation were considered as regulated genes by TAg or different mutants (N136, 3213, D44N). Genes which are equal to or greater than 0.8 fold (for determining downregulated genes) and equal to or less than 1.2 fold (for determining upregulated genes) were considered as not regulated. Genetic classes that contain more than 10 genes were selected for further analysis. We have classified genes into 10 genetic classes depending on their regulation by wild-type TAg and/or mutants. Genetic classes 1-9 are the same as MEFs micoarrays (Table 4). Genetic class 10 represents genes regulated by TAg, N136 and D44N but not by 3213. Genetic class 5, consisting of 152 up and 6 down-regulated genes, is the biggest class and represents genes regulated by T and N136 but not by 3213 and D44N.

Table 7: Genetic classification of genes regulated by different domains of TAg in villi.

Plus sign (+): represents regulation of genes by 3-fold or more by TAg or different mutants (N136, 3213, D44N). Minus sign (-): represents lack of regulation of genes. See text for details.

Genetic class	т	N136	3213	D44N	No. of upregulated genes	No. of downregulated genes
1	+	-	-	-	0	4
2	-	+	-	-	3	0
3	-	-	+	-	1	2
4	-	-	-	+	4	2
5	+	+	-	-	152	6
6	-	+	+	-	0	0
7	+	-	-	+	0	0
8	+	+	+	+	1	1
9	-	-	-	-	12500	
10	+	+	-	+	0	7

6.2.5 Comparisons of gene expression patterns between TAg and its mutants (N136 or 3213 or D44N)

To determine the affect of individual domains/regions of TAg on gene expression we have compared each mutant individually with wild-type TAg (Venn diagrams in Fig.41 and 42). To identify genes uniquely upregulated by TAg but not by the mutant, a filter is set where the TAg ratio was greater than or equal to 3 fold and the mutant ratio was less than 1.2 fold and similarly for identifying uniquely upregulated genes by the mutant. On the other hand to identify genes uniquely downregulated by TAg but not by the mutant, a filter is set where the TAg ratio was less than or equal to 0.33 fold and the mutant ratio was greater than 0.8 fold and similarly for identifying uniquely downregulated genes by the mutant. We have used DAVID 2.0 bioinformatics resource (http://david.abcc.ncifcrf.gov/home.jsp) to group genes into different biological classes.

(i) Comparison of the gene expression patterns between TAg and N136:

All of the genes upregulated by TAg (199) are also upregulated by N136 (Fig.41A). These genes are associated with E2F-dependent transcription, DNA replication and repair, cell-cycle regulation, chromatin assembly/modification and microtubule cytoskeleton. None of the genes were uniquely upregulated by TAg. On the other hand, N136 uniquely induces 11 genes that belong to biological classes such as carbohydrate metabolism and angiogenesis.

We did not find any specific class of genes uniquely downregulated by TAg or N136 (Fig.42A). However, there is a large overlap (93) of genes downregulated by both TAg and N136. These genes belong to different biological classes such as transmembrane proteins, chromosomal proteins, immune response/ antigen processing and protein kinases.

(ii) Comparison of the gene expression patterns between TAg and 3213:

3213 mice lose the expression of all genes (251) upregulated by TAg (Fig. 41B). Therefore we do not find any significant overlap of genes between TAg and 3213. We did not find any specific class of genes uniquely upregulated by 3213. Therefore all genes upregulated by TAg in enterocyte require an intact LXCXE motif.

A total of 76 genes are uniquely downregulated by TAg (Fig. 42B). These genes belong to the class of immunoglobulins, immune response/antigen processing, chromatin/histones, ion transport and fatty acid metabolism. Genes uniquely downregulated by 3213 belong to the family of cytochrome p450 (detoxification pathway). Like the upregulated genes, there is no significant overlap between TAg and 3213.

(iii) Comparison of the gene expression patterns between TAg and D44N:

Comparison of gene upregulation between TAg and D44N shows the same pattern as the comparison between TAg and 3213. D44N mice loose the expression of all genes (238) upregulated by TAg (Fig.41C). Therefore we do not find any significant overlap of genes between TAg and D44N nor find any specific class of genes uniquely upregulated by D44N. Hence all genes upregulated by TAg in enterocytes require an intact J domain.

Genes commonly downregulated by both TAg and D44N belong to the class of major histocompatibility complex and chromatin/histones. Total of 57 genes are uniquely downregulated by TAg (Fig.42C). These genes belong to the class of peroxisomal proteins, transmembrane proteins, immunoglobulins, oxidoreductase, carboxylic acid metabolism and protein kinases. Additionally, 13 genes are uniquely downregulated by D44N and belong to the class of amino-acid biosynthesis and cell cycle.

6.2.6 Conclusions from villi microarray

Almost all gene expression regulated by TAg in mouse intestinal enterocytes is dependent on the binding and inactivation of Rb-family proteins. The requirement of the LXCXE motif and the J domain for TAg mediated gene regulation is evident by the fact that TAg and N136 regulate the same set of genes and the regulation is lost by 3213 and D44N. Furthermore, p53 does not play any role in TAg mediated gene regulation in the intestinal epithelium as reflected by the inability of N136 to induce p53-target genes.

Figure 41: Upregulation of genes by TAg and mutants in villi.

In each Venn diagram the intersection represents the number of genes that are commonly upregulated 3-fold or more by TAg and different mutants (N136, 3213, D44N). Left circle represents genes which are uniquely upregulated by TAg while the right circle represent genes which are uniquely upregulated by a mutant. See text for details. Genes were classified into different biological classes using the DAVID 2.0 bioinformatics resource. Biological classes are sorted so that the genes with low p values (high enrichment score) come first in the list.







Figure 42: Downregulation of genes by TAg and mutants in villi.

In each Venn diagram the intersection represents the number of genes that are commonly downregulated 3-fold or more by TAg and different mutants (N136, 3213, D44N). Left circle represents genes which are uniquely downregulated by TAg while the right circle represent genes which are uniquely downregulated by a mutant. See text for details. Genes were classified into different biological classes using the DAVID 2.0 bioinformatics resource. Biological classes are sorted so that the genes with low p values (high enrichment score) come first in the list.







7.0 DISCUSSION

The potent transforming activities of SV40 proteins in multiple cellular environments make this virus a very useful model system for human cancer research. Recently Deeb and coworkers identified an integrated gene signature from multiple T antigen mouse cancer models and found there was an association with the biological behavior and prognosis for several human epithelial tumors (Deeb et al., 2007). The similarity in the gene regulation between T antigen mouse cancer models and human cancers is not surprising due to the fact that TAg targets two major tumor suppressors, pRb and p53, which are found mutated in most human cancers. The goal of this dissertation is to test whether the Rb and p53 pathways are the main players in TAg induced transformation or if additional activities contribute. In the present study, I have used cell culture and animal systems expressing TAg and its mutants to discern the role of different domains/regions of TAg in the regulation of different biological process in a cell-type specific context. To this end, I found that Rb-family protein inactivation by the J domain of TAg is required for induction of intestinal hyperplasia (Chapter 3.0). To explore the role of the Cterminus of TAg, I have screened several transgenic lines expressing an amino-terminal mutant of TAg (N136) and found that these mice develop intestinal hyperplasia and progress to dysplasia after a prolonged latency period (Chapter 4.0). Furthermore, I did a global analysis of gene regulation by TAg and its mutants in MEFs and in mouse intestinal epithelium. I identified sets of genes regulated by TAg that belong to important biological classes, primarily cell cycle

and immune response (Chapter 5 and 6). Additionally, depending on the system used, our studies indicate that different consequences are produced by same oncogenic stimulation. This emphasizes the need to evaluate molecular pathways in a cell-specific context. In the following pages, I summarize the results from each project and discuss the importance of the data and future efforts.

7.1 THE J DOMAIN OF T ANTIGEN IS REQUIRED TO INDUCE ENTEREOCYTE PROLIFERATION AND INTESTINAL HYPERPLASIA

Cell culture studies using various mutants of SV40 TAg suggest that the J domain contributes to transformation. For instance, an in-frame deletion mutant of T antigen missing part of the J domain (dl1135) is defective for the induction of dense foci despite being able to bind Rbproteins and p53 (Pipas et al., 1983; Srinivasan et al., 1997). In contrast, amino-acid substitution mutants of the J domain, such as D44N, are able to induce focus formation and anchorageindependent growth in cultured cells, although at a somewhat reduced frequency compared to wild type TAg (Hahn et al., 2002; Peden and Pipas, 1992; Stubdal et al., 1997). These differences in the observed phenotypes raise the question of why are some J domain alleles defective for focus formation while others are not. One possibility is that the interaction of the J domain with hsc70 is allele specific. For instance, perhaps a particular J domain mutant can stimulate hsc70 enough to achieve partial action on all or some of its substrates, leading to a subset of phenotypes observed with the wild-type TAg (Fewell et al., 2002; Sullivan et al., 2000b). Another possibility is that the SV40 J domain binds cellular proteins in addition to hsc70. In this scenario, some mutant alleles would disrupt T antigen interaction with specific subsets of the unknown cellular targets, thus losing the phenotypes resulting from this interaction while maintaining interaction with hsc70 or vice versa. Presumably, alleles resulting from the total loss of the J domain, such as deletions, might result in the loss of both binding functions.

Different J domain mutants show different phenotypes in cell culture and thus present a confusing picture about the role of J domain in transformation. Therefore, we decided to test the requirement of the J domain in a native tissue, namely the small intestine. The TAg J domain

mutant D44N is capable of inducing foci and anchorage-independent growth in cell culture but, in contrast, we have found that its expression in villus enterocytes does not induce ectopic cell proliferation. The intestines of TAg^{D44N} mice retained normal morphological features in spite of the high levels of transgene expression in several transgenic lines tested. Based on these observations we conclude that TAg requires a functional J domain to induce enterocyte proliferation and intestinal hyperplasia.

7.1.1 The J domain of T antigen is required to inactivate p130.

Several cell culture studies have shown that the J domain of TAg cooperates with the Rb binding motif (LXCXE) to inactivate the growth suppressive functions of p130, p107 and pRb. Unlike TAg^{wt}, J-domain mutants do not alter the phosphorylation of p130 and p107 and are unable to degrade p130 (Stubdal et al., 1997). The TAg J-domain confers a growth advantage to normal mouse embryo fibroblasts (MEFs), but it is dispensable in the case of MEFs lacking both p130 and p107. This indicates that p107 and p130 have overlapping growth-suppressing activities whose inactivation is mediated by the J domain of TAg. In vivo and in vitro studies have shown that the TAg^{D44N} protein is unable to bind hsc70 and does not disrupt p130-E2F4 complexes (Sullivan et al., 2004) (Fig.43). All these observations strongly suggest that the J domain of TAg is required to overcome p130 and/or p107-mediated repression of E2F-dependent transcription, and thus contributes to transformation induced by T antigen. In agreement with the cell culture studies, we found that an intact J-domain is required to reduce the p130 protein levels in villus enterocytes (Fig.21). Our gel shift analysis indicated the presence of intact p130-E2F4 complexes in TAg^{D44N} mice which were completely absent in TAg^{wt} mice (Fig.23). These observations strongly suggest that TAg requires a functional J domain to downregulate p130.

Figure 43: J domain mutant D44N is not able to disrupt Rb-E2F complexes.

TAg^{D44N} protein is unable to bind hsc70 and does not disrupt p130-E2F4 complexes and therefore unable to induce E2F dependent genes required for S-phase.



In contrast, TAg^{wt} is able to increase both the RNA and protein levels of p107 while TAg^{D44N} upregulates only protein levels, suggesting that a functional J domain is required for the upregulation of the RNA levels. However, the increased p107 protein levels in the TAg^{D44N} intestines might be due to decreased turnover or degradation of the protein, resulting in protein stabilization. On the other hand, TAg^{wt} does not affect either the RNA or protein levels of pRb, though expression of TAg^{D44N} results in the accumulation of pRb protein, perhaps through alterations in the turnover rate. At this point we do not know the details of either mechanisms or if TAg requires interaction with other cellular factors to modify the pRb proteins.

7.1.2 A functional J domain is required for the induction of activator E2Fs.

Transgenic mice expressing TAg^{wt} in villus enterocytes upregulate protein and mRNA levels of all activator E2Fs (E2F1, E2F2 and E2F3a) (Saenz-Robles et al., 2007). This activation in turn induces cell proliferation and results in intestinal hyperplasia. Consistent with the normal morphology observed in TAg^{D44N} mice, we did not find upregulation of E2F1, and only a modest increase in E2F2 and E2F3a protein levels were found. The protein levels of E2F2 and E2F3a in TAg^{D44N} were higher than the nontransgenic but significantly less than the TAg^{wt} and therefore they might be insufficient to induce enterocyte proliferation. Furthermore, we were unable to detect Rb-free E2F2 or E2F3a activity by gel shift analysis. Additionally, the transcripts of several E2F targeted genes were unaffected, indicating no activation of the pathway (Fig.24). These results indicate that the E2F2 and E2F3a protein found in TAg^{D44N} enterocytes is not active transcriptionally.

7.1.3 Loss of p130 alone is not sufficient to induce intestinal hyperplasia.

Mice with null mutations in either *p107* or *p130* are viable and normal in certain genetic backgrounds, implying that loss of p130 or p107 alone is not sufficient to induce hyperplasia (Cobrinik et al., 1996; Lee et al., 1996). However, mice lacking both p107 and p130 die at birth (LeCouter et al., 1998a; LeCouter et al., 1998b), suggesting that p107 and p130 perform overlapping functions. It has been shown that the inactivation of pRb in conjunction with either p130 or p107 in villus enterocytes is sufficient to cause intestinal hyperplasia (Haigis et al., 2006). In agreement with these observations our results show that loss of p130 is insufficient to induce intestinal hyperplasia. At present, we can not assess the combined effects of a J domain and pRb in induction of hyperplasia because Rb-/- mice are embryonic lethal by day 13.5 (Clarke et al., 1992; Jacks et al., 1992; Lee et al., 1992). Future studies will require a conditional Rb knock out in a TAg^{D44N} background. Similarly, elucidation of the role of p107 will require analysis of TAg^{D44N} mice in a p130-/-; p107+/- background. These goals represent future efforts in the lab.

Animal studies using various J domain mutants suggest that the requirement for the J domain in transformation is cell-type and context specific. Although defective in cell culture, the J domain mutant *dl1135* (lacking small t expression) specifically induced the transformation of T lymphocytes in mouse. However, the same mutant was not able to transform B lymphocytes, suggesting a cell-type specific requirement of J domain for the transformation (Symonds et al., 1993). Similarly, our study also suggests the requirement of J domain in the induction of intestinal hyperplasia. At this point we can not exclude the role of small t antigen J domain in the transformation process. To our knowledge only one other study has used a J domain mutant of

TAg in another transgenic system (Ratineau et al., 2000). However, the requirement of the J domain alone in the development of tumors was not addressed.

Several possible explanations could contribute to the differences between the phenotype observed upon expression of TAg^{D44N} in cell culture and in our transgenic system. On one hand, the cell culture does not represent real *in vivo* conditions. Additionally, the mouse embryo fibroblasts, used in most of the cell culture studies, are derived from a tissue different than intestine. The differences observed between both experimental systems support the notion of tissue specific requirements for the J domain. Since TAg encodes multiple transformation-related activities, the subset of TAg functions needed and the corresponding target proteins could differ among tissue/cell types.

7.2 AN AMINO-TERMINAL TRUNCATION MUTANT OF T ANTIGEN INDUCES INTESTINAL HYPERPLASIA AND PROGRESSION TO DYSPLASIA AFTER A PROLONGED LATENCY PERIOD

The results presented here indicate that the transgenic mice expressing an amino-terminal region of TAg containing amino acids 1-136 under the control of the I-FABP promoter display ectopic enterocyte proliferation and present abnormally long intestines. However, the appearance of signs of dysplasia was significantly delayed (10-12 months) in comparison to similar morphological changes observed in TAg^{wt} mice (4 to 6 months). The late phenotype in TAg^{N136} mice may be due to lower percentage of proliferating cells in comparison with the TAg^{wt} mice. Consistent with the gradual severity in the phenotype, the fraction of S-phase enterocytes present in villi increased with the age of TAg^{N136} mice (Fig.27C-E).

7.2.1 Role of inactivation of Rb-family proteins in induction of hyperplasia

To determine the role of Rb-proteins in the induction of tumors in different cell types many studies have used a TAg mutant N121, which is very similar to N136 except for the absence of an nuclear localization signal. Both N121 and N136 proteins possess an intact LXCXE motif and a J domain, thus are able to bind and inactivate all Rb–family members similar to wild-type TAg, resulting in transactivation of E2F-target genes (Saenz-Robles et al., 2007). These amino-terminal mutants induce hyperplasia, although not as early as wild-type TAg does, suggesting that the inactivation of Rb family members is sufficient to induce the phenotype (Kim et al.,

1994). Our previous studies already demonstrated that the expression of TAg with a mutation in the LXCXE motif (3213) or the J domain (D44N) in villus enterocytes does not induce hyperplasia (Chandrasekaran et al., 1996; Rathi et al., 2007). Consistent with our studies it has been shown that the inactivation of individual Rb family members in the small intestinal and colonic epithelium had little or no effect, while loss of pRb combined with p107 or p130 produced chronic hyperplasia and dysplasia of the tissues (Haigis et al., 2006). We can conclude that the C-terminus of TAg is not required for the induction of hyperplasia.

7.2.2 Role of the C-terminus of TAg in progression to dysplasia

One major activity mapping to the C-terminus of TAg is interaction with p53. The capacity of large T antigen to bind the tumor suppressor protein p53 influences both the type of tumors developed and the kinetics of their appearance. Full-length large T antigen expressed under the lymphotropic papovavirus (LPV) transcriptional control region induces tumors in the choroid plexus epithelium (CPE), T lymphocytes, and B lymphocytes in transgenic mice (Chen et al., 1992). In contrast, under the same conditions, N121 induces only CPE tumors (Chen et al., 1992; Saenz Robles et al., 1994). These CPE tumors grow more slowly than those found in mice expressing full-length T antigen (Saenz Robles et al., 1994; Symonds et al., 1993). When N121 transgenic mice are bred with p53-null mice, rapidly growing CPE tumors develop (Symonds et al., 1993). In addition, N121/p53-null mice develop T- and B-cell lymphomas. Similarly, inactivation of p53 in N121 mice by coexpression of a p53 dominant-negative mutant protein results in aggressive CPE tumors (Bowman et al., 1996). These results indicate that the spectrum of tumors induced by mutant T antigens depends on specific activities that they retain and

emphasize the importance of inactivating p53 in the development of aggressive CPE tumors and lymphomas.

On the other hand, many studies show that the inactivation of p53 by TAg is not always required for transformation or tumorigenesis. Cell culture studies show that coexpression of the dominant-negative p53 molecule along with N136 is unable to induce focus formation or saturation density. This suggests that inactivation of p53 is not sufficient for transformation and may required a novel transforming activity mapping to the C-termiuns of TAg (Sachsenmeier and Pipas, 2001; Srinivasan et al., 1997). Several studies have been performed with transgenic mice expressing TAg or amino-terminal truncation mutants in various tissues, and indicate no role for p53 in tumor induction. For instance, the expression of an amino-terminal fragment of T antigen (N147) in the acinar cells of the pancreas induces tumors that are indistinguishable from those induced by wild-type T antigen. The tumors induced by N147 still express a wild-type p53 (Tevethia et al., 1997). On the contrary, the expression of the N121 truncated T antigen in astrocytes results in their re-entry into the cell cycle, accompanied by extensive apoptosis. However, this apoptosis is not alleviated by the elimination of p53, rather it is dependent on a functional PTEN protein (Xiao et al., 2002).

Both wild-type T antigen and N121 induce S-phase and hyperplasia when expressed in intestinal enterocytes (Hauft et al., 1992; Kim et al., 1994). Nevertheless, inactivation of Rb-proteins by N121 does not result in increased apoptosis and N121 expressing mice do not show any signs of dysplasia even at very old age. Molecular studies indicate that enterocytes do not express significant amounts of p53 and that there are no detectable T antigen–p53 complexes present in the intestines of these transgenic mice (Markovics et al., 2005). This indicates that the delayed progression to dysplasia observed in this study by N136 can not be associated with p53.

7.2.3 Levels of protein / concentration dependent phenotype

There have been reports correlating the levels (amount) of TAg expression with the tumor phenotype. In the study by Kim et al , two lines of TAg mice shows very different phenotypes depending on the amount of protein expressed (Kim et al., 1993). Another study showed that liver tumors were induced earlier in N121 homozygous mice than in heterozygotes, leading to much more aggressive tumors and the rapid death of the mice (Bennoun et al., 1998). We did not find such a concentration dependent phenotype. Two independent N136 transgenic lines expressing similar levels of protein, and comparable to wild-type TAg, were unable to induce dysplasia as early as TAg.

7.2.4 Patterns of TAg staining

We found some significant differences in the patterns of TAg expression in villus enterocytes of TAg and N136 mice by immunostaining. TAg mice show a dense nuclear staining throughout the villi, villi/crypt differentiation zone and occasionally (not in every crypt) extended to the top of the crypts (Fig.30C). On the other hand, N136 mice show staining only in the top 3/4th of villi and the staining never goes down to the villi/crypt differentiation zone (Fig.30B). These observations raise a question if the location of TAg expression is responsible for the observed phenotypes in TAg and N136 mice. In general, we can ask does initiation and progression of tumors depend on the specific cell population crypts (cycling) or villi (quiescent) challenged by oncogenic signals? More experiments are needed to prove if this is the major factor affecting the rate of tumor progression. One such experiment would be making transgenic mice which express TAg or N136 specifically in the crypts.

Additionally, nuclear vs. cytoplsmic distribution of an oncogene can be very crucial for cell fate/phenotype. Even though N136 has an NLS, we still see staining in the cytoplasm. Due to the very small size of this protein (136 amino acids, ~21kDa), free entry and exit from the nucleus makes it more accessible for interaction with cytoplasmic proteins. Similarly, N121 which does not have an NLS was found in both the nuclei and cytoplasm of CPE tumors (Saenz Robles et al., 1994).

In summary, the first 136 amino acids of TAg are sufficient to induce hyperplasia in mouse intestinal epithelium whereas the p53-binding function is dispensable. The inactivation of Rb-proteins appears to be the main requirement for the induction of hyperplasia. However, at this point we can not eliminate the possibility of N136 having activity/ies, in addition to Rb inactivation that playing role in the induction of hyperplasia. In this report we suggest that delayed onset of proliferation and prolonged latency period in TAg^{N136} mice can be caused by (1) lack of concentrated nuclear expression of the protein, (2) protein expression only in the top 3/4th of the villi, and 3) absence of some unknown transforming activity of TAg residing in the C-terminus.

7.3 ROLE OF MULTIPLE DOMAINS OF T ANTIGEN IN GENE REGULATION AND TRANSFORMATION IN MOUSE EMBRYO FIBROBLASTS AND IN MOUSE INTESTINAL EPITHELIUM

Large TAg contains several intrinsic biochemically active domains with distinct functions. The expression of TAg induces cell proliferation, inhibition of apoptosis which ultimately leads to immortalization of primary cells, induces cell transformation and induction of tumors in mice. The present study is aimed to determine if large TAg exerts many of these activities through influencing cellular gene expression by (a) inactivating RB-family proteins and inducing E2F dependent transcription (b) inactivating p53 and blocking p53 dependent transcription (c) regulating gene expression by interacting with other targets (such as transcription factors TBP, TEF-1, TAFs, TFIIB, and RNAPOIII) (Table 8).

We have performed microarray analysis to observe the change in global gene expression induced by TAg or its mutants presumably via one of the mechanisms described above and to link changes in gene expression with the known transforming functions or novel activity of TAg. We have examined effect on gene expression in MEFs and transgenic mice expressing wild-type TAg or its mutants N136, 3213 or D44N.

Cellular protein	Biological consequences	References
pRb/p130/p107	promotes G1/S transition	(DeCaprio et al., 1988)
p53	promotes G1/S transition, block apoptosis	(Pipas and Levine, 2001)
Hsc70	Disruption of pRb-E2F complex	(Sullivan et al., 2000a; Sullivan and Pipas, 2002)
p300/CBP	Unknown	(Poulin et al., 2004)
Cul7	Unknown	(Ali et al., 2004; Kohrman and Imperiale, 1992)
Bub1	Override spindle checkpoint	(Cotsiki et al., 2004)
Nbs1	Genomic instability	(Digweed et al., 2002; Wu et al., 2004)
Fbw7	Unknown	(Welcker and Clurman, 2005)
IRS-1	Signal transduction	(DeAngelis et al., 2006)
TEF-1	Change in gene expression	(Dickmanns et al., 1994)
AP-2	Change in gene expression	(Mitchell et al., 1987)
Sp1	Change in gene expression	Reviewed in (Moens et al., 1997)
ТВР	Change in gene expression	(Moens et al., 1997)
TAF1 (TAF $_{II}$ 250)	Change in gene expression	(Moens et al., 1997)
TAF4 (TAF _{II} 130)	Change in gene expression	(Moens et al., 1997)
TAF5 (TAF _{II} 100)	Change in gene expression	(Moens et al., 1997)
RNA polII (140kDa subunit	unknown	(Moens et al., 1997)
AP-1 (c-Jun and c-Fos)	Change in gene expression	(Moens et al., 1997)

Table 8: Interaction of SV40 large T antigen with cellular proteins to elicit transformation.

7.3.1 TAg interaction with RB-family proteins is required for regulation of E2F-target genes

TAg-induced cell cycle deregulation is mainly achieved by the direct targeting of key regulators of the cell cycle. According to the current model, TAg binds and inactivates Rb proteins which results in the release of E2F from Rb-complexes and subsequently the induction of E2F dependent transcription of S-phase genes. If this is true then N136 should be able to regulate the same set of E2F target genes as full-length TAg. N136 has an intact LXCXE motif and J domain and therefore it should be capable of inactivating Rb proteins and inducing E2F dependent transcription. Indeed, we found that N136 upregulates E2F-target genes as efficiently as wildtype TAg in both MEFs and enterocytes. E2F-target genes are involved in key regulatory process such as DNA replication, mitosis/cytokinesis, DNA repair and transcriptional control. For example, all mini-chromosome maintenance proteins (MCM 2-7) are profoundly upregulated by both TAg and N136. MCMs are components of the prereplicative complex (pre-RC) that are essential for DNA replication (Tye, 1999). Other E2F target genes upregulated by both TAg and N136 are involved in nucleotide metabolism (such as dihydrofolate reductase, thymidine kinase, ribonucleotide reductase) and in DNA replication (such as DNA polymerase α , DNA topoisomerase alpha, PCNA, replication protein A2, DNA ligase 1 etc). Furthermore, cell cycle (mitosis/cytokinesis) genes such as Cyclins E1, A2, and B, Cdc2a, Cdc6, Cdc20 and DNA repair genes such as BRCA1 and RAD51 show profound upregulation by both TAg and N136. Some of the E2F target genes such as histories H2afz and H2afx, p107, Ezh2, Mybl2, Smc2l1 and Hmgb2 are directly involved in transcriptional control of downstream genes.

According to the model, the LXCXE motif and J domain are required for the complete inactivation of Rb-family members and thus for the induction of the above genes. Transgenic

mice support the model since 3213 and D44N lose regulation of almost all genes upregulated by TAg and N136 and are therefore unable to induce intestinal hyperplasia. This suggests that almost all TAg mediated gene regulation in enterocytes of transgenic mice is mediated by Rb-E2F pathway.

Consistent with the model MEFs expressing TAg and N136 also show upregulation of E2F-target genes. However, 3213 and D44N do not completely loose the regulation of these genes. One of the possible explanations for the intermediate upregulation of E2F-target genes by 3213 and D44N is the presence of some other factors/activity (independent of LXCXE and J domain) at the C-terminus of TAg which may contributes to Rb-family inactivation. It has been reported that MEFs expressing either TAg N-terminal fragment (1-147) or C-terminal fragment (251-708) have an extended life span, but are not immortal. The cooperation between these two fragments is required for immortalization (Tevethia et al., 1998). Furthermore, the C-terminal fragment (251-708) of TAg cooperates with oncogenic ras to transform primary REFs independent of p53, suggesting the presence of an activity in the C-terminus of TAg that bypasses Ras-induced senescence (Beachy et al., 2002).

Alternatively, it is also possible that 3213 and D44N have leaky phenotype and that they do not completely defective in inactivating Rb-fmaily members. However, this possibility is unlikely since 3213 and D44N both are unable to downregulate p130 protein levels. Third possibility is that the small t is relieving E2Fs from Rb repression via upregulation of Cyclin D1.

7.3.2 Inactivation of p53 by TAg is required for the inhibition of p53-target genes

As an immediate response to virus infection, the host cell activates a cascade of genes with the aim of inhibiting cell proliferation or inducing apoptosis. One such gene is p53 which is a potent transcriptional activator. As p53 steady-state levels rise it upregulates a number of genes, some of which mediate cell cycle arrest or apoptosis. Genes with a p53 binding motif in their regulatory regions that are activated by p53 include p21, MDM2, Cyclin G1, Apaf1, Fas, PERP and NOXA (Table 5). TAg interacts with the DNA-binding surface of p53, blocking its ability to bind promoters and thus to regulate gene expression. Consistent with this fact, we do not see regulation of p53-target genes in MEFs expressing TAg. On the other hand, N136 lacks p53 binding region and therefore can not block p53-dependent transcription of target genes. Upregulation of p53-target genes in N136 MEFs can cause cell cycle arrest and apoptosis and may contribute to transformation negative phenotype. Large TAg may also affect p53 mediated transcription by competing with the TATA-binding protein (TBP). TAg and p53 were shown to bind the same region of TBP (Martin et al., 1993).

Neither wild-type TAg nor N136 regulate p53-dependent genes in enterocytes of transgenic mice. Thus it appears that in enterocytes, TAg regulates cellular gene expression mainly through Rb-E2F pathway and there is no evidence for p53 response. This finding is consistent with the previous study from our lab which reported that villus enterocytes do not express p53 (Markovics et al., 2005). The comparison between the regulation of p53-dependent genes by N136 in MEFs and enterocytes is shown in Table 5.

We found that N136, but not wild-typeTAg upregulaties several growth factors such as amphiregulin, PDGF- α , LIF, BMP8a, proliferin and GD-15 in MEFs. Upregulation of some of

these growth factors (such as amphiregulin, proliferin, PDGF- α and GD-15) may be dependent on p53. One intriguing possibility is that these factors may explain the growth of N136 expressing MEFs in cell culture even in the presence of active p53. These growth factors might be involved in proliferation and antiapoptotic responses to counteract p53 mediated cell cycle arrest and apoptosis. One of such example is amphiregulin which is a member of epidermal growth factor (EGF) family. Amphiregulin acts as an autocrine, antiapoptotic growth factor as well as a mitogen for a broad range of target cells (Castillo et al., 2006). Additionally, plateletderived growth factor (PDGF-alpha) is a potent mitogen for cells of mesenchymal origin. Moreover, Proliferin provides a growth stimulus to target cells in maternal and fetal tissues during the development of the embryo at mid-gestation (Adamson et al., 2002). All these examples suggest a role for growth factors in nullifying the effects of p53 induced cell cycle arrest or apoptosis in MEFs expressing N136. On the other hand, GD-15 which belongs to the TGF-beta family, recently was shown to serve as a secreted biomarker for activation of the p53 pathway and induces growth arrest and apoptosis by paracrine mechanism (Yang et al., 2003).

7.3.3 TAg regulate expression of immune response genes

One of the major findings of this study is the upregulation of immune response genes (such as STAT1, Ifi44, Ifi27, Oas2, GTPase2, Rsad2, Mx1, Oasl2, IRF7 and PKR) by MEFs expressing TAg and D44N but not by N136 and 3213. This suggests a requirement for the C-terminus of TAg and LXCXE motif in their regulation. Based on these findings we hypothesize that regulation of these genes require TAg interaction with (1) Rb-family members (Fig44 A, B). (2) p53 (Fig.44 A, C) (3) unknown target (that interacts with LXCXE motif) and an activity reside on the C-terminus of TAg (Fig.44 D). To test these hypotheses, future experiments will be
required: (1) Expressing N136 in p53-/- MEFs. If we find upregulation of IR genes then we conclude that inactivation of p53 and some LXCXE binding protein (Rb or other) is required for the induction of IR genes (Fig. 44 A and C). (2) Expressing 3213 in MEFs devoid of pRb, p107 and p130 (TKO MEFs). If we see upregulation of IR genes then we conclude that inactivation of Rb-family proteins and p53 or some other C-terminal activity are required for the induction of IR genes (Fig. 44 A and B). (3) Determine the basal levels of IR genes in Patch1 (p53-binding defective mutant). If we see upregulation of IR genes then we conclude that inactivation of Rb or other LXCXE binding protein and some unknown activity of C-terminal is required for the induction (Fig 44 B and D)

Figure 44: Four possible mechanisms for regulation of immune response genes by Large T antigen.

"Other" represents any LXCXE binding protein except RB-family proteins. IR = Immune Response



Unknown C-terminal activity

Surprisingly, we did not find upregulation of immune response genes (such as STAT1, Ifi44, Ifi27, Oas2, GTPase2, Rsad2, Mx1, Oasl2, and IRF7) in enterocytes of mice expressing TAg. We hypothesized that in enterocytes TAg does not upregulate these genes. However, one of the possibilities is that in enterocytes the levels of these genes are already high and therefore we do not see activation of these genes in our microarray analysis. In fact, comparison between the raw signal values for enterocytes of nontransgenic mice and normal MEFs reveal that enterocytes of nontransgenic mice have very high signal values for immune response genes in comparison to normal MEFs.

Furthermore, we found that some of the immune response genes such as STAT1, Ifi44, GTPase2, Mx1 and Oasl2 are downregulated 2 to 3 fold by TAg, N136 and D44N mice but not by 3213 mice. This finding suggests that TAg binding to Rb-proteins is required to downregulate these immune response genes in villus enterocytes. Alternatively, TAg can bind to LXCXE binding protein(s) other than Rb-family proteins and thus affect the expression of immune response genes in enterocytes.

The majority of immune response genes upregulated by TAg in MEFs are belong to the class of interferon-stimulated genes (ISG). Therefore, I would like to provide a brief description about the interferon (IFN) pathway. IFNs are multifunctional secreted proteins that involved in antiviral defense, cell growth regulation and immune activation. IFNs are classified into two distinct types namely Type I and Type II. Type I IFNs are produced in direct response to virus infection and consists of two main members INF- α and INF- β . Type II INFs consists of IFN- γ and produced in response to the recognition of infected cells by activated T lymphocytes and natural killer (NK) cells (reviewed in (Samuel, 2001)). Further details are focused on Type I IFN- α/β .

IFN- α / β binds to their multisubunit receptor (IFNAR1 and IFNAR2) and initiates the tyrosine phosphorylation of Janus kinase Tyk2 and JAK1 and the receptor. Subsequently, two cytoplasmic signal transducing activators of transcription (STAT) proteins, STAT1 and STAT2, are phosphorylated at specific tyrosine residues. The phosphorylated STAT1/STAT2 heterodimers then dissociates from the receptor and translocate to the nucleus. In the nucleus they associate with the DNA-binding protein p48 to form a heterotrimeric complex called ISGF3, which binds the IFN-stimulated response element (ISRE) of IFN- α / β stimulated genes (ISG)(reviewed in (Darnell et al., 1994; Goodbourn et al., 2000) (Fig.45).

Figure 45: Signaling pathway activated by IFN- α/β .

Interferons bind to their cognate receptors (IFNAR1 and IFNAR2) and initiate a signaling cascade that involves the STAT family of transcription factors. Upon activation by phosphorylation, STAT1 forms heterodimer with STAT2 and then translocates to the nucleus. In the nucleus STAT1/STA2 heterodimer bind to p48 and form a complex ISGF3. This complex then binds and activates interferon-stimulated response elements (ISRE) of target genes (ISGs).



The best characterized IFN-inducible components of the antiviral response are protein kinase PKR, 2'-5' oligoadenylate synthetase (OAS), protein MxA GTPase and RNA-specific adenosine deaminase ADAR1. All these genes are highly upregulated by SV40 infection and also in MEF-T. The purpose for infecting MEFs with SV40 virions was to ensure that alterations to the expression of ISGs were not artifacts of the transfection of cells with SV40 DNA. Induction of all of the above genes by SV40 in MEFs following infection confirms that this response is specifically mediated by SV40.

PKR is a cytoplasmic serine/threonine kinase induced by both type I and II IFN in the presence of dsRNA (Ben-Asouli et al., 2002). Activated (phosphorylated) PKR can further phosphorylate several substrates, including eIF-2 α . Phosphorylated eIF-2 α sequesters eIF-2B, which is crucial for the recycling of eIF-2 between successive rounds of initiation, leading to inhibition of protein synthesis (Hinnebusch, 2005).

The 2'5' OAS proteins catalyze the polymerization of ATP to 2'-5'-linked oligoadenylates (2'-5'-A). 2'-5'-A binds with RNase L and induce the formation of active RNAase L. Activation of RNase L results in the degradation of viral mRNAs, blocking protein synthesis, and mediates the induction of apoptosis (Dong and Silverman, 1995; Rusch et al., 2000).

MxA protein, a dynamin superfamily GTPase, interferes with viral replication probably by blocking the activity of viral polymerases (Frese et al., 1996; Kochs and Haller, 1999a; Kochs and Haller, 1999b).

The IFN-inducible dsRNA specific adenosine deaminase (ADAR) catalyzes C6 deamination of adenosine to inosine in viral and cellular RNA (Liu and Samuel, 1996; Patterson and Samuel, 1995). Consequently, target RNA coding capacities are changed which causes

amino acid substitution which in turn results in synthesis of proteins with altered functions (Liu and Samuel, 1996).

There are several other less studied ISGs such as ISG56, ISG15, Rsad2, P200 gene family were significantly upregulated in SV40 infected and transfected MEFs. A member of the p56 family of proteins, ISG56, is one of the strongly induced genes in response to IFN, dsRNA and many viruses. P56 family members bind to eIF-3 via multiple tetratricopeptides motifs and cause impairment of eIF-3 which results in inhibition of viral protein synthesis (Hui et al., 2003; Hui et al., 2005; Terenzi et al., 2005).

As with ISG56, ISG15 is strongly induced by IFN, dsRNA, and virus infection. ISG-15 show strong upregulation (10 fold) in MEF-T cells. ISG15 encodes a small, ubiquitin-like protein that gets conjugated to many cellular proteins. ISG15 may have a major role in IFN's action against certain viruses, because the NS1B protein of influenza B virus binds ISG15 and blocks its conjugation to cellular proteins (Yuan and Krug, 2001).

We also found induction of another IFN-inducible gene, cig5 or Rsad2. This antiviral protein is expressed in response to human cytomegalovirus (HCMV) infection, and shown to inhibit viral replication by its envelope protein glycoprotein B (Chin and Cresswell, 2001).

We found upregulation of two members of the P200 gene family, p202 and p204. The p202 protein inhibits cell proliferation by binding to and inhibiting the functions of several transcription factors such as NF-kB, E2F, p53, c-fos, c-jun, and Rb. The possible role for the interaction between p202 and Rb in the growth inhibitory activity of interferons is not clear (Choubey et al., 1996). On the other hand, p204 protein inhibits ribosomal RNA (rRNA) transcription by binding to the UBF1 transcription factor that is required for rRNA synthesis (Liu et al., 1999). It has been shown that TAg expression activates a cellular kinase resulting in

increased phosphorylation of the transcription factor UBF which promotes the formation of a stable UBF-SL1 (TBP-TAF_I) complex and the induction of rRNA synthesis (Zhai and Comai, 1999). These observations present a clear scenario of competition between host and virus for binding to same cellular transcription factor for their own benefit.

Cellular IFN regulatory factors, IRF3 and IRF7, are a family of transcriptional regulators and are important for viral induction of IFN genes and ISG. IRF3, a key transcriptional activator, is a subunit of dsRNA-activated transcription factor complex (DRAF) (Lin et al., 1999). Activation of IRF3 by virus infection or by dsRNA results in its translocation to the nucleus where it binds to the transcriptional co-activator p300/CBP and contributes to the activation of IFN α/β responsive genes (Bandyopadhyay et al., 1995; Daly and Reich, 1993; Hummer et al., 2001). Though our data do not show direct induction of IRF3, many of the genes induced by IRF3 such as ISG56, ISG49, OAS and cig5 (Grandvaux et al., 2002) are up-regulated in the MEFs expressing TAg. On the other hand, IRF7 was upregulated 4-fold in our experimental system. IRF7 is a critical determinant for induction of the IFN genes and functions in part by a positive feedback mechanism (Marie et al., 1998).

Interestingly, TAg is capable of inducing downstream interferon pathway without affecting the levels of IFN- α and IFN- β itself. One explanation for an IFN-independent signaling cascade in SV40 infected MEFs could be the activation of ISG by virus specific dsRNA. During the replication cycle of SV40 there are several stages when dsRNA can form as an intermediate product of transcription. However this can not explain IFN-independent regulation of ISG in MEFs transfected with DNA expressing early region of SV40. One of the possibility is that TAg itself mimics IFN- α and IFN- β and triggers the downstream pathway. Alternatively, TAg can directly (independent of receptor activation) activate gene (s) of interferon pathway. Future

experiment will be required to determine (1) the phosphorylation status of STAT1 and STAT2 (2) nuclear localization of STAT1/STAT2 heterodimer.

Several viruses target the IFN signaling system and elicit immune responses during infection. The induction is more pronounced in RNA viruses, like Hantaan virus, human parainfluenza virus and Rous sarcoma virus (Garcia-Sastre et al., 1998; Kong et al., 2003; Nam et al., 2003). Most DNA viruses, such as adenoviruses and human papillomavirus, use multiple mechanisms to weaken the STAT-mediated antiviral responses that are presumed to help evade host immune surveillance. Nevertheless, the SV40-induced response described in this report is very similar to that induced by several herpesviruses, such as Epstein–Barr virus, herpes simplex virus, Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus and HCMV. All of these viruses activate IFN-responsive genes, such as MxA and OAS (Browne et al., 2001; Mossman et al., 2001; Poole et al., 2002; Ruvolo et al., 2003; Zhu et al., 1998).

One of the important questions that arise is how MEFs expressing TAg transform in the presence of high levels of ISGs. It is possible that somewhere downstream TAg (by inducing other pathways) counteracts the growth inhibitory and apoptotic activities of ISGs.

7.3.4 Gene regulation by C-terminus of TAg

About 20 genes were found to be uniquely downregulated in N136 expressing MEFs. Perhaps some activity mapping to the C-terminus of TAg is required to relieve the repression of these genes. Alternatively, it is also possible that some new interactions of N136 itself may playing a role in regulation of these genes. Genes downregulated by N136 belong to the class of cell adhesion molecules (such as cadherins, VCAM1), lipoprotein lipase, secreted frizzeled-related sequence protein 2 (Sfrp2), GLI-Kruppel family member GLI2. VCAM1 is important in cell-cell

recognition and appears to function in leukocyte-endothelial cell adhesion. Sfrp2 is a Wnt inhibitor and function as a modulator of Wnt signaling through direct interaction with Wnts. They have a role in regulating cell growth and differentiation in specific cell types (Oshima et al., 2005). SGLI2 is a transcription factor involved in transducing Sonic hedgehog (Shh) signals in vertebrates. It has been suggested that Shh-dependent Gli2 activation plays a critical role in epithelial homeostasis by promoting proliferation through the transcriptional control of cell cycle regulators (Mill et al., 2003).

I recognize that microarry data show the regulation of gene expression at the mRNA level only. We have no evidence that the protein levels of these genes change similarly or that their regulation has any significance. However, based on the literature we can make some predictions about the role of other interactions of TAg in regulation of above genes. TAg has been reported to interact with the transcription factors TEF-1 (Transcription enhancing factor-1) and TBP (TATA binding protein). These interactions are missing in N136. It has been shown that TAg OBD binds to the DNA-binding domain of TEF-1 and inhibits the binding of TEF-1 to target DNA sequences. A TEF-1 binding deficient mutant of TAg (S189N) is seven-to eight fold less efficient than wild-type TAg in focus formation assay (Dickmanns et al., 1994) suggesting that TEF-1 might also regulate genes involved in growth control. The inability of N136 to bind TEF-1 may also contribute to the transformation defective phenotype of N136. Furthermore, TBP is a subunit of TFIID, a major component of the transcription initiation complex. Several groups have reported in vitro and in vivo interaction of amino terminal of TAg (amino acids 5 to 172) with the conserved C-terminal domain of TBP (Damania and Alwine, 1996; Gruda et al., 1993; Johnston et al., 1996; Martin et al., 1993). The effect of this interaction on transcription is yet to be determined, although TBP is required for all three RNA polymerases and thus TAg

could potentially affect transcription by all these. It will be interesting to check if Patch 1 is able to downregulate these genes as it is expected to bind to both TEF-1 and TBP. Another study suggests that TAg might function as an anti-repressor by disrupting the binding of transcriptional repressor Dr1 with TBP (Lai et al., 1992). Based on this report we can assume that N136 may not able to disrupt the binding of Dr1 with TBP due to inability to bind with TBP. This may result in the transcriptional repression of above genes.

7.3.5 Gene regulation by unknown activity of TAg

Large number of genes are downregulated by TAg, N136, 3213 and D44N. This may suggests a new activity of TAg independent of the C-terminus, LXCXE motif and J domain. Alternatively, based on the fact that TAg and mutants are capable of making small t, give rise to possibility of regulation of these genes by small t. A total of 127 genes were downregulated at least 3 fold in all transfected cell lines. However, this number drops significantly to 30 when including the SV40 infection microarrays. This difference in gene regulation could be an artifact of creating the MEF cell lines or that these genes require a longer exposure to TAg (SV40 infection last only 3-4 days) for their regulation. Genes downregulated by SV40 infection and transfected MEFs belongs to biological classes such as chromatin (Histone H2B), regulation of apoptosis (IGF-BP), EGF-like domain (Dlk1, Itgbl1, Nell2, Dner), cellular protein metabolism (elastin, Cpa6, Mgll). Again, I want to emphasize that these results show that the regulation of gene expression is at the mRNA level only. We have no evidence that the protein levels of these genes change similarly or that their regulation has any significance. On the other hand, involvement of these genes in so many different regulatory processes (described below) in the cell raises the possibility of their contribution in TAg-mediated transformation.

The insulin-like growth factor (IGF) signaling pathway plays a crucial role in the regulation of cell growth, differentiation, apoptosis and aging. IGF binding proteins (IGFBPs) are important members of the IGF axis. Interestingly IGFBP-3, which is a target of p53, is downregulated by MEFs expressing N136, suggesting p53-independent regulation of this gene. Recently it has been reported that the oncogenic human papillomavirus type 16 encoded protein E7 can bind and inactivate IGFBP-3 thereby causing inhibition of IGFBP-3-induced apoptotic cell death (Santer et al., 2007).

Elastin is downregulated more than 5 fold in MEFs expressing TAg and mutants. In vascular smooth muscle cells (SMCs), elastin induces actin stress fiber organization, inhibits proliferation, regulates migration and signals via a non-integrin, heterotrimeric G-protein-coupled pathway (Karnik et al., 2003). It has been reported that b-myb represses SMC elastin gene expression (Hofmann et al., 2005; Marhamati and Sonenshein, 1996). This report raises the possibility that the repression of elastin in our experimental system may be a secondary event of b-myb activation by E2F.

7.3.6 Cooperation between different domains/regions of TAg is required for cyclin D1 regulation

There is now a large body of evidence that links the deregulation of cyclin Dl protein expression to a variety of neoplastic cell types. The observed reduction of cyclin Dl protein expression in viral oncoprotein-transformed cells has been proposed to be a direct result of Rb inactivation (Spitkovsky et al., 1995). This is also supported by our data where MEFs expressing Rb-binding defective mutant 3213 or J domain mutant D44N are unable to downregulate cyclin D1 levels. Also, MEFs expressing N136, which is capable of inactivating Rb, was not able to downregulate cyclin D1. This suggests that the association of SV40 large T antigen with the Rb protein by itself is not sufficient to alter cyclin Dl protein expression. Only MEFs expressing full-length of TAg showed a reduction in cyclin D1 protein expression. This suggests a cooperative role of the C-terminus and N-terminus (LXCXE motif + J domain) of TAg. It will be interesting to test whether inactivation of both Rb and p53 are required for downregulation of cyclin D1. We can test this by expressing N136 in p53-/- MEFs.

7.3.7 Summary of MEFs and Villi microarray

Our study presents a global picture of differential gene expression patterns in MEFs and in enterocytes of transgenic mice expressing wild-type TAg and mutants. The majority of genes upregulated by MEFs and enterocytes expressing TAg and N136 belong to the cellular pathways of cell cycle, nucleotide metabolism, DNA repair and chromatin modifiers. 3213 and D44N do not regulate these genes in enterocytes and only slightly elevate their expression in MEFs. This suggests an important role of the J domain and LXCXE motif in inactivation of Rb-family members. Furthermore, we found that p53-target genes are upregulated in MEFs expressing N136 but not in MEFs expressing TAg, 3213 or D44N. This suggests that TAg blocks the p53 dependent response by binding to p53. We did not find upregulation of p53-target genes in enterocytes of mice expressing N136. This finding is consistent with the previous report in our lab that villus enterocytes do not express p53.

One of the major findings of this work is the regulation of immune response genes by TAg and D44N, but not by N136 and 3213 in MEFs. This suggests a requirement for the LXCXE motif and C-terminus of TAg in regulation of these genes. Furthermore, we found upregulation of a class of growth factors by N136 in MEFs. Our microarray experiments also

revealed a set of genes that are downregulated by TAg and mutants. Further investigation of these genes may lead to the discovery of some activity of TAg that is independent of the J domain, LXCXE motif and p53 binding domain activities. An interesting finding of this work is the downregulation of Cyclin D1 by TAg in MEFs. Regulation of Cyclin D1 is unique in the sense that it required cooperation between different domains/regions of TAg.

7.4 CONCLUSIONS

In last four decades SV40 T antigen has continuously provided insight into various cellular processes such as DNA replication, gene expression, posttranscriptional processing, tumor suppressor functions and cell cycle regulation. The ability of TAg to affect so many diverse biological functions is partly explained by the fact that it is a multifunctional protein consisting of six structural domains/regions, each of which interacts with both viral and cellular targets. TAg is unique in its ability to induce transformation in multiple cell lines and therefore serves as an important tool to understand the mechanisms of cellular transformation in a cell type specific context. Moreover, a series of TAg mutants have been made which are defective in one or more of its transforming activities and thus provide tools to decipher the role of different cellular pathways in transformation. The goal of this thesis is to determine whether the Rb and p53 pathways are the only important targets in TAg mediated transformation or if additional activities contribute.

Through this work I have made some new discoveries that will contribute to a better understanding of how TAg induces transformation. However, my studies also raised many new questions that remain unresolved. Several studies have suggested a role for the J domain of TAg in altering the function of Rb- family members in cells. These studies support a model in which the J domain recruits and stimulates the ATPase activity of the cellular chaperone Hsc70, and the resulting energy is used to release E2F from Rb. However, the effects of J domain mutations in transformation in cell culture systems are modest. For example, J domain mutants induce dense foci and anchorage independent growth of primary and established cell lines, but are compromised for the induction of growth in low serum. To address the contribution of the TAg J domain to cellular proliferation and transformation in a normal tissue model, we have generated transgenic mice that express a J domain mutant (D44N) in villus enterocytes. I found that D44N was defective for inducing enterocyte proliferation and hyperplasia. Furthermore, unlike wildtype TAg, D44N neither induces p130 degradation nor disrupts p130-E2F complexes. Additionally D44N is unable to induce E2F dependent transcription. I found that loss of p130 alone is not sufficient to induce intestinal hyperplasia. The combined effect of a J domain and loss of pRb or p107 in induction of hyperplasia is yet to be determined. To resolve these questions future studies will require a conditional Rb knockout in a D44N background and analysis of D44N mice in a p130+/-; p107-/- background.

The intestinal hyperplasia requires TAg action on the Rb family of tumor suppressors since 3213 mice (defective in Rb binding) and D44N mice (defective in Hsc70 binding) are unable to induce hyperplasia. Additionally an amino-terminal truncation mutant N121, capable of inactivating Rb proteins but defective for p53 binding, develops hyperplasia but does not progress to dysplasia. Based on these findings we hypothesized that inactivation of Rb-proteins by TAg is sufficient to induce enterocyte proliferation, but that an activity mapping to the C-terminus of TAg is required for progression to dysplasia. To test this we have generated several lines of transgenic mice expressing the amino-truncation mutant, N136. I found that N136 induces hyperplasia without any indication of increased apoptosis consistent with the previous finding in the lab that enterocytes lack p53. Unlike N121 mice, several N136 expressing mice from different transgenic lines showed clear signs of dysplasia and presented abnormally long

intestines. However, I found that the appearance of signs of dysplasia was significantly delayed (10-12 months) in comparison to wild-type TAg mice (4-6 months). At this stage I am unable to determine the requirement of the C-terminus activity of TAg (independent of p53) in progression to dysplasia. I found some significant differences in the patterns of TAg expression in villus enterocytes of mice expressing TAg or N136, which may contribute to the delayed phenotype in N136 mice. I observed that TAg mice show a dense nuclear staining throughout the villi, villi/crypt differentiation zone and occasionally extended to the top of the crypts. On the other hand N136 mice show nuclear and cytoplasmic staining only in the top 3/4th of the villi and expression never goes down to the villi/crypt differentiation zone. To test whether the expression patterns of TAg can affect the phenotype, future studies will require a generation of transgenic mice expressing N136 in crypts. Additionally, a genetic cross between N136 and 3213 or D44N mice will be required to elucidate the role of C-terminus of TAg in progression to dysplasia.

I have performed microarray experiments with MEFs and enterocytes expressing TAg and mutants (N136, 3213 and D44N) to analyze the effect of TAg or mutant expression on cellular gene expression. The goals of these experiments were to determine if: (a) the Rb-binding motif and J domain are required to stimulate E2F-dependent transcription; (b) TAg blocks p53 dependent transcription; and (c) TAg regulates genes through targets other than the Rb-E2F and p53 pathways. I found that nearly all TAg-mediated gene regulation in enterocytes requires both a functional J domain and Rb binding motif. Furthermore, N136 regulated nearly the same set of cellular genes as wild-type TAg. My analysis suggests that almost all TAg-mediated gene regulation in enterocytes is mediated by the Rb-E2F pathway. Accordingly, these genes are associated with DNA replication and repair, nucleotide metabolism, cell cycle progression and chromatin assembly and modification. MEFs expressing TAg or N136 also show upregulation of

the same set of genes, however I found that 3213 and D44N shows an intermediate upregulation of these genes. One of the possible explanations for this finding is the presence of some other factor/ activity (independent of the LXCXE motif and J domain) at the C-terminus of TAg which may contribute to Rb-family inactivation in MEFs. Alternatively, it is also possible that small t is releveing E2Fs from Rb repression by induction of Cyclin D1 and thus inducing E2F-traget genes. Another possibility is that 3213 and D44N have leaky phenotype.

To achieve the second goal of microarray experiments I have compared the regulation of p53-dependent genes by TAg and N136 in MEFs and enterocytes. Consistent with the hypothesis TAg blocks the activation of p53-target genes in MEFs. Expression of N136, which is unable to bind and inactivate p53, resulted in the upregulation of p53-target genes. On the contrary, I found that there is no upregulation of p53-target genes in enterocytes expressing N136. Thus, my experiments suggest that in enterocytes all TAg regulation of cellular gene expression is mediated through Rb-family inactivation and there is no evidence for a p53 response.

One of the major findings of the MEFs microarray experiments is the differential regulation of immune response genes by TAg and its mutants. I found profound upregulation of immune response genes by MEFs expressing TAg or D44N, but not by N136 or 3213. This finding suggests a requirement for the C-terminus and LXCXE motif in their regulation. Furthermore, I found upregulation of growth factors by MEFs expressing N136. This may provide an explanation for their survival when faced with the growth inhibitory environment imposed by p53. I also found a set of genes which are downregulated by TAg and mutants. This suggests the role of J domain, LXCXE motif and C-terminus independent activity of TAg in their regulation. Alternatively, these genes are regulated by small t. At this point I am unable to distinguish whether regulation of immune response genes and growth factors are dependent on

the Rb and/or p53 pathways or some other pathway/ factor is involved in their regulation. However, my findings will direct the future experiments in the lab to resolve these unanswered questions. This is the first microarray study which uses mutants of SV40 TAg to extend the knowledge about how different regions/domains of virus encoded proteins affect host gene expression.

Finally, I hope through this work I have not only advanced our understanding about how TAg mediates gene regulation and transformation, but also provided a platform for the future efforts in the lab to resolve the mysteries of one of the universe's most amazing molecules.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Adamson, S. L., Lu, Y., Whiteley, K. J., Holmyard, D., Hemberger, M., Pfarrer, C., and Cross, J. C. (2002). Interactions between trophoblast cells and the maternal and fetal circulation in the mouse placenta. Dev Biol 250, 358-373.
- Ahuja, D., Saenz-Robles, M. T., and Pipas, J. M. (2005). SV40 large T antigen targets multiple cellular pathways to elicit cellular transformation. Oncogene 24, 7729-7745.
- Ait-Si-Ali, S., Polesskaya, A., Filleur, S., Ferreira, R., Duquet, A., Robin, P., Vervish, A., Trouche, D., Cabon, F., and Harel-Bellan, A. (2000). CBP/p300 histone acetyltransferase activity is important for the G1/S transition. Oncogene 19, 2430-2437.
- Ali, S. H., Kasper, J. S., Arai, T., and DeCaprio, J. A. (2004). Cul7/p185/p193 binding to simian virus 40 large T antigen has a role in cellular transformation. J Virol 78, 2749-2757.
- Arrington As, B. J. (2001). Human Polyomaviruses, In, S. G. Khalili K, ed. (New York: Wiley-Liss, Inc.), pp. 461-489.
- Bandyopadhyay, S. K., Leonard, G. T., Jr., Bandyopadhyay, T., Stark, G. R., and Sen, G. C. (1995). Transcriptional induction by double-stranded RNA is mediated by interferonstimulated response elements without activation of interferon-stimulated gene factor 3. J Biol Chem 270, 19624-19629.
- Bargonetti, J., Manfredi, J. J., Chen, X., Marshak, D. R., and Prives, C. (1993). A proteolytic fragment from the central region of p53 has marked sequence-specific DNA-binding activity when generated from wild-type but not from oncogenic mutant p53 protein. Genes Dev 7, 2565-2574.
- Bates, S., Phillips, A. C., Clark, P. A., Stott, F., Peters, G., Ludwig, R. L., and Vousden, K. H. (1998). p14ARF links the tumour suppressors RB and p53. Nature 395, 124-125.
- Beachy, T. M., Cole, S. L., Cavender, J. F., and Tevethia, M. J. (2002). Regions and activities of simian virus 40 T antigen that cooperate with an activated ras oncogene in transforming primary rat embryo fibroblasts. J Virol 76, 3145-3157.
- Ben-Asouli, Y., Banai, Y., Pel-Or, Y., Shir, A., and Kaempfer, R. (2002). Human interferongamma mRNA autoregulates its translation through a pseudoknot that activates the interferon-inducible protein kinase PKR. Cell *108*, 221-232.

- Bennoun, M., Grimber, G., Couton, D., Seye, A., Molina, T., Briand, P., and Joulin, V. (1998). The amino-terminal region of SV40 large T antigen is sufficient to induce hepatic tumours in mice. Oncogene 17, 1253-1259.
- Berger, L. C., Smith, D. B., Davidson, I., Hwang, J. J., Fanning, E., and Wildeman, A. G. (1996). Interaction between T antigen and TEA domain of the factor TEF-1 derepresses simian virus 40 late promoter in vitro: identification of T-antigen domains important for transcription control. J Virol 70, 1203-1212.
- Borger, D. R., and DeCaprio, J. A. (2006). Targeting of p300/CREB binding protein coactivators by simian virus 40 is mediated through p53. J Virol 80, 4292-4303.
- Bowman, T., Symonds, H., Gu, L., Yin, C., Oren, M., and Van Dyke, T. (1996). Tissue-specific inactivation of p53 tumor suppression in the mouse. Genes Dev 10, 826-835.
- Bradley, M. K., Smith, T. F., Lathrop, R. H., Livingston, D. M., and Webster, T. A. (1987). Consensus topography in the ATP binding site of the simian virus 40 and polyomavirus large tumor antigens. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *84*, 4026-4030.
- Brodsky, J. L. (1996). Post-translational protein translocation: not all hsc70s are created equal. Trends Biochem Sci 21, 122-126.
- Brodsky, J. L., and Pipas, J. M. (1998). Polyomavirus T antigens: molecular chaperones for multiprotein complexes. J Virol 72, 5329-5334.
- Browne, E. P., Wing, B., Coleman, D., and Shenk, T. (2001). Altered cellular mRNA levels in human cytomegalovirus-infected fibroblasts: viral block to the accumulation of antiviral mRNAs. J Virol 75, 12319-12330.
- Bryan, T. M., and Reddel, R. R. (1994). SV40-induced immortalization of human cells. Crit Rev Oncog 5, 331-357.
- Bullock, P. A. (1997). The initiation of simian virus 40 DNA replication in vitro. Crit Rev Biochem Mol Biol *32*, 503-568.
- Cantalupo, P., Doering, A., Sullivan, C. S., Pal, A., Peden, K. W., Lewis, A. M., and Pipas, J. M. (2005). Complete nucleotide sequence of polyomavirus SA12. J Virol 79, 13094-13104.
- Castillo, J., Erroba, E., Perugorria, M. J., Santamaria, M., Lee, D. C., Prieto, J., Avila, M. A., and Berasain, C. (2006). Amphiregulin contributes to the transformed phenotype of human hepatocellular carcinoma cells. Cancer Res 66, 6129-6138.
- Cavanaugh, A. H., Hempel, W. M., Taylor, L. J., Rogalsky, V., Todorov, G., and Rothblum, L. I. (1995). Activity of RNA polymerase I transcription factor UBF blocked by Rb gene product. Nature 374, 177-180.

- Chandrasekaran, C., Coopersmith, C. M., and Gordon, J. I. (1996). Use of normal and transgenic mice to examine the relationship between terminal differentiation of intestinal epithelial cells and accumulation of their cell cycle regulators. J Biol Chem 271, 28414-28421.
- Chang, T. H., Ray, F. A., Thompson, D. A., and Schlegel, R. (1997). Disregulation of mitotic checkpoints and regulatory proteins following acute expression of SV40 large T antigen in diploid human cells. Oncogene *14*, 2383-2393.
- Chao, H. H., Buchmann, A. M., and DeCaprio, J. A. (2000). Loss of p19(ARF) eliminates the requirement for the pRB-binding motif in simian virus 40 large T antigen-mediated transformation. Mol Cell Biol 20, 7624-7633.
- Chellappan, S., Kraus, V. B., Kroger, B., Munger, K., Howley, P. M., Phelps, W. C., and Nevins, J. R. (1992). Adenovirus E1A, simian virus 40 tumor antigen, and human papillomavirus E7 protein share the capacity to disrupt the interaction between transcription factor E2F and the retinoblastoma gene product. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 89, 4549-4553.
- Chen, J., Tobin, G. J., Pipas, J. M., and Van Dyke, T. (1992). T-antigen mutant activities in vivo: roles of p53 and pRB binding in tumorigenesis of the choroid plexus. Oncogene 7, 1167-1175.
- Chen, S., and Paucha, E. (1990). Identification of a region of simian virus 40 large T antigen required for cell transformation. J Virol 64, 3350-3357.
- Chen, Y. N., Sharma, S. K., Ramsey, T. M., Jiang, L., Martin, M. S., Baker, K., Adams, P. D., Bair, K. W., and Kaelin, W. G., Jr. (1999). Selective killing of transformed cells by cyclin/cyclin-dependent kinase 2 antagonists. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96, 4325-4329.
- Chin, K. C., and Cresswell, P. (2001). Viperin (cig5), an IFN-inducible antiviral protein directly induced by human cytomegalovirus. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98, 15125-15130.
- Choubey, D., Li, S. J., Datta, B., Gutterman, J. U., and Lengyel, P. (1996). Inhibition of E2Fmediated transcription by p202. Embo J 15, 5668-5678.
- Clarke, A. R., Maandag, E. R., van Roon, M., van der Lugt, N. M., van der Valk, M., Hooper, M. L., Berns, A., and te Riele, H. (1992). Requirement for a functional Rb-1 gene in murine development. Nature 359, 328-330.
- Classon, M., and Harlow, E. (2002). The retinoblastoma tumour suppressor in development and cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 2, 910-917.
- Cobrinik, D., Lee, M. H., Hannon, G., Mulligan, G., Bronson, R. T., Dyson, N., Harlow, E., Beach, D., Weinberg, R. A., and Jacks, T. (1996). Shared role of the pRB-related p130 and p107 proteins in limb development. Genes Dev *10*, 1633-1644.
- Cohn, S. M., Simon, T. C., Roth, K. A., Birkenmeier, E. H., and Gordon, J. I. (1992). Use of transgenic mice to map cis-acting elements in the intestinal fatty acid binding protein gene (Fabpi) that control its cell lineage-specific and regional patterns of expression

along the duodenal-colonic and crypt-villus axes of the gut epithelium. J Cell Biol 119, 27-44.

- Cole, C. N., Crawford, L. V., and Berg, P. (1979). Simian virus 40 mutants with deletions at the 3' end of the early region are defective in adenovirus helper function. J Virol *30*, 683-691.
- Cotsiki, M., Lock, R. L., Cheng, Y., Williams, G. L., Zhao, J., Perera, D., Freire, R., Entwistle, A., Golemis, E. A., Roberts, T. M., *et al.* (2004). Simian virus 40 large T antigen targets the spindle assembly checkpoint protein Bub1. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *101*, 947-952.
- Daly, C., and Reich, N. C. (1993). Double-stranded RNA activates novel factors that bind to the interferon-stimulated response element. Mol Cell Biol *13*, 3756-3764.
- Damania, B., and Alwine, J. C. (1996). TAF-like function of SV40 large T antigen. Genes Dev 10, 1369-1381.
- Daniels, R., Sadowicz, D., and Hebert, D. N. (2007). A Very Late Viral Protein Triggers the Lytic Release of SV40. PLoS Pathog *3*, e98.
- Darnell, J. E., Jr., Kerr, I. M., and Stark, G. R. (1994). Jak-STAT pathways and transcriptional activation in response to IFNs and other extracellular signaling proteins. Science 264, 1415-1421.
- de Stanchina, E., McCurrach, M. E., Zindy, F., Shieh, S. Y., Ferbeyre, G., Samuelson, A. V., Prives, C., Roussel, M. F., Sherr, C. J., and Lowe, S. W. (1998). E1A signaling to p53 involves the p19(ARF) tumor suppressor. Genes Dev 12, 2434-2442.
- DeAngelis, T., Chen, J., Wu, A., Prisco, M., and Baserga, R. (2006). Transformation by the simian virus 40 T antigen is regulated by IGF-I receptor and IRS-1 signaling. Oncogene 25, 32-42.
- Deb, S., DeLucia, A. L., Baur, C. P., Koff, A., and Tegtmeyer, P. (1986). Domain structure of the simian virus 40 core origin of replication. Mol Cell Biol *6*, 1663-1670.
- Deb, S., Tsui, S., Koff, A., DeLucia, A. L., Parsons, R., and Tegtmeyer, P. (1987). The Tantigen-binding domain of the simian virus 40 core origin of replication. J Virol 61, 2143-2149.
- DeCaprio, J. A., Ludlow, J. W., Figge, J., Shew, J. Y., Huang, C. M., Lee, W. H., Marsilio, E., Paucha, E., and Livingston, D. M. (1988). SV40 large tumor antigen forms a specific complex with the product of the retinoblastoma susceptibility gene. Cell 54, 275-283.
- Deeb, K. K., Michalowska, A. M., Yoon, C. Y., Krummey, S. M., Hoenerhoff, M. J., Kavanaugh, C., Li, M. C., Demayo, F. J., Linnoila, I., Deng, C. X., *et al.* (2007). Identification of an integrated SV40 T/t-antigen cancer signature in aggressive human breast, prostate, and lung carcinomas with poor prognosis. Cancer Res 67, 8065-8080.

- DeGregori, J. (2002). The genetics of the E2F family of transcription factors: shared functions and unique roles. Biochim Biophys Acta *1602*, 131-150.
- Dick, F. A., and Dyson, N. (2003). pRB contains an E2F1-specific binding domain that allows E2F1-induced apoptosis to be regulated separately from other E2F activities. Mol Cell *12*, 639-649.
- Dickmanns, A., Zeitvogel, A., Simmersbach, F., Weber, R., Arthur, A. K., Dehde, S., Wildeman, A. G., and Fanning, E. (1994). The kinetics of simian virus 40-induced progression of quiescent cells into S phase depend on four independent functions of large T antigen. J Virol 68, 5496-5508.
- Digweed, M., Demuth, I., Rothe, S., Scholz, R., Jordan, A., Grotzinger, C., Schindler, D., Grompe, M., and Sperling, K. (2002). SV40 large T-antigen disturbs the formation of nuclear DNA-repair foci containing MRE11. Oncogene 21, 4873-4878.
- Dobbelstein, M., Wienzek, S., Konig, C., and Roth, J. (1999). Inactivation of the p53-homologue p73 by the mdm2-oncoprotein. Oncogene *18*, 2101-2106.
- Donehower, L. A., Harvey, M., Slagle, B. L., McArthur, M. J., Montgomery, C. A., Jr., Butel, J. S., and Bradley, A. (1992). Mice deficient for p53 are developmentally normal but susceptible to spontaneous tumours. Nature 356, 215-221.
- Dong, B., and Silverman, R. H. (1995). 2-5A-dependent RNase molecules dimerize during activation by 2-5A. J Biol Chem 270, 4133-4137.
- Dynlacht, B. D., Moberg, K., Lees, J. A., Harlow, E., and Zhu, L. (1997). Specific regulation of E2F family members by cyclin-dependent kinases. Mol Cell Biol *17*, 3867-3875.
- Dyson, N. (1998). The regulation of E2F by pRB-family proteins. Genes Dev 12, 2245-2262.
- Dyson, N., Bernards, R., Friend, S. H., Gooding, L. R., Hassell, J. A., Major, E. O., Pipas, J. M., Vandyke, T., and Harlow, E. (1990). Large T antigens of many polyomaviruses are able to form complexes with the retinoblastoma protein. J Virol *64*, 1353-1356.
- Dyson, N., Howley, P. M., Munger, K., and Harlow, E. (1989). The human papilloma virus-16 E7 oncoprotein is able to bind to the retinoblastoma gene product. Science 243, 934-937.
- Eddy, B. E., Borman, G. S., Grubbs, G. E., and Young, R. D. (1962). Identification of the oncogenic substance in rhesus monkey kidney cell culture as simian virus 40. Virology *17*, 65-75.
- Erzberger, J. P., and Berger, J. M. (2006). Evolutionary relationships and structural mechanisms of AAA+ proteins. Annu Rev Biophys Biomol Struct *35*, 93-114.
- Ewen, M. E., Ludlow, J. W., Marsilio, E., DeCaprio, J. A., Millikan, R. C., Cheng, S. H., Paucha, E., and Livingston, D. M. (1989). An N-terminal transformation-governing

sequence of SV40 large T antigen contributes to the binding of both p110Rb and a second cellular protein, p120. Cell *58*, 257-267.

- Fewell, S. W., Pipas, J. M., and Brodsky, J. L. (2002). Mutagenesis of a functional chimeric gene in yeast identifies mutations in the simian virus 40 large T antigen J domain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99, 2002-2007.
- Field, S. J., Tsai, F. Y., Kuo, F., Zubiaga, A. M., Kaelin, W. G., Jr., Livingston, D. M., Orkin, S. H., and Greenberg, M. E. (1996). E2F-1 functions in mice to promote apoptosis and suppress proliferation. Cell 85, 549-561.
- Frese, M., Kochs, G., Feldmann, H., Hertkorn, C., and Haller, O. (1996). Inhibition of bunyaviruses, phleboviruses, and hantaviruses by human MxA protein. J Virol 70, 915-923.
- Friend, S. H., Bernards, R., Rogelj, S., Weinberg, R. A., Rapaport, J. M., Albert, D. M., and Dryja, T. P. (1986). A human DNA segment with properties of the gene that predisposes to retinoblastoma and osteosarcoma. Nature 323, 643-646.
- Fung, Y. K., Murphree, A. L., T'Ang, A., Qian, J., Hinrichs, S. H., and Benedict, W. F. (1987). Structural evidence for the authenticity of the human retinoblastoma gene. Science 236, 1657-1661.
- Gai, D., Zhao, R., Li, D., Finkielstein, C. V., and Chen, X. S. (2004). Mechanisms of conformational change for a replicative hexameric helicase of SV40 large tumor antigen. Cell 119, 47-60.
- Garcia-Sastre, A., Durbin, R. K., Zheng, H., Palese, P., Gertner, R., Levy, D. E., and Durbin, J. E. (1998). The role of interferon in influenza virus tissue tropism. J Virol 72, 8550-8558.
- Gaubatz, S., Lindeman, G. J., Ishida, S., Jakoi, L., Nevins, J. R., Livingston, D. M., and Rempel, R. E. (2000). E2F4 and E2F5 play an essential role in pocket protein-mediated G1 control. Mol Cell 6, 729-735.
- Ginsberg, D., Vairo, G., Chittenden, T., Xiao, Z. X., Xu, G., Wydner, K. L., DeCaprio, J. A., Lawrence, J. B., and Livingston, D. M. (1994). E2F-4, a new member of the E2F transcription factor family, interacts with p107. Genes Dev 8, 2665-2679.
- Girardi, A. J., Sweet, B. H., Slotnick, V. B., and Hilleman, M. R. (1962). Development of tumors in hamsters inoculated in the neonatal period with vacuolating virus, SV-40. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med *109*, 649-660.
- Gjoerup, O., Chao, H., DeCaprio, J. A., and Roberts, T. M. (2000). pRB-dependent, J domainindependent function of simian virus 40 large T antigen in override of p53 growth suppression. J Virol 74, 864-874.
- Goodbourn, S., Didcock, L., and Randall, R. E. (2000). Interferons: cell signalling, immune modulation, antiviral response and virus countermeasures. J Gen Virol *81*, 2341-2364.

- Goodman, R. H., and Smolik, S. (2000). CBP/p300 in cell growth, transformation, and development. Genes Dev 14, 1553-1577.
- Grandvaux, N., Servant, M. J., tenOever, B., Sen, G. C., Balachandran, S., Barber, G. N., Lin, R., and Hiscott, J. (2002). Transcriptional profiling of interferon regulatory factor 3 target genes: direct involvement in the regulation of interferon-stimulated genes. J Virol 76, 5532-5539.
- Gruda, M. C., Zabolotny, J. M., Xiao, J. H., Davidson, I., and Alwine, J. C. (1993). Transcriptional activation by simian virus 40 large T antigen: interactions with multiple components of the transcription complex. Mol Cell Biol 13, 961-969.
- Hahn, W. C., Counter, C. M., Lundberg, A. S., Beijersbergen, R. L., Brooks, M. W., and Weinberg, R. A. (1999). Creation of human tumour cells with defined genetic elements. Nature 400, 464-468.
- Hahn, W. C., Dessain, S. K., Brooks, M. W., King, J. E., Elenbaas, B., Sabatini, D. M., DeCaprio, J. A., and Weinberg, R. A. (2002). Enumeration of the simian virus 40 early region elements necessary for human cell transformation. Mol Cell Biol 22, 2111-2123.
- Haigis, K., Sage, J., Glickman, J., Shafer, S., and Jacks, T. (2006). The related retinoblastoma (pRb) and p130 proteins cooperate to regulate homeostasis in the intestinal epithelium. J Biol Chem 281, 638-647.
- Hanahan, D., and Weinberg, R. A. (2000). The hallmarks of cancer. Cell 100, 57-70.
- Harbour, J. W., and Dean, D. C. (2000a). Chromatin remodeling and Rb activity. Curr Opin Cell Biol *12*, 685-689.
- Harbour, J. W., and Dean, D. C. (2000b). The Rb/E2F pathway: expanding roles and emerging paradigms. Genes Dev 14, 2393-2409.
- Harbour, J. W., and Dean, D. C. (2001). Corepressors and retinoblastoma protein function. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol 254, 137-144.
- Harlow, E., Crawford, L. V., Pim, D. C., and Williamson, N. M. (1981). Monoclonal antibodies specific for simian virus 40 tumor antigens. J Virol 39, 861-869.
- Harris, S. L., and Levine, A. J. (2005). The p53 pathway: positive and negative feedback loops. Oncogene 24, 2899-2908.
- Hartl, F. U. (1996). Molecular chaperones in cellular protein folding. Nature 381, 571-579.
- Hauck, A. L., Swanson, K. S., Kenis, P. J., Leckband, D. E., Gaskins, H. R., and Schook, L. B. (2005). Twists and turns in the development and maintenance of the mammalian small intestine epithelium. Birth Defects Res C Embryo Today 75, 58-71.

- Hauft, S. M., Kim, S. H., Schmidt, G. H., Pease, S., Rees, S., Harris, S., Roth, K. A., Hansbrough, J. R., Cohn, S. M., Ahnen, D. J., and et al. (1992). Expression of SV-40 T antigen in the small intestinal epithelium of transgenic mice results in proliferative changes in the crypt and reentry of villus-associated enterocytes into the cell cycle but has no apparent effect on cellular differentiation programs and does not cause neoplastic transformation. J Cell Biol 117, 825-839.
- He, X. C., Zhang, J., Tong, W. G., Tawfik, O., Ross, J., Scoville, D. H., Tian, Q., Zeng, X., He, X., Wiedemann, L. M., *et al.* (2004). BMP signaling inhibits intestinal stem cell selfrenewal through suppression of Wnt-beta-catenin signaling. Nat Genet 36, 1117-1121.
- Hermiston, T. (2000). Gene delivery from replication-selective viruses: arming guided missiles in the war against cancer. J Clin Invest *105*, 1169-1172.
- Higashino, F., Pipas, J. M., and Shenk, T. (1998). Adenovirus E4orf6 oncoprotein modulates the function of the p53-related protein, p73. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95, 15683-15687.
- Hijmans, E. M., Voorhoeve, P. M., Beijersbergen, R. L., van 't Veer, L. J., and Bernards, R. (1995). E2F-5, a new E2F family member that interacts with p130 in vivo. Mol Cell Biol 15, 3082-3089.
- Hinnebusch, A. G. (2005). eIF2alpha kinases provide a new solution to the puzzle of substrate specificity. Nat Struct Mol Biol *12*, 835-838.
- Hofmann, C. S., Wang, X., Sullivan, C. P., Toselli, P., Stone, P. J., McLean, S. E., Mecham, R. P., Schreiber, B. M., and Sonenshein, G. E. (2005). B-Myb represses elastin gene expression in aortic smooth muscle cells. J Biol Chem 280, 7694-7701.
- Hu, Q. J., Dyson, N., and Harlow, E. (1990). The regions of the retinoblastoma protein needed for binding to adenovirus E1A or SV40 large T antigen are common sites for mutations. Embo J 9, 1147-1155.
- Hui, D. J., Bhasker, C. R., Merrick, W. C., and Sen, G. C. (2003). Viral stress-inducible protein p56 inhibits translation by blocking the interaction of eIF3 with the ternary complex eIF2.GTP.Met-tRNAi. J Biol Chem 278, 39477-39482.
- Hui, D. J., Terenzi, F., Merrick, W. C., and Sen, G. C. (2005). Mouse p56 blocks a distinct function of eukaryotic initiation factor 3 in translation initiation. J Biol Chem 280, 3433-3440.
- Humbert, P. O., Rogers, C., Ganiatsas, S., Landsberg, R. L., Trimarchi, J. M., Dandapani, S., Brugnara, C., Erdman, S., Schrenzel, M., Bronson, R. T., and Lees, J. A. (2000a). E2F4 is essential for normal erythrocyte maturation and neonatal viability. Mol Cell 6, 281-291.
- Humbert, P. O., Verona, R., Trimarchi, J. M., Rogers, C., Dandapani, S., and Lees, J. A. (2000b). E2f3 is critical for normal cellular proliferation. Genes Dev 14, 690-703.

- Hummer, B. T., Li, X. L., and Hassel, B. A. (2001). Role for p53 in gene induction by doublestranded RNA. J Virol 75, 7774-7777.
- Ibaraki, N., Chen, S. C., Lin, L. R., Okamoto, H., Pipas, J. M., and Reddy, V. N. (1998). Human lens epithelial cell line. Exp Eye Res 67, 577-585.
- Inoue, A., Torigoe, T., Sogahata, K., Kamiguchi, K., Takahashi, S., Sawada, Y., Saijo, M., Taya, Y., Ishii, S., Sato, N., and Kikuchi, K. (1995). 70-kDa heat shock cognate protein interacts directly with the N-terminal region of the retinoblastoma gene product pRb. Identification of a novel region of pRb-mediating protein interaction. J Biol Chem 270, 22571-22576.
- Irwin, M. S., and Kaelin, W. G. (2001). p53 family update: p73 and p63 develop their own identities. Cell Growth Differ 12, 337-349.
- Ishida, S., Huang, E., Zuzan, H., Spang, R., Leone, G., West, M., and Nevins, J. R. (2001). Role for E2F in control of both DNA replication and mitotic functions as revealed from DNA microarray analysis. Mol Cell Biol 21, 4684-4699.
- Iyer, N. G., Ozdag, H., and Caldas, C. (2004). p300/CBP and cancer. Oncogene 23, 4225-4231.
- Jacks, T., Fazeli, A., Schmitt, E. M., Bronson, R. T., Goodell, M. A., and Weinberg, R. A. (1992). Effects of an Rb mutation in the mouse. Nature *359*, 295-300.
- Jelsma, T. N., Howe, J. A., Mymryk, J. S., Evelegh, C. M., Cunniff, N. F., and Bayley, S. T. (1989). Sequences in E1A proteins of human adenovirus 5 required for cell transformation, repression of a transcriptional enhancer, and induction of proliferating cell nuclear antigen. Virology 171, 120-130.
- Jiang, D., Srinivasan, A., Lozano, G., and Robbins, P. D. (1993). SV40 T antigen abrogates p53mediated transcriptional activity. Oncogene 8, 2805-2812.
- Johnson, D. G., Schwarz, J. K., Cress, W. D., and Nevins, J. R. (1993). Expression of transcription factor E2F1 induces quiescent cells to enter S phase. Nature *365*, 349-352.
- Johnston, S. D., Yu, X. M., and Mertz, J. E. (1996). The major transcriptional transactivation domain of simian virus 40 large T antigen associates nonconcurrently with multiple components of the transcriptional preinitiation complex. J Virol 70, 1191-1202.
- Joo, W. S., Kim, H. Y., Purviance, J. D., Sreekumar, K. R., and Bullock, P. A. (1998). Assembly of T-antigen double hexamers on the simian virus 40 core origin requires only a subset of the available binding sites. Mol Cell Biol 18, 2677-2687.
- Joo, W. S., Luo, X., Denis, D., Kim, H. Y., Rainey, G. J., Jones, C., Sreekumar, K. R., and Bullock, P. A. (1997). Purification of the simian virus 40 (SV40) T antigen DNA-binding domain and characterization of its interactions with the SV40 origin. J Virol 71, 3972-3985.

- Kalderon, D., and Smith, A. E. (1984). In vitro mutagenesis of a putative DNA binding domain of SV40 large-T. Virology *139*, 109-137.
- Karnik, S. K., Wythe, J. D., Sorensen, L., Brooke, B. S., Urness, L. D., and Li, D. Y. (2003). Elastin induces myofibrillogenesis via a specific domain, VGVAPG. Matrix Biol 22, 409-425.
- Kasper, J. S., Kuwabara, H., Arai, T., Ali, S. H., and DeCaprio, J. A. (2005). Simian virus 40 large T antigen's association with the CUL7 SCF complex contributes to cellular transformation. J Virol 79, 11685-11692.
- Kierstead, T. D., and Tevethia, M. J. (1993). Association of p53 binding and immortalization of primary C57BL/6 mouse embryo fibroblasts by using simian virus 40 T-antigen mutants bearing internal overlapping deletion mutations. J Virol 67, 1817-1829.
- Kim, H. Y., Ahn, B. Y., and Cho, Y. (2001). Structural basis for the inactivation of retinoblastoma tumor suppressor by SV40 large T antigen. Embo J 20, 295-304.
- Kim, S. H., Roth, K. A., Coopersmith, C. M., Pipas, J. M., and Gordon, J. I. (1994). Expression of wild-type and mutant simian virus 40 large tumor antigens in villus-associated enterocytes of transgenic mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 91, 6914-6918.
- Kim, S. H., Roth, K. A., Moser, A. R., and Gordon, J. I. (1993). Transgenic mouse models that explore the multistep hypothesis of intestinal neoplasia. J Cell Biol *123*, 877-893.
- Kochs, G., and Haller, O. (1999a). GTP-bound human MxA protein interacts with the nucleocapsids of Thogoto virus (Orthomyxoviridae). J Biol Chem 274, 4370-4376.
- Kochs, G., and Haller, O. (1999b). Interferon-induced human MxA GTPase blocks nuclear import of Thogoto virus nucleocapsids. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96, 2082-2086.
- Kohrman, D. C., and Imperiale, M. J. (1992). Simian virus 40 large T antigen stably complexes with a 185-kilodalton host protein. J Virol *66*, 1752-1760.
- Kong, X., San Juan, H., Kumar, M., Behera, A. K., Mohapatra, A., Hellermann, G. R., Mane, S., Lockey, R. F., and Mohapatra, S. S. (2003). Respiratory syncytial virus infection activates STAT signaling in human epithelial cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 306, 616-622.
- Lai, J. S., Cleary, M. A., and Herr, W. (1992). A single amino acid exchange transfers VP16induced positive control from the Oct-1 to the Oct-2 homeo domain. Genes Dev 6, 2058-2065.
- Lane, D. P., and Crawford, L. V. (1979). T antigen is bound to a host protein in SV40transformed cells. Nature 278, 261-263.

- Lang, G. A., Iwakuma, T., Suh, Y. A., Liu, G., Rao, V. A., Parant, J. M., Valentin-Vega, Y. A., Terzian, T., Caldwell, L. C., Strong, L. C., *et al.* (2004). Gain of function of a p53 hot spot mutation in a mouse model of Li-Fraumeni syndrome. Cell *119*, 861-872.
- LeCouter, J. E., Kablar, B., Hardy, W. R., Ying, C., Megeney, L. A., May, L. L., and Rudnicki, M. A. (1998a). Strain-dependent myeloid hyperplasia, growth deficiency, and accelerated cell cycle in mice lacking the Rb-related p107 gene. Mol Cell Biol 18, 7455-7465.
- LeCouter, J. E., Kablar, B., Whyte, P. F., Ying, C., and Rudnicki, M. A. (1998b). Straindependent embryonic lethality in mice lacking the retinoblastoma-related p130 gene. Development *125*, 4669-4679.
- Lee, E. Y., Chang, C. Y., Hu, N., Wang, Y. C., Lai, C. C., Herrup, K., Lee, W. H., and Bradley, A. (1992). Mice deficient for Rb are nonviable and show defects in neurogenesis and haematopoiesis. Nature 359, 288-294.
- Lee, M. H., Williams, B. O., Mulligan, G., Mukai, S., Bronson, R. T., Dyson, N., Harlow, E., and Jacks, T. (1996). Targeted disruption of p107: functional overlap between p107 and Rb. Genes Dev 10, 1621-1632.
- Lee, W. H., Shew, J. Y., Hong, F. D., Sery, T. W., Donoso, L. A., Young, L. J., Bookstein, R., and Lee, E. Y. (1987). The retinoblastoma susceptibility gene encodes a nuclear phosphoprotein associated with DNA binding activity. Nature 329, 642-645.
- Lees, E., Faha, B., Dulic, V., Reed, S. I., and Harlow, E. (1992). Cyclin E/cdk2 and cyclin A/cdk2 kinases associate with p107 and E2F in a temporally distinct manner. Genes Dev 6, 1874-1885.
- Levine, A. J. (1997). p53, the cellular gatekeeper for growth and division. Cell 88, 323-331.
- Levine, A. J., Hu, W., and Feng, Z. (2006). The P53 pathway: what questions remain to be explored? Cell Death Differ 13, 1027-1036.
- Li, D., Zhao, R., Lilyestrom, W., Gai, D., Zhang, R., DeCaprio, J. A., Fanning, E., Jochimiak, A., Szakonyi, G., and Chen, X. S. (2003a). Structure of the replicative helicase of the oncoprotein SV40 large tumour antigen. Nature 423, 512-518.
- Li, F. X., Zhu, J. W., Hogan, C. J., and DeGregori, J. (2003b). Defective gene expression, S phase progression, and maturation during hematopoiesis in E2F1/E2F2 mutant mice. Mol Cell Biol *23*, 3607-3622.
- Li, Y., Graham, C., Lacy, S., Duncan, A. M., and Whyte, P. (1993). The adenovirus E1Aassociated 130-kD protein is encoded by a member of the retinoblastoma gene family and physically interacts with cyclins A and E. Genes Dev 7, 2366-2377.
- Lin, R., Heylbroeck, C., Genin, P., Pitha, P. M., and Hiscott, J. (1999). Essential role of interferon regulatory factor 3 in direct activation of RANTES chemokine transcription. Mol Cell Biol 19, 959-966.

- Lindeman, G. J., Dagnino, L., Gaubatz, S., Xu, Y., Bronson, R. T., Warren, H. B., and Livingston, D. M. (1998). A specific, nonproliferative role for E2F-5 in choroid plexus function revealed by gene targeting. Genes Dev 12, 1092-1098.
- Linzer, D. I., and Levine, A. J. (1979). Characterization of a 54K dalton cellular SV40 tumor antigen present in SV40-transformed cells and uninfected embryonal carcinoma cells. Cell *17*, 43-52.
- Lipinski, M. M., and Jacks, T. (1999). The retinoblastoma gene family in differentiation and development. Oncogene 18, 7873-7882.
- Liu, C. J., Wang, H., and Lengyel, P. (1999). The interferon-inducible nucleolar p204 protein binds the ribosomal RNA-specific UBF1 transcription factor and inhibits ribosomal RNA transcription. Embo J 18, 2845-2854.
- Liu, Y., and Samuel, C. E. (1996). Mechanism of interferon action: functionally distinct RNAbinding and catalytic domains in the interferon-inducible, double-stranded RNA-specific adenosine deaminase. J Virol 70, 1961-1968.
- Loeber, G., Parsons, R., and Tegtmeyer, P. (1989). The zinc finger region of simian virus 40 large T antigen. J Virol 63, 94-100.
- Lukas, J., Petersen, B. O., Holm, K., Bartek, J., and Helin, K. (1996). Deregulated expression of E2F family members induces S-phase entry and overcomes p16INK4A-mediated growth suppression. Mol Cell Biol 16, 1047-1057.
- Magnaghi-Jaulin, L., Groisman, R., Naguibneva, I., Robin, P., Lorain, S., Le Villain, J. P., Troalen, F., Trouche, D., and Harel-Bellan, A. (1998). Retinoblastoma protein represses transcription by recruiting a histone deacetylase. Nature *391*, 601-605.
- Marhamati, D. J., and Sonenshein, G. E. (1996). B-Myb expression in vascular smooth muscle cells occurs in a cell cycle-dependent fashion and down-regulates promoter activity of type I collagen genes. J Biol Chem 271, 3359-3365.
- Marie, I., Durbin, J. E., and Levy, D. E. (1998). Differential viral induction of distinct interferonalpha genes by positive feedback through interferon regulatory factor-7. Embo J 17, 6660-6669.
- Markovics, J. A., Carroll, P. A., Robles, M. T., Pope, H., Coopersmith, C. M., and Pipas, J. M. (2005). Intestinal dysplasia induced by simian virus 40 T antigen is independent of p53. J Virol 79, 7492-7502.
- Martin, D. W., Subler, M. A., Munoz, R. M., Brown, D. R., Deb, S. P., and Deb, S. (1993). p53 and SV40 T antigen bind to the same region overlapping the conserved domain of the TATA-binding protein. Biochem Biophys Res Commun *195*, 428-434.

- Mastrangelo, I. A., Hough, P. V., Wall, J. S., Dodson, M., Dean, F. B., and Hurwitz, J. (1989). ATP-dependent assembly of double hexamers of SV40 T antigen at the viral origin of DNA replication. Nature *338*, 658-662.
- Mill, P., Mo, R., Fu, H., Grachtchouk, M., Kim, P. C., Dlugosz, A. A., and Hui, C. C. (2003). Sonic hedgehog-dependent activation of Gli2 is essential for embryonic hair follicle development. Genes Dev 17, 282-294.
- Mitchell, P. J., Wang, C., and Tjian, R. (1987). Positive and negative regulation of transcription in vitro: enhancer-binding protein AP-2 is inhibited by SV40 T antigen. Cell *50*, 847-861.
- Mittnacht, S. (1998). Control of pRB phosphorylation. Curr Opin Genet Dev 8, 21-27.
- Moberg, K., Starz, M. A., and Lees, J. A. (1996). E2F-4 switches from p130 to p107 and pRB in response to cell cycle reentry. Mol Cell Biol *16*, 1436-1449.
- Moens, U., Seternes, O. M., Johansen, B., and Rekvig, O. P. (1997). Mechanisms of transcriptional regulation of cellular genes by SV40 large T- and small T-antigens. Virus Genes 15, 135-154.
- Mossman, K. L., Macgregor, P. F., Rozmus, J. J., Goryachev, A. B., Edwards, A. M., and Smiley, J. R. (2001). Herpes simplex virus triggers and then disarms a host antiviral response. J Virol 75, 750-758.
- Munger, K., Werness, B. A., Dyson, N., Phelps, W. C., Harlow, E., and Howley, P. M. (1989). Complex formation of human papillomavirus E7 proteins with the retinoblastoma tumor suppressor gene product. Embo J 8, 4099-4105.
- Mungre, S., Enderle, K., Turk, B., Porras, A., Wu, Y. Q., Mumby, M. C., and Rundell, K. (1994). Mutations which affect the inhibition of protein phosphatase 2A by simian virus 40 small-t antigen in vitro decrease viral transformation. J Virol 68, 1675-1681.
- Murga, M., Fernandez-Capetillo, O., Field, S. J., Moreno, B., Borlado, L. R., Fujiwara, Y., Balomenos, D., Vicario, A., Carrera, A. C., Orkin, S. H., *et al.* (2001). Mutation of E2F2 in mice causes enhanced T lymphocyte proliferation, leading to the development of autoimmunity. Immunity 15, 959-970.
- Nakamura, Y. (2004). Isolation of p53-target genes and their functional analysis. Cancer Sci 95, 7-11.
- Nam, J. H., Hwang, K. A., Yu, C. H., Kang, T. H., Shin, J. Y., Choi, W. Y., Kim, I. B., Joo, Y. R., Cho, H. W., and Park, K. Y. (2003). Expression of interferon inducible genes following Hantaan virus infection as a mechanism of resistance in A549 cells. Virus Genes 26, 31-38.
- Nemethova, M., Smutny, M., and Wintersberger, E. (2004). Transactivation of E2F-regulated genes by polyomavirus large T antigen: evidence for a two-step mechanism. Mol Cell Biol 24, 10986-10994.

- Nevins, J. R. (1998). Toward an understanding of the functional complexity of the E2F and retinoblastoma families. Cell Growth Differ 9, 585-593.
- Olive, K. P., Tuveson, D. A., Ruhe, Z. C., Yin, B., Willis, N. A., Bronson, R. T., Crowley, D., and Jacks, T. (2004). Mutant p53 gain of function in two mouse models of Li-Fraumeni syndrome. Cell *119*, 847-860.
- Oren, M., Maltzman, W., and Levine, A. J. (1981). Post-translational regulation of the 54K cellular tumor antigen in normal and transformed cells. Mol Cell Biol *1*, 101-110.
- Oshima, T., Abe, M., Asano, J., Hara, T., Kitazoe, K., Sekimoto, E., Tanaka, Y., Shibata, H., Hashimoto, T., Ozaki, S., *et al.* (2005). Myeloma cells suppress bone formation by secreting a soluble Wnt inhibitor, sFRP-2. Blood *106*, 3160-3165.
- Palmero, I., Pantoja, C., and Serrano, M. (1998). p19ARF links the tumour suppressor p53 to Ras. Nature 395, 125-126.
- Parsons, R. E., Stenger, J. E., Ray, S., Welker, R., Anderson, M. E., and Tegtmeyer, P. (1991). Cooperative assembly of simian virus 40 T-antigen hexamers on functional halves of the replication origin. J Virol 65, 2798-2806.
- Patterson, J. B., and Samuel, C. E. (1995). Expression and regulation by interferon of a doublestranded-RNA-specific adenosine deaminase from human cells: evidence for two forms of the deaminase. Mol Cell Biol 15, 5376-5388.
- Peden, K. W., and Pipas, J. M. (1992). Simian virus 40 mutants with amino-acid substitutions near the amino terminus of large T antigen. Virus Genes 6, 107-118.
- Pipas, J. M. (1985). Mutations near the carboxyl terminus of the simian virus 40 large tumor antigen alter viral host range. J Virol 54, 569-575.
- Pipas, J. M. (1992). Common and unique features of T antigens encoded by the polyomavirus group. J Virol 66, 3979-3985.
- Pipas, J. M., and Levine, A. J. (2001). Role of T antigen interactions with p53 in tumorigenesis. Semin Cancer Biol 11, 23-30.
- Pipas, J. M., Peden, K. W., and Nathans, D. (1983). Mutational analysis of simian virus 40 T antigen: isolation and characterization of mutants with deletions in the T-antigen gene. Mol Cell Biol 3, 203-213.
- Pohlers, M., Truss, M., Frede, U., Scholz, A., Strehle, M., Kuban, R. J., Hoffmann, B., Morkel, M., Birchmeier, C., and Hagemeier, C. (2005). A role for E2F6 in the restriction of malegerm-cell-specific gene expression. Curr Biol 15, 1051-1057.
- Polissi, A., Goffin, L., and Georgopoulos, C. (1995). The Escherichia coli heat shock response and bacteriophage lambda development. FEMS Microbiol Rev 17, 159-169.

- Poole, L. J., Yu, Y., Kim, P. S., Zheng, Q. Z., Pevsner, J., and Hayward, G. S. (2002). Altered patterns of cellular gene expression in dermal microvascular endothelial cells infected with Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus. J Virol 76, 3395-3420.
- Porras, A., Bennett, J., Howe, A., Tokos, K., Bouck, N., Henglein, B., Sathyamangalam, S., Thimmapaya, B., and Rundell, K. (1996). A novel simian virus 40 early-region domain mediates transactivation of the cyclin A promoter by small-t antigen and is required for transformation in small-t antigen-dependent assays. J Virol 70, 6902-6908.
- Porras, A., Gaillard, S., and Rundell, K. (1999). The simian virus 40 small-t and large-T antigens jointly regulate cell cycle reentry in human fibroblasts. J Virol 73, 3102-3107.
- Potten, C. S., Booth, C., and Hargreaves, D. (2003). The small intestine as a model for evaluating adult tissue stem cell drug targets. Cell Prolif *36*, 115-129.
- Poulin, D. L., and DeCaprio, J. A. (2006). Is there a role for SV40 in human cancer? J Clin Oncol 24, 4356-4365.
- Poulin, D. L., Kung, A. L., and DeCaprio, J. A. (2004). p53 targets simian virus 40 large T antigen for acetylation by CBP. J Virol 78, 8245-8253.
- Qin, X. Q., Livingston, D. M., Kaelin, W. G., Jr., and Adams, P. D. (1994). Deregulated transcription factor E2F-1 expression leads to S-phase entry and p53-mediated apoptosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 91, 10918-10922.
- Quartin, R. S., Cole, C. N., Pipas, J. M., and Levine, A. J. (1994). The amino-terminal functions of the simian virus 40 large T antigen are required to overcome wild-type p53-mediated growth arrest of cells. J Virol *68*, 1334-1341.
- Radtke, F., Clevers, H., and Riccio, O. (2006). From gut homeostasis to cancer. Curr Mol Med *6*, 275-289.
- Rathi, A. V., Saenz Robles, M. T., and Pipas, J. M. (2007). Enterocyte proliferation and intestinal hyperplasia induced by simian virus 40 T antigen require a functional J domain. J Virol *81*, 9481-9489.
- Ratineau, C., Ronco, A., and Leiter, A. B. (2000). Role of the amino-terminal domain of simian virus 40 early region in inducing tumors in secretin-expressing cells in transgenic mice. Gastroenterology 119, 1305-1311.
- Rempel, R. E., Saenz-Robles, M. T., Storms, R., Morham, S., Ishida, S., Engel, A., Jakoi, L., Melhem, M. F., Pipas, J. M., Smith, C., and Nevins, J. R. (2000). Loss of E2F4 activity leads to abnormal development of multiple cellular lineages. Mol Cell 6, 293-306.
- Riley, D. J., Lee, E. Y., and Lee, W. H. (1994). The retinoblastoma protein: more than a tumor suppressor. Annu Rev Cell Biol *10*, 1-29.

- Ross, J. F., Liu, X., and Dynlacht, B. D. (1999). Mechanism of transcriptional repression of E2F by the retinoblastoma tumor suppressor protein. Mol Cell *3*, 195-205.
- Ruiz, S., Santos, M., Segrelles, C., Leis, H., Jorcano, J. L., Berns, A., Paramio, J. M., and Vooijs, M. (2004). Unique and overlapping functions of pRb and p107 in the control of proliferation and differentiation in epidermis. Development 131, 2737-2748.
- Rundell, K., Gaillard, S., and Porras, A. (1998). Small-t and large-T antigens cooperate to drive cell proliferation. Dev Biol Stand *94*, 289-295.
- Rusch, L., Zhou, A., and Silverman, R. H. (2000). Caspase-dependent apoptosis by 2',5'oligoadenylate activation of RNase L is enhanced by IFN-beta. J Interferon Cytokine Res 20, 1091-1100.
- Rushton, J. J., Jiang, D., Srinivasan, A., Pipas, J. M., and Robbins, P. D. (1997). Simian virus 40 T antigen can regulate p53-mediated transcription independent of binding p53. J Virol 71, 5620-5623.
- Rutila, J. E., Imperiale, M. J., and Brockman, W. W. (1986). Replication and transformation functions of in vitro-generated simian virus 40 large T antigen mutants. J Virol 58, 526-535.
- Ruvolo, V., Navarro, L., Sample, C. E., David, M., Sung, S., and Swaminathan, S. (2003). The Epstein-Barr virus SM protein induces STAT1 and interferon-stimulated gene expression. J Virol 77, 3690-3701.
- Sachsenmeier, K. F., and Pipas, J. M. (2001). Inhibition of Rb and p53 is insufficient for SV40 T-antigen transformation. Virology 283, 40-48.
- Saenz-Robles, M. T., Markovics, J. A., Chong, J. L., Opavsky, R., Whitehead, R. H., Leone, G., and Pipas, J. M. (2007). Intestinal hyperplasia induced by simian virus 40 large tumor antigen requires E2F2. J Virol 81, 13191-13199.
- Saenz Robles, M. T., Symonds, H., Chen, J., and Van Dyke, T. (1994). Induction versus progression of brain tumor development: differential functions for the pRB- and p53-targeting domains of simian virus 40 T antigen. Mol Cell Biol *14*, 2686-2698.
- Samuel, C. E. (2001). Antiviral actions of interferons. Clin Microbiol Rev 14, 778-809, table of contents.
- Sancho, E., Batlle, E., and Clevers, H. (2004). Signaling pathways in intestinal development and cancer. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 20, 695-723.
- Santer, F. R., Moser, B., Spoden, G. A., Jansen-Durr, P., and Zwerschke, W. (2007). Human papillomavirus type 16 E7 oncoprotein inhibits apoptosis mediated by nuclear insulinlike growth factor-binding protein-3 by enhancing its ubiquitin/proteasome-dependent degradation. Carcinogenesis 28, 2511-2520.

- Sardet, C., Vidal, M., Cobrinik, D., Geng, Y., Onufryk, C., Chen, A., and Weinberg, R. A. (1995). E2F-4 and E2F-5, two members of the E2F family, are expressed in the early phases of the cell cycle. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 92, 2403-2407.
- Sellers, W. R., Rodgers, J. W., and Kaelin, W. G., Jr. (1995). A potent transrepression domain in the retinoblastoma protein induces a cell cycle arrest when bound to E2F sites. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 92, 11544-11548.
- Sheng, Q., Love, T. M., and Schaffhausen, B. (2000). J domain-independent regulation of the Rb family by polyomavirus large T antigen. J Virol 74, 5280-5290.
- Sherr, C. J. (1996). Cancer cell cycles. Science 274, 1672-1677.
- Sherr, C. J. (2000). Cell cycle control and cancer. Harvey Lect 96, 73-92.
- Sherr, C. J., and Roberts, J. M. (1995). Inhibitors of mammalian G1 cyclin-dependent kinases. Genes Dev 9, 1149-1163.
- Shimazu, T., Komatsu, Y., Nakayama, K. I., Fukazawa, H., Horinouchi, S., and Yoshida, M. (2006). Regulation of SV40 large T-antigen stability by reversible acetylation. Oncogene 25, 7391-7400.
- Spence, S. L., and Pipas, J. M. (1994a). Simian virus 40 large T antigen host range domain functions in virion assembly. J Virol 68, 4227-4240.
- Spence, S. L., and Pipas, J. M. (1994b). SV40 large T antigen functions at two distinct steps in virion assembly. Virology 204, 200-209.
- Spitkovsky, D., Steiner, P., Gopalkrishnan, R. V., Eilers, M., and Jansen-Durr, P. (1995). The role of p53 in coordinated regulation of cyclin D1 and p21 gene expression by the adenovirus E1A and E1B oncogenes. Oncogene *10*, 2421-2425.
- Srinivasan, A., McClellan, A. J., Vartikar, J., Marks, I., Cantalupo, P., Li, Y., Whyte, P., Rundell, K., Brodsky, J. L., and Pipas, J. M. (1997). The amino-terminal transforming region of simian virus 40 large T and small t antigens functions as a J domain. Mol Cell Biol 17, 4761-4773.
- Srinivasan, A., Peden, K. W., and Pipas, J. M. (1989). The large tumor antigen of simian virus 40 encodes at least two distinct transforming functions. J Virol *63*, 5459-5463.
- Stevaux, O., and Dyson, N. J. (2002). A revised picture of the E2F transcriptional network and RB function. Curr Opin Cell Biol *14*, 684-691.
- Stiewe, T. (2007). The p53 family in differentiation and tumorigenesis. Nat Rev Cancer 7, 165-168.
- Storre, J., Elsasser, H. P., Fuchs, M., Ullmann, D., Livingston, D. M., and Gaubatz, S. (2002). Homeotic transformations of the axial skeleton that accompany a targeted deletion of E2f6. EMBO Rep 3, 695-700.
- Stott, F. J., Bates, S., James, M. C., McConnell, B. B., Starborg, M., Brookes, S., Palmero, I., Ryan, K., Hara, E., Vousden, K. H., and Peters, G. (1998). The alternative product from the human CDKN2A locus, p14(ARF), participates in a regulatory feedback loop with p53 and MDM2. Embo J 17, 5001-5014.
- Strano, S., Dell'Orso, S., Di Agostino, S., Fontemaggi, G., Sacchi, A., and Blandino, G. (2007). Mutant p53: an oncogenic transcription factor. Oncogene 26, 2212-2219.
- Stubdal, H., Zalvide, J., Campbell, K. S., Schweitzer, C., Roberts, T. M., and DeCaprio, J. A. (1997). Inactivation of pRB-related proteins p130 and p107 mediated by the J domain of simian virus 40 large T antigen. Mol Cell Biol 17, 4979-4990.
- Sullivan, C. S., Baker, A. E., and Pipas, J. M. (2004). Simian virus 40 infection disrupts p130-E2F and p107-E2F complexes but does not perturb pRb-E2F complexes. Virology 320, 218-228.
- Sullivan, C. S., Cantalupo, P., and Pipas, J. M. (2000a). The molecular chaperone activity of simian virus 40 large T antigen is required to disrupt Rb-E2F family complexes by an ATP-dependent mechanism. Mol Cell Biol 20, 6233-6243.
- Sullivan, C. S., Gilbert, S. P., and Pipas, J. M. (2001). ATP-dependent simian virus 40 Tantigen-Hsc70 complex formation. J Virol 75, 1601-1610.
- Sullivan, C. S., and Pipas, J. M. (2002). T antigens of simian virus 40: molecular chaperones for viral replication and tumorigenesis. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev *66*, 179-202.
- Sullivan, C. S., Tremblay, J. D., Fewell, S. W., Lewis, J. A., Brodsky, J. L., and Pipas, J. M. (2000b). Species-specific elements in the large T-antigen J domain are required for cellular transformation and DNA replication by simian virus 40. Mol Cell Biol 20, 5749-5757.
- Sweet, B. H., and Hilleman, M. R. (1960). The vacuolating virus, S.V. 40. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med 105, 420-427.
- Symonds, H. S., McCarthy, S. A., Chen, J., Pipas, J. M., and Van Dyke, T. (1993). Use of transgenic mice reveals cell-specific transformation by a simian virus 40 T-antigen amino-terminal mutant. Mol Cell Biol 13, 3255-3265.
- Takahashi, Y., Rayman, J. B., and Dynlacht, B. D. (2000). Analysis of promoter binding by the E2F and pRB families in vivo: distinct E2F proteins mediate activation and repression. Genes Dev 14, 804-816.
- Terenzi, F., Pal, S., and Sen, G. C. (2005). Induction and mode of action of the viral stressinducible murine proteins, P56 and P54. Virology *340*, 116-124.

- Tevethia, M. J., Lacko, H. A., and Conn, A. (1998). Two regions of simian virus 40 large Tantigen independently extend the life span of primary C57BL/6 mouse embryo fibroblasts and cooperate in immortalization. Virology 243, 303-312.
- Tevethia, M. J., Lacko, H. A., Kierstead, T. D., and Thompson, D. L. (1997). Adding an Rbbinding site to an N-terminally truncated simian virus 40 T antigen restores growth to high cell density, and the T common region in trans provides anchorage-independent growth and rapid growth in low serum concentrations. J Virol 71, 1888-1896.
- Thompson, D. L., Kalderon, D., Smith, A. E., and Tevethia, M. J. (1990). Dissociation of Rbbinding and anchorage-independent growth from immortalization and tumorigenicity using SV40 mutants producing N-terminally truncated large T antigens. Virology 178, 15-34.
- Tremblay, J. D., Sachsenmeier, K. F., and Pipas, J. M. (2001). Propagation of wild-type and mutant SV40. Methods Mol Biol *165*, 1-7.
- Trifillis, P., Picardi, J., and Alwine, J. C. (1990). Simian virus 40 T antigen can transcriptionally activate and mediate viral DNA replication in cells which lack the retinoblastoma susceptibility gene product. J Virol *64*, 1345-1347.
- Tye, B. K. (1999). MCM proteins in DNA replication. Annu Rev Biochem 68, 649-686.
- Valls, E., de la Cruz, X., and Martinez-Balbas, M. A. (2003). The SV40 T antigen modulates CBP histone acetyltransferase activity. Nucleic Acids Res *31*, 3114-3122.
- van Wijnen, A. J., van Gurp, M. F., de Ridder, M. C., Tufarelli, C., Last, T. J., Birnbaum, M., Vaughan, P. S., Giordano, A., Krek, W., Neufeld, E. J., *et al.* (1996). CDP/cut is the DNA-binding subunit of histone gene transcription factor HiNF-D: a mechanism for gene regulation at the G1/S phase cell cycle transition point independent of transcription factor E2F. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93, 11516-11521.
- Walters, J. R. (2005). Recent findings in the cell and molecular biology of the small intestine. Curr Opin Gastroenterol 21, 135-140.
- Webster, M. A., Martin-Soudant, N., Nepveu, A., Cardiff, R. D., and Muller, W. J. (1998). The induction of uterine leiomyomas and mammary tumors in transgenic mice expressing polyomavirus (PyV) large T (LT) antigen is associated with the ability of PyV LT antigen to form specific complexes with retinoblastoma and CUTL1 family members. Oncogene *16*, 1963-1972.
- Weinberg, R. A. (1995). The retinoblastoma protein and cell cycle control. Cell 81, 323-330.
- Welch, P. J., and Wang, J. Y. (1993). A C-terminal protein-binding domain in the retinoblastoma protein regulates nuclear c-Abl tyrosine kinase in the cell cycle. Cell *75*, 779-790.

- Welcker, M., and Clurman, B. E. (2005). The SV40 large T antigen contains a decoy phosphodegron that mediates its interactions with Fbw7/hCdc4. J Biol Chem 280, 7654-7658.
- Wells, J., Boyd, K. E., Fry, C. J., Bartley, S. M., and Farnham, P. J. (2000). Target gene specificity of E2F and pocket protein family members in living cells. Mol Cell Biol 20, 5797-5807.
- Westphal, E. M., and Melchner Hv, H. (2002). Gene therapy approaches for the selective killing of cancer cells. Curr Pharm Des *8*, 1683-1694.
- Whitehead, R. H., Brown, A., and Bhathal, P. S. (1987). A method for the isolation and culture of human colonic crypts in collagen gels. In Vitro Cell Dev Biol 23, 436-442.
- Whyte, P., Buchkovich, K. J., Horowitz, J. M., Friend, S. H., Raybuck, M., Weinberg, R. A., and Harlow, E. (1988). Association between an oncogene and an anti-oncogene: the adenovirus E1A proteins bind to the retinoblastoma gene product. Nature *334*, 124-129.
- Woo, M. S., Sanchez, I., and Dynlacht, B. D. (1997). p130 and p107 use a conserved domain to inhibit cellular cyclin-dependent kinase activity. Mol Cell Biol *17*, 3566-3579.
- Woods, C., LeFeuvre, C., Stewart, N., and Bacchetti, S. (1994). Induction of genomic instability in SV40 transformed human cells: sufficiency of the N-terminal 147 amino acids of large T antigen and role of pRB and p53. Oncogene *9*, 2943-2950.
- Wu, L., Timmers, C., Maiti, B., Saavedra, H. I., Sang, L., Chong, G. T., Nuckolls, F., Giangrande, P., Wright, F. A., Field, S. J., *et al.* (2001). The E2F1-3 transcription factors are essential for cellular proliferation. Nature 414, 457-462.
- Wu, X., Avni, D., Chiba, T., Yan, F., Zhao, Q., Lin, Y., Heng, H., and Livingston, D. (2004). SV40 T antigen interacts with Nbs1 to disrupt DNA replication control. Genes Dev 18, 1305-1316.
- Xiao, A., Wu, H., Pandolfi, P. P., Louis, D. N., and Van Dyke, T. (2002). Astrocyte inactivation of the pRb pathway predisposes mice to malignant astrocytoma development that is accelerated by PTEN mutation. Cancer Cell *1*, 157-168.
- Xiao, B., Spencer, J., Clements, A., Ali-Khan, N., Mittnacht, S., Broceno, C., Burghammer, M., Perrakis, A., Marmorstein, R., and Gamblin, S. J. (2003). Crystal structure of the retinoblastoma tumor suppressor protein bound to E2F and the molecular basis of its regulation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100, 2363-2368.
- Yaciuk, P., Carter, M. C., Pipas, J. M., and Moran, E. (1991). Simian virus 40 large-T antigen expresses a biological activity complementary to the p300-associated transforming function of the adenovirus E1A gene products. Mol Cell Biol *11*, 2116-2124.
- Yamasaki, L., Jacks, T., Bronson, R., Goillot, E., Harlow, E., and Dyson, N. J. (1996). Tumor induction and tissue atrophy in mice lacking E2F-1. Cell *85*, 537-548.

- Yang, H., Filipovic, Z., Brown, D., Breit, S. N., and Vassilev, L. T. (2003). Macrophage inhibitory cytokine-1: a novel biomarker for p53 pathway activation. Mol Cancer Ther 2, 1023-1029.
- Yu, J., and Zhang, L. (2005). The transcriptional targets of p53 in apoptosis control. Biochem Biophys Res Commun *331*, 851-858.
- Yuan, W., and Krug, R. M. (2001). Influenza B virus NS1 protein inhibits conjugation of the interferon (IFN)-induced ubiquitin-like ISG15 protein. Embo J 20, 362-371.
- Zalvide, J., and DeCaprio, J. A. (1995). Role of pRb-related proteins in simian virus 40 large-Tantigen-mediated transformation. Mol Cell Biol 15, 5800-5810.
- Zalvide, J., Stubdal, H., and DeCaprio, J. A. (1998). The J domain of simian virus 40 large T antigen is required to functionally inactivate RB family proteins. Mol Cell Biol 18, 1408-1415.
- Zerrahn, J., Knippschild, U., Winkler, T., and Deppert, W. (1993). Independent expression of the transforming amino-terminal domain of SV40 large I antigen from an alternatively spliced third SV40 early mRNA. Embo J *12*, 4739-4746.
- Zhai, W., and Comai, L. (1999). A kinase activity associated with simian virus 40 large T antigen phosphorylates upstream binding factor (UBF) and promotes formation of a stable initiation complex between UBF and SL1. Mol Cell Biol *19*, 2791-2802.
- Zhou-Li, F., Xu, S. Q., Dews, M., and Baserga, R. (1997). Co-operation of simian virus 40 T antigen and insulin receptor substrate-1 in protection from apoptosis induced by interleukin-3 withdrawal. Oncogene *15*, 961-970.
- Zhu, H., Cong, J. P., Mamtora, G., Gingeras, T., and Shenk, T. (1998). Cellular gene expression altered by human cytomegalovirus: global monitoring with oligonucleotide arrays. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95, 14470-14475.
- Zhu, J., Rice, P. W., Gorsch, L., Abate, M., and Cole, C. N. (1992). Transformation of a continuous rat embryo fibroblast cell line requires three separate domains of simian virus 40 large T antigen. J Virol 66, 2780-2791.
- Zhu, J. W., Field, S. J., Gore, L., Thompson, M., Yang, H., Fujiwara, Y., Cardiff, R. D., Greenberg, M., Orkin, S. H., and DeGregori, J. (2001). E2F1 and E2F2 determine thresholds for antigen-induced T-cell proliferation and suppress tumorigenesis. Mol Cell Biol 21, 8547-8564.
- Zhu, L., Harlow, E., and Dynlacht, B. D. (1995). p107 uses a p21CIP1-related domain to bind cyclin/cdk2 and regulate interactions with E2F. Genes Dev *9*, 1740-1752.
- Zindy, F., Eischen, C. M., Randle, D. H., Kamijo, T., Cleveland, J. L., Sherr, C. J., and Roussel, M. F. (1998). Myc signaling via the ARF tumor suppressor regulates p53-dependent apoptosis and immortalization. Genes Dev 12, 2424-2433.